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SHAREHOLDER LETTER

Dear Fellow Shareholders,
In the face of unprecedented challenges presented by the rapid
transformation our world is undergoing, MISTRAS exited 2021
having strengthened our financial position while also improving
profitability. Debt reduction is the top priority for the use of cash,
and in 2021 we reduced debt by $16.3 million. Over the past three
years, we have now reduced our total debt by just over $90
million through the end of 2021. We have also improved our gross
margin level and lowered our overhead costs to pre-pandemic
levels. We not only survived, but are thriving in this new era.

INTEGRATED & INSIGHTFUL NETWORK OF DATA SOLUTIONS

The pandemic and international crises continue to impact the
markets we serve, though we have seen encouraging signs that
the aerospace and oil & gas markets are returning to pre-2020
levels. We believe the waning pandemic
and resulting resumption of air travel to be
positive signs of an impending recovery in
the aerospace industry, possibly as early
as the second half of 2022. Crude oil prices
now significantly exceed pre-pandemic
levels, and though this has caused many
refineries to defer inspections as they
capture the additional income, we expect
conditions in this market to improve
throughout 2022.

OneSuite serves as a significant competitive differentiator
for us to attract the growing number of organizations looking
to make their asset protection operations leaner and more
intelligent, helping them generate insights
to drive asset performance through asset
protection. The platform has already been
adopted by nearly 100 customers with over
1,000 individual subscriptions in just the
past 12 months, and we anticipate further
growth in 2022.

The release of the OneSuite™ asset protection software
ecosystem is an essential step in this process. OneSuite is
built on the extensive knowledge, technologies, and resources
MISTRAS has developed over the past several decades,
integrating our software, service, and data solution offerings into
a single platform, creating a level of integrity-data integration
that is groundbreaking for the industry.

Our significant
“investments...

We have also seen a global shift in the
demand for environmental, social, and
governance (ESG) accountability, which
could lead to increased demand for
immediately-available cleaner energy
alternatives, such as wind energy and
natural gas. This focus on environmental
responsibility could also potentially impact
the demand for asset protection solutions
that help energy producers reduce their
carbon footprint.

bring innovative,
data-driven
solutions to the
market that will
fuel the next phase
of our growth.

Together, all these factors have fundamentally altered the
way we live and work, and have accelerated the pace of trends
towards digital, remotely-accessible technologies, as well as
an increased reliance on multi-disciplined vendors who can
solve multiple asset protection problems, as customers seek to
minimize the volume of on-site personnel.
While some of our competitors have struggled adapting to this
“new normal,” MISTRAS’ evolution over the last 40+ years has
been defined by our ability to adapt our business model to meet
the ever-changing needs of our customers and the markets we
serve. Our foresight and leadership in the digital transformation
of asset protection has empowered us to take lasting steps to
build on that foundation.

ALIGNING INTERNAL STRUCTURES
WITH GROWTH STRATEGY

As OneSuite becomes the fulcrum of our
data-oriented solutions, we are also taking
the long view in transforming our internal
operations to support this initiative. We
recently codified the management of our
data solutions into our organizational
structure by creating the Data Solutions
Center of Excellence (COE). In line with our
vision to be the “integrated-solution partner”
for our customers, the Data Solutions COE
will be instrumental in maximizing the cross-functionality and value
customers can generate from the 85 and growing applications
within OneSuite, including apps from MISTRAS Digital®, PCMS®, New
Century Software, and more.

”

ADDRESSING ALTERNATIVE MARKETS
We have also identified opportunities to provide our digital and
integration solutions to continue to diversify the markets we
support, including renewable energy, aerospace & defense, and
natural gas.
Wind Energy
One of our most exciting growth initiatives is the Sensoria™ wind
blade monitoring system, which remotely detects damages to

continued on next page
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wind turbine blades and reports them to operators in real time
through a web-based data portal. The patented blade monitoring
system that backs Sensoria with sensing technology and its
innovative web app provide wind farm operators with better
information and faster than the blade integrity technologies
currently used in the market today.
Sensoria fits seamlessly as a complement to our existing
mechanical, inspection, and access solutions. We envision
a product and service offering that includes the sale and
installation of the sensors on the turbine, 24/7 monitoring
service, data analysis, and ongoing inspection, repair, and
maintenance service of any damage detected. We believe that
there are currently no competitors for wind turbine blade repair
and maintenance — a market we believe has a large growth
potential — that can directly match MISTRAS’ technological
capabilities and breadth of solutions.
Sensoria is currently in proof-of-concept on dozens of turbines
with a variety of brand-name owners. We expect to continue
growing the number of turbines we monitor throughout 2022, and
should possess the capability to manufacture enough systems by
the end of 2023 to support monitoring for up to 1,000 turbines.
Aerospace & Defense
While the return of the commercial aerospace market to prepandemic levels has lagged other key markets, we have seen
encouraging signs of progress and have seen strong results
in the private space and defense sectors. Building off the
successful model of our plant in Le Creusot, France — in which
we streamlined manufacturing processes by performing multiple
inspection, testing, and mechanical services in a single facility —
we have recently invested in new equipment and processes for
our Ellabell, Georgia and Heath, Ohio facilities to support both the
commercial and private aerospace and defense sectors. We have
also secured opportunities to perform field inspection services
for defense submarines, and are actively staffing up to support
the increased demand. We are optimistic these opportunities will
propel and accelerate growth in the aerospace & defense sector
as the commercial market returns later this year.
Natural Gas
The natural gas market similarly shows encouraging signs for
the future, providing ample opportunity to expand our pipeline
business. Natural gas provides an immediately-available energy
source to facilitate the transition towards a predominantly
renewable-based future. Natural gas transmission pipelines
are a focus area for Onstream Pipeline Inspection, who had a
record revenue year in 2021. With our expanding toolset service
offerings and the launch of variable speed control technology
that minimizes the interruption to natural gas pipelines during
the inspection process, we expect additional growth from
Onstream in 2022.

In summary, I am proud of the results we accomplished in 2021
despite facing challenges that affected virtually every corner
of the world. We strengthened our financial condition while
approaching pre-pandemic top-line performance. We are
optimistic about our prospects for 2022, particularly regarding our
significant investments to bring innovative, data-driven solutions
to the market that will fuel the next phase of our growth.
On behalf of our Board of Directors and our management
team, we extend our thanks to our customers, our partners,
our employee workforce, and our loyal shareholders, for their
continued support and trust.
Sincerely,

DENNIS M. BERTOLOTTI
MISTRAS Group President and CEO

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K


ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021
or



TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from ___ to ___
Commission File Number 001-34481

Mistras Group, Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
Delaware
(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)

22-3341267
(I.R.S. Employer
Identification Number)

195 Clarksville Road
Princeton Junction, New Jersey 08550
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
(609) 716-4000
(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Title of each class
Common Stock, par value $.01 par value

Trading Symbol
MG

Name of each exchange on which registered
New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities
Act. Yes  No 
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the
Act. Yes  No 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to
file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes  No 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be
submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such
shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes  No 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a
smaller reporting company or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer”,
“smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.:
Large accelerated filer 
Non-accelerated filer 

Accelerated filer
Smaller reporting company
Emerging growth company


☐
☐

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition
period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the
Exchange Act. 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the
effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C.
7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report. ☒
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes ☐ No 
The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant, based on
the closing price of $9.83 on June 30, 2021, the last business day of the registrant's most recently completed second fiscal
quarter, as reported on the New York Stock Exchange, was approximately $176.5 million.
As of March 9, 2022, the Registrant had 29,545,813 shares of common stock outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Information required by Part III (Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14) is incorporated by reference to portions of the registrant’s
definitive proxy statement for its 2022 annual meeting of shareholders (the “Proxy Statement”), which is expected to be filed
not later than 120 days after the registrant’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. Except as expressly incorporated by
reference, the Proxy Statement shall not be deemed to be a part of this report on Form 10-K.
Auditor Name: KPMG LLP

Auditor Location: Short Hills, New Jersey

Auditor Firm ID: 185

Table of Contents
MISTRAS GROUP, INC.
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
TABLE OF CONTENTS
PART I
ITEM 1.
ITEM 1A.
ITEM 1B.
ITEM 2.
ITEM 3.
ITEM 4.
PART II
ITEM 5.
ITEM 6.
ITEM 7.

BUSINESS
RISK FACTORS
UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
PROPERTIES
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

3
24
35
35
35
36

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

36

Reserved
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

36

ITEM 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

50

ITEM 8.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

51

ITEM 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

90

ITEM 9A.
ITEM 9B.
ITEM 9C.

PART III
ITEM 10.
ITEM 11.
ITEM 12.

ITEM 13.
ITEM 14.
PART IV
ITEM 15.
ITEM 16.

37

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
OTHER INFORMATION
DISCLOSURES REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT
INSPECTIONS

90
91

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE
PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

91
91

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
FORM 10-K SUMMARY

91
93

2

91

91
91
91

Table of Contents

ITEM 1.

BUSINESS

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements regarding Mistras Group, Inc. ("Mistras,""MISTRAS,"
"the Company," "us," "we" and similar expressions) and our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 (Securities Act), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 (Exchange Act). Such forward-looking statements include those that express plans, anticipation, intent,
contingency, goals, targets or future development and/or otherwise are not statements of historical fact. These forward-looking
statements are based on our current expectations and projections about future events and they are subject to risks and
uncertainties known and unknown that could cause actual results and developments to differ materially from those expressed or
implied in such statements.
In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology, such as “goals,” “expects,” “anticipates,”
“intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates,” “may,” “could,” “should,” “would,” “predicts,” “appears,” “projects,” or
the negative of such terms or other similar expressions. Factors that could cause or contribute to differences in results and
outcomes from those in our forward-looking statements include, without limitation, those discussed elsewhere in this Annual
Report in Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors,” Part 2, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and in this Item 1, as well as those discussed in our other Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
filings. We undertake no obligation to (and expressly disclaim any obligation to) revise or update any forward-looking
statements made herein whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. However, you should consult any
further disclosures we may make on these or related topics in our reports on Form 8-K or Form 10-Q filed with the SEC.
The following discussions should be read in conjunction with the sections of this Annual Report entitled “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Risk Factors.”

OUR BUSINESS
Asset Protection Industry Overview
MISTRAS Group, Inc. is a leading "one source" multinational provider of integrated technology-enabled asset protection
solutions, helping to maximize the safety and operational uptime for civilization’s most critical industrial and civil assets.
Backed by an innovative, data-driven asset protection portfolio, proprietary technologies, and a decades-long legacy of industry
leadership, MISTRAS leads clients in the oil and gas, petrochemical, aerospace and defense, renewable and non-renewable
energy, civil infrastructure, and manufacturing industries towards achieving and maintaining operational excellence. By
supporting these organizations that help fuel our vehicles and power our society; inspecting components that are trusted for
commercial, defense, and space craft; and building real-time monitoring equipment to enable safe travel across bridges,
MISTRAS helps the world move, innovate and create a safe and sustainable future for generations to come.
The company’s core capabilities include Non-Destructive Testing (“NDT”) field inspections enhanced by advanced robotics,
laboratory quality control and assurance testing, sensing technologies and NDT equipment, asset and mechanical integrity
engineering services, and light mechanical maintenance and access services. MISTRAS enhances value for its clients by
integrating asset protection throughout supply chains and centralizing integrity data through a suite of Industrial Internet of
Things ("IIoT") -connected digital software and monitoring solutions.
We offer our customers “One Source for Asset Protection Solutions®” and are a leading global provider of technology-enabled
asset protection solutions used to evaluate the safety, structural integrity and reliability of critical energy, industrial and public
infrastructure.
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Our asset protection solutions are intended to help maximize safety and uptime of our customers' assets and facilities. These
mission critical solutions enhance our customers’ ability to comply with governmental safety and environmental regulations,
extend the useful life of their assets, increase productivity, minimize repair costs, manage risk and avoid catastrophic disasters.
We deliver value through a comprehensive “OneSource™” portfolio of customized solutions, utilizing a proven systematic
method that creates a closed-loop lifecycle for addressing continuous asset protection and improvement.
Our specialized asset protection solutions include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Field Inspections
Laboratory Testing
Maintenance
Engineering Consulting
Access
Data Management and Services
Monitoring
Equipment

Our OneSource model emphasizes the integration of these solutions and the asset integrity data associated with them to service
our customers throughout their assets’ lifetimes and are delivered to our customers in three primary ways: data services, field
operations, and shop work. Under this business model, many customers outsource their inspection, integrity data management
and other asset protection needs to us on a “run-and-maintain” basis to ensure the continued safety and structural and
operational integrity of their assets. Revenue streams include data services revenue derived from the selling of licenses and
analyzing and synthesizing customer data through our OneSuite™ platform; field operations revenue derived from work
performed in the field at customer locations; and shop work revenue derived from operations designing, building, and
customizing products in our laboratories for our customers.
We have established long-term relationships as a critical solutions provider to many of the leading companies with assetintensive infrastructure in our target markets. These markets primarily consist of:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Oil and Gas (Downstream, Midstream and Upstream)
Aerospace & Defense
Industrial
Power Generation & Transmission
Public Infrastructure, Research and Engineering
Process Industries
Petrochemical

A majority of our revenues are generated by deploying technicians at our customers' locations. Most of our revenues from
aerospace and defense as well as certain manufacturing customers are generated by performing inspections and testing at our
various in-house laboratories.
We generated revenues of $677.1 million, $592.6 million and $748.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and
2019, respectively. We generated net income of $3.9 million, a net loss of $(99.5) million and net income of $6.1 million for the
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, we
generated approximately 82%, 80% and 80%, respectively, of our revenues from our Services segment. Our revenues are
diversified, with our top ten customers accounting for approximately 33%, 32% and 34% of our revenues during the years
ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, with no customer accounting for greater than 10% of our revenues in
any such year.

OUR SPECIALIZED SOLUTIONS
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As a OneSource provider of asset protection solutions, Mistras combines our industry-leading services, products, data
management solutions and technologies to provide a unique, custom-tailored solution for each customer’s individual asset
protection needs, ranging from routine inspections to complex, plant-wide asset integrity management.
Field Inspections
Our field inspections portfolio includes traditional and advanced Non-Destructive Testing (NDT) techniques, along with
predictive maintenance (PdM) assessments of fixed and rotating assets and inline inspection (ILI) for pipelines. We offer these
solutions on an individual basis, or as parts of enterprise inspection and testing programs.
NDT is the examination of an asset without materially impacting its integrity. The ability to inspect infrastructure assets and not
interfere with their operating performance makes NDT a highly-attractive alternative to many traditional techniques, which may
require shutting down an asset or entire facility. Typical issues for which Mistras technicians inspect include corrosion,
cracking, leaking, faults and flaws in piping, storage tanks and pressure vessels, as well as a wide range of other industrial
assets and public infrastructure.
Our automated data acquisition solutions utilize smart sensing and monitoring, robotic inspection systems, and digitized spot
inspections to provide asset integrity data with greater insight into current and future asset conditions.
Field inspection services lend themselves to integration with our other offerings, and as such have often served as the initial
entry point to more advanced customer engagements that require additional solutions. After an initial field inspection is
performed, MISTRAS is able to provide multiple supplemental solutions that further serve to solidify our relationships with our
customers and drive additional revenue.
Data Management and Services
The asset protection solutions that MISTRAS provides throughout our customers’ asset lifecycles generate asset integrity data
that needs to be effectively archived, managed, and analyzed. A common difficulty that MISTRAS' customers face is the ability
to easily access and analyze data from multiple data collection and input contractors. We recognize that this data is most
valuable to our customers when it is accessible and integrated (regardless of vendor, tool, or facility), and have taken significant
steps to digitalizing asset protection processes through the release of the first-ever asset protection software ecosystem
MISTRAS OneSuite.
The OneSuite software platform offers functions of MISTRAS' popular software and services brands as integrated apps on a
cloud environment. OneSuite serves as a single access portal for customers' data activities and provides access to 50 plus
applications being offered on one centralized platform.
Plant Condition Management Software (PCMS®). Our world-class enterprise inspection database management software
("IDMS") - Plant Condition Management Software ("PCMS") - was developed specifically for process industries and
equipment, and enables the storage, organization and analysis of inspection data.
PCMS offers wide-ranging support for mechanical integrity programs, including:
• Comprehensive inspection tracking, scheduling and analysis
• Corrosion analysis & trending
• Integrated risk-based inspection ("RBI") calculators
• Safety relief valve management
PCMS compares data to prior operations, similar assets, industrial standards and specific risk conditions, such as use with
highly-flammable or corrosive materials. It also develops asset integrity management plans based on RBI calculations that
specify an optimal schedule for the testing, maintenance and retirement of assets.
In many instances, customers of our field inspections and consulting services also have licensed PCMS for storage and analysis
of collected inspection and Mechanical Integrity ("MI") data.
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We believe PCMS is one of the most widely used plant condition management software systems in North American refineries.
We estimate it is currently used by approximately 50% of the U.S. refining capacity, as well as by leading midstream pipeline
energy companies and major energy companies in Canada and Europe. This provides us with recurring maintenance and
support fees and marketing opportunities for additional software and solutions.
Pipeline Data. Following our acquisitions of companies that support the midstream sector of the oil and gas industry, we
believe MISTRAS provides among the most comprehensive, data-driven pipeline protection solutions available to the industry.
These proprietary pipeline data analysis solutions enable deep integration of inline inspection ("ILI") big data with real-time
risk analytics and business intelligence ("BI") to provide capabilities for supporting pipeline integrity, which we believe
provides us with an important competitive advantage.
MISTRAS Digital®. MISTRAS has also invested resources in digitalizing and optimizing the collection, transfer, and visibility
of field inspection data. MISTRAS Digital is an electronic platform that digitally delivers field inspection assignments and
related data, captures inspection results, and delivers electronic reporting and productivity tracking via relevant key
performance indicators (KPI(s)) to multiple members of a customer organization, including those not directly associated with
the inspection function. Customers have made clear that the timely and accurate delivery of field data to their inspection data
management systems ("IDMS") is an important feature for them. MISTRAS Digital integrates with PCMS and other inspection
data management systems to provide additional productivity improvements.
Monitoring
Online Monitoring. Our online condition-monitoring solutions provide real-time reports and analysis of infrastructure to alert
facility personnel to damages before critical failures occur, while our flexible, IIoT-compatible, cloud-based online monitoring
portal centralizes and analyzes all collected monitoring data. These monitoring solutions are often installed in hazardous or
hard-to-reach locations, helping to enhance safety by reducing the need to send technicians into unsafe locations. We offer
monitoring solutions for a wide range of assets and applications, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Wind Turbine Blades
Tube Leaking
Power Transformer Health & Reliability
Stator Vane Cracking
Bridge Structural Health Monitoring (SHM)
Wall Thickness Tracking
High-Energy Piping (HEP) Integrity
Fluid Corrosivity
Through-Valve Leaking

We have continued to develop new technologies to provide monitoring of wind blade integrity through our Sensoria™ blade
monitoring technology, which received a U.S. patent during the fourth quarter of 2021. Sensoria helps provide real-time
monitoring and damage detection of wind turbine blades and allows our customers to maximize uptime, performance and safety
of wind turbine blades. This tool provides additional growth and expansion of our capabilities to serve both new and existing
wind turbines and greatly enhances our product offerings within the renewable energy industry.
With expertise in monitoring hardware and services, MISTRAS designs and installs monitoring systems, and provides
commissioning, training, reporting, technical support, and annual maintenance services. We offer a variety of secure, web-based
solutions that monitor structural integrity and analyze conditions against our library of historical inspection data, allowing users
to stay aware of potential concerns and prioritize future inspections and maintenance. We also offer custom-developed software
that integrates with sensing technologies, reporting platforms, and onsite IDMSs; stores and trends monitoring data; and
provides immediate automated data analysis. Much of our monitoring is based on acoustical emissions technology.

6

Table of Contents
Laboratory Testing
Our network of in-house laboratories located across North America and Europe offers quality assurance and quality control
("QA/QC") solutions for new and existing metal and alloy components, materials, and composites.
Our in-house labs work with our customers to test and measure utilized components throughout their lifetimes, from
preparation and production to post-processing and in-service component monitoring. MISTRAS’ laboratory QA/QC solutions
help to meet customer needs throughout their manufacturing cycles, with a focus on optimizing production logistics. Our inhouse lab solutions include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Non-destructive evaluation/inspection ("NDE"/"NDI")
Destructive testing ("DT")
Metallurgical testing
Chemical analysis testing
Mechanical services
Pre-machining
Finishing services

We often inspect and test components prior to assembly to screen for defects and discontinuities introduced in the
manufacturing process. We also inspect existing components to ensure they remain fit-for-purpose.
Our labs hold a wide variety of certifications, such as: Nadcap (formerly NADCAP, the National Aerospace and Defense
Contractors Accreditation Program), AS9100/ISO-9001, Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) Repair Station, and the
International Traffic in Arms Regulations/Export Administration Regulations (ITAR/EAR) , that allow us to perform
inspections which meet or exceed stringent regulatory and manufacturers' requirements. With these certifications come a
comprehensive range of approvals from prime contractors of major projects, militaries, and internationally-renowned original
equipment manufacturers (OEMs) from many of our key markets, including the oil and gas, aerospace and defense, power
generation, and industrial markets.
Maintenance
We perform maintenance and light mechanical services to prepare assets for inspection and to return them to working condition
post inspection. These services include corrosion removal, mitigation and prevention; insulation installation and removal;
electrical services; heat tracing, industrial cleaning; pipefitting; and welding. Our light mechanical services are often offered as
complementary, value-added solutions to inspections, such as removing insulation in order to inspect piping, then re-installing
insulation.
Our multi-disciplined technicians offer maintenance and light mechanical services in hard-to-access areas, in combination with
rope access or diving strategies.
Mechanical services are still a small part of our business, and we carefully try to avoid providing any such services that conflict
with our inspection services.
Engineering Consulting
We provide a broad range of engineering consulting services, primarily for process equipment, technologies and facilities. Our
engineering consultations include plant operations and management support, turnaround/shutdown planning, profit
improvement, facilities planning studies, engineering design, process safety reviews, energy optimization evaluations,
benchmarking/key performance indicator development and technical training.
Our Asset Integrity Management ("AIMS") and Mechanical Integrity services help improve asset reliability and regulatory
compliance through a systematic, engineering-based approach to ensure the ongoing integrity and safety of equipment and
industrial facilities. AIMS/MI services can include conducting an inventory of infrastructure assets; developing, implementing
and training personnel in executing inspection and maintenance procedures; and managing MI programs. We help to identify
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gaps between existing and desired practices and establish quality assurance standards for fabrication, engineering and
installation of infrastructure assets.
Access
Much of our work is conducted in hard-to-access locations, including those in at-height, subsea and confined locations. We
utilize scaffolding and rope access to access at-height and confined assets; certified divers for subsea inspection and
maintenance; and unmanned (drone) aerial, land-based and subsea systems to deliver a wide range of inspection applications,
with an emphasis on minimizing at-height access and confined space entry ("CSE").
Equipment
We design and manufacture portable, handheld, wireless and turnkey NDT equipment, along with corresponding data
acquisition sensors and software, for spot inspections and long-term, unattended monitoring applications.
We sell these solutions as individual components, or as complete systems, which include a combination of sensors, amplifiers,
signal processing electronics, knowledge-based software and decision and feedback electronics. We also sell integrated serviceand-system technology packages, in which our field technicians utilize our proprietary and specialized testing procedures and
hardware, advanced pattern recognition, neural network software and databases to compare test results against our prior testing
data or industry standards.
We provide a range of acoustic emission ("AE") products and are a leader in the design and manufacture of AE sensors,
instruments and turnkey systems used for monitoring and testing materials, pressure components, processes, and structures.
MISTRAS also designs and manufactures ultrasonic testing ("UT") equipment.
Most of our hardware products are fabricated, assembled, and tested in our ISO-9001-certified facility in Princeton Junction,
New Jersey. We also design and manufacture automated ultrasonic systems and scanners in France.
Centers of Excellence
Another differentiator in our business model is our Centers of Excellence ("COEs"), which offer support for asset, technology,
or industry-specific solutions. Our subject matter experts engage in strategic sales opportunities to offer customers value-added
solutions using advanced technologies and methods. The COEs help to standardize our approach to common problems in our
key market segments. Our COEs include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Acoustic Emission
Aerospace
American Petroleum Institute (API) Turnarounds
AIMS/MI/Engineering
Automated Ultrasonics
Data Solutions
Fossil Power
Guided Wave Ultrasonics
Infrastructure
PCMS Software & Services
Mechanical Services
MISTRAS Digital®
Nuclear Power
Offshore
Phased Array
Pipeline
Power Generation
Predictive Maintenance
Refractory Inspection
Rope Access/Wind
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•
•
•
•
•

Substation Reliability
Tank Inspection
Transportation
Tube Inspection
Unmanned Systems

ASSET PROTECTION INDUSTRY OVERVIEW
Asset protection plays a crucial role in assuring the integrity and reliability of critical infrastructure. As an asset protection
solutions provider, MISTRAS seeks to maximize the uptime and safety of critical infrastructure, by helping customers to detect,
locate, mitigate, and prevent damages such as corrosion, cracks, leaks, manufacturing flaws and other concerns to operating and
structural integrity. In addition to these core utilities, the storage and analysis of collected inspection and mechanical integrity
data is also a key aspect of asset protection.
NDT has historically been a prominent solution in the asset protection industry due to its capacity to detect defects without
compromising the integrity of the tested materials or equipment. Traditionally, the supply of NDT inspection services has been
provided by many relatively small vendors, who provide services in a more localized geographic region. A trend has emerged,
however, for customers to increasingly engage a select few vendors capable of providing a wider spectrum of asset protection
solutions for global infrastructure, in addition to an increased demand for advanced non-destructive testing ("ANDT") solutions
and data acquisition software, both of which require a highly-trained workforce.
Due to these trends, those vendors offering integrated solutions, scalable operations, skilled personnel and a global footprint are
expected to have a distinct competitive advantage. Moreover, we believe that vendors that are able to effectively deliver both
advanced solutions and data analytics, by virtue of their access to customers’ data, create a significant barrier to entry for
competitors, leading to the opportunity to further create significant recurring revenues.
Key Dynamics of the Asset Protection Industry
We believe the following represent key dynamics of the asset protection industry, and that the market available to us will
continue to grow as these macro-market trends continue to develop:
Extending the Useful Life of Aging Infrastructure While Increasing Utilization. Due to the prohibitive costs and challenges of
building new infrastructure, many companies have chosen to extend the useful life of existing assets through enhancements,
rather than replacing these assets. This has resulted in the significant aging and increased utilization of existing infrastructure in
our target markets. Demand for refined petroleum products, combined with high plant-utilization rates, drives refineries to
upgrade facilities to make them more efficient and expand capacities. Because aging infrastructure requires more frequent
inspection and maintenance in comparison to new infrastructure, companies and public authorities continue to spend on asset
protection to ensure their aging infrastructure assets continue to operate effectively.
Outsourcing of Non-Core Activities and Technical Resource Constraints. Due to the increasing sophistication and automation of
NDT programs, a decreasing supply of skilled professionals and increasing governmental regulations, companies are
increasingly outsourcing NDT to third-party providers with advanced solution portfolios, engineering expertise and trained
workforces.
Digital Transformation of Asset Protection. Plants in the oil and gas and process industries are recognizing the need to evolve
their traditional, paper-based mechanical integrity programs in favor of digitalized solutions. The rise of big data intelligence
and the need to gain actionable insights from raw asset integrity data are growing trends that provide opportunities for
contractors with a wide range of asset protection expertise and integrated data platforms to help customers maximize uptime
while controlling costs.
Increasing Corrosion from Low-Quality Inputs. The increased availability and low cost of crude oil from areas such as shale
plays and oil sands resources have led to the use of lower-grade raw materials and feedstock. This leads to higher rates of
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corrosion, especially in refining processes involving petroleum with higher sulfur content, which increases the need for asset
protection solutions to detect and/or proactively prevent corrosion-related issues.
Increasing Use of Advanced Materials. Customers in various of our target markets - particularly aerospace and defense - are
increasingly utilizing advanced materials, such as composites and other unique technologies in their assets. These materials
often cannot be tested using traditional NDT techniques. We believe that demand for more advanced testing and assessment
solutions will increase as the utilization of these advanced materials increases during the design, manufacturing, operating and
quality control phases.
Meeting Safety Regulations. Owners and operators of refineries, pipelines and petrochemical and chemical plants increasingly
face strict government regulations and more stringent process safety enforcement standards. This includes the continued
implementation of the Occupational Safety and Health Administration’s (OSHA) National Emphasis Program (NEP). Failure to
meet these standards can result in significant financial liabilities, increased scrutiny by government and industry regulators,
higher insurance premiums and tarnished corporate brand value. As a result, these owners and operators are seeking highlyreliable asset protection suppliers with a track record of assisting organizations in meeting increasingly stringent regulations.
Our customers benefit from MISTRAS’ extensive engineering consulting base that supports them in devising mechanical
integrity programs that both meet regulatory compliance standards and enable enhanced safety and uptime at the customer's
facilities.
Expanding Addressable End-Markets. The continued emergence of and advances in asset protection technologies and softwarebased systems are increasing the demand for asset protection solutions in applications where existing techniques were
previously ineffective. This has been true for the wind energy market, which has been receptive to updating traditional blade
inspection processes in favor of unattended, remote monitoring solutions such as Sensoria.
Expanding Aerospace and Defense Industry. We believe that increased demand will continue to come over the next several
years from the commercial industry due to the approximately decade-long backlog for next-generation commercial aircraft to
be built, driving the need for advanced solutions that drive cost and quality efficiencies. Demand continues to be stable in the
defense industry while demand in the outerspace industry is growing.
Crude Oil Prices. Volatility in the energy sector has been profound during the 2016-2021 five-year period. The collapse of
world oil prices in 2015 and 2016 undermined industry expansion. While energy prices recovered in 2017 and 2018, they have
once more declined, and subsequently rebounded in the second half of 2021. Current political activities in Ukraine and its
surrounding areas are likely to have increased oil prices and are expected to continue to significantly impact oil prices for the
foreseeable future.
Expanding Pipeline Integrity Regulations: The United States Pipeline & Hazardous Materials Safety Administration’s
(PHMSA) “Mega Rule” adopted in October 2019, expands pipeline integrity regulations on more than 500,000 miles of
pipelines that carry natural gas, oil and other hazardous materials throughout the U.S. Some of these requirements will take
operators decades to fulfill. These regulations require inspection and integrity data records throughout a pipeline’s lifetime to be
“reliable, traceable, verifiable, and complete,” increasing the demand for integrated inspection, engineering, monitoring, and
data management and analysis solutions.
Consolidation of Refineries: Consolidation of refinery ownership will create both pressure on refinery service providers due to
increased customer purchasing power and provide an opportunity to those same refinery service providers to become preferred
providers to these larger customers.
Our Competitive Strengths
We believe the following competitive strengths contribute to our being a leading provider of asset protection solutions and will
allow us to further capitalize on growth opportunities in our industry:
OneSource Provider for Asset Protection Solutions. We believe we have one of the most comprehensive portfolios of integrated
asset protection solutions worldwide, which positions us to be a leading single-source provider for our customers’ asset
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protection requirements. This is particularly a competitive strength in regards to turnarounds and shutdowns - during which
facilities temporarily cease portions of their operations in order to perform plant-wide inspections, maintenance and repairs - as
the services being requested and performed during these work stoppages make up significant portions of refinery, process and
power plant maintenance budgets. Demand for our solutions increases during these outages, as facilities seek third-party
providers to perform a wide spectrum of asset protection operations while the plant is offline. In addition, as companies are
increasingly outsourcing their NDT needs to third-party providers, we believe that the ability to offer a comprehensive package
of solutions provides us with a competitive advantage.
Integrated Data Management: MISTRAS’ expertise and proprietary research and development in data solutions throughout the
asset protection cycle provides a competitive advantage. With solutions for integrated data acquisition, storage, visualization
and analytics, our integrated data solutions well-position us for the industries' increasing movement towards digitalizing and
centralizing asset protection to fewer, highly-skilled and multi-disciplined vendors. Many of our data solutions are platformagnostic, allowing us to integrate into customer's existing operations, and thereby expanding the potential customer pool for our
solutions. Our presence in our customers’ operations throughout their asset lifecycles also ideally positions us to be their
primary vendor to centralize their asset integrity data collection, management, and analysis, creating mutually-beneficial
opportunities to scale our relationships.
Long-Standing Trusted Provider to a Diversified and Growing Customer Base. We have become a trusted partner to a large and
growing customer base across numerous global markets through our proven, decades-long track record of successful operations.
Our customers include some of the largest and most well-recognized firms in the oil and gas, chemicals, power generation and
transmission and aerospace and defense industries, as well as public authorities.
Repository of Customer-Specific Inspection Data. Through our world-class enterprise data management and analysis software,
PCMS, we have accumulated extensive, proprietary process data that allows us to provide our customers with value-added
services, such as benchmarking, risk-based inspection ("RBI") and reliability-centered maintenance ("RCM").
Proprietary Products, Software and Technology Packages. Our deep knowledge base in asset protection services and equipment
enables us to offer technology packages, in which our field technicians utilize our proprietary and specialized testing procedures
and hardware, advanced pattern recognition, neural network software and databases to compare test results against our prior
testing data or national and international structural integrity standards.
Deep Domain Knowledge and Extensive Industry Experience. We have extensive asset protection experience and data, dating
back several decades of operations. We have gained this through our industry leadership in developing advanced asset
protection solutions, including research and development of advanced NDT technologies and applications; process engineering
technologies; online plant asset integrity management with sensor fusion; and enterprise software solutions for plant-wide and
fleet-wide inspection data archiving and management.
Technological Research and Development. The NDT industry continues to move towards more advanced, automated solutions,
requiring service providers to find safer and more cost-efficient inspection techniques. We believe that we remain ahead of the
technological curve by backing our extensive industry expertise with the investment of resources in research and development
(R&D). Some of the advanced inspection technologies developed by our internal R&D teams include our Sensoria wind blade
monitoring technology; an automated radiographic testing ("aRT") crawler for corrosion under insulation ("CUI") inspections in
aboveground pipelines and piping; our Large Structure Inspection ("LSI") scanner; and our real-time radiography ("RTR")
crawler for 360° inspections of pipeline girth welds.
Collaborating with Our Customers. We have historically expanded our asset protection solution portfolio in response to our
customers’ unique performance specifications. Our technology packages have often been developed in close cooperation and
partnership with key customers and industry organizations.
Experienced Management Team. Our management team has a track record of asset protection organizational leadership. These
individuals also have successfully driven operational growth organically and through acquisitions, which we believe is
important to facilitate future growth in the asset protection industry.
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Our Growth Strategy
Our growth strategy emphasizes the following key elements:
Continue to Digitalize Asset Protection Data and Processes. MISTRAS places a data-centric focus on asset protection, enabling
our customers to ease some of their biggest areas of concern (particularly the timely and accurate transfer of asset integrity data
from the field to their IDMS, as well as the data’s visibility and accessibility once uploaded). We expect that the demand for big
data intelligence and remote data visibility will continue to grow, and are investing in data solutions that help our customers
visualize and generate actionable insight from their asset integrity data, regardless of data input. We are also actively seeking to
optimize our customers’ asset protection workflows and processes, by creating digital paths between data applications to
increase data visibility and reduce manual data entry and human error.
We have continued providing our customers with innovative asset protection software ecosystem through our MISTRAS
OneSuite platform. The software platform offers functions of MISTRAS' popular software and services brands as integrated
apps on a cloud environment. OneSuite serves as a single access portal for customers' data activities and provides access to 50
plus applications being offered on one centralized platform.
Expand Our Focus in the Aerospace and Defense Industries. We believe that the introduction of next-generation airframes and
aircraft engines has created an inherent demand for inspection, testing, machining and mechanical services required for the
production of parts. The recent interest in the use of additive manufacturing techniques to create components also necessitates
advanced inspection and testing solutions. The Company consummated two acquisitions of aerospace inspection companies in
2017, enhancing our capabilities and focus on providing solutions to our customers in the aerospace and defense industries
throughout their manufacturing value chains in this growing area.
Expand Our Focus in the Pipeline Integrity Industry. MISTRAS intends to continue broadening our solutions for the pipeline
market. Recent industry regulations significantly expanded pipeline integrity management regulations, requiring pipeline
owner/operators to inspect, document, and assess the risk of operating conditions for existing lines. This provides MISTRAS
with the opportunity to provide asset protection solutions for both the new construction and integrity phases. In 2019, we
acquired a company that provides pipeline integrity management software and services to energy transportation companies. We
acquired an inline inspection provider in 2018 and have implemented our PCMS software for several pipeline operators to
support their integrity data management.
Expanding our Mechanical Services Portfolio. We believe that performing mechanical services to complement inspections,
such as removing and reapplying insulation or preparing surfaces for coating or painting, is an important market differentiator
for us. This is particularly true, for example, when considering the cost-efficiencies our customers realize when our rope access
technicians perform these services at height without the use of scaffolding. Many of our customers already require these
services, but utilize multiple vendors to do so, creating an opportunity for us to provide greater value to a customer base that
increasingly requires enhanced speed and efficiency.
Continue to Develop Technology-Enabled & Digital Asset Protection Solutions. We intend to maintain and enhance our
technological leadership by continuing to invest in developing new technology, applications and data services. The release of
our OneSuite ecosystem underscores our dedication to continue deepening synergies between our solutions to provide our
customers with uniquely-integrated offerings, which we believe makes us a more attractive vendor for customers seeking to
centralize their asset protection. We have actively continued to develop technologies that enhance the flow of data throughout
multiple operational phases and facilities, through solutions such as MISTRAS Digital, our integrated pipeline integrity data
portfolio, and our cloud-based monitoring data portal, and Sensoria, our wind blade monitoring technology.
Expand our Solution Offerings to Existing Customers. We believe that branching into adjacent, complementary services, such
as mechanical services, increases our value proposition and our ability to capture additional business. Many of our customers
are multinational corporations with asset protection requirements at multiple locations. We believe that expanding our solution
offerings and merging and visualizing data across facilities for enterprise data analysis, combined with the trend of customers
outsourcing asset protection to service providers with integrated offerings, provides opportunities for significant additional
recurring revenues.
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Continue to Expand Our Customer Base into New End Markets. We believe we have significant opportunities to expand our
customer base in relatively new end markets, including wind and other alternative energy, natural gas transportation industries
pipeline integrity and additive manufacturing. We believe that the development of our Sensoria tool, which allows our
customers to maximize uptime, performance and safety of wind turbine blades, provides additional growth and expansion of
our capabilities to serve both new and existing wind turbines and greatly enhances our product offerings within the renewable
energy industry. The expansion of our addressable markets is being driven by the increased recognition and adoption of
advanced asset protection technologies that are supplanting traditional methods.
Capitalize on Acquisitions. We have completed several acquisitions to supplement and enhance our solutions, add new
customers, expand our sales channels and accelerate our expected growth. Due to our current debt levels and restrictions related
to the debt covenants in our credit facility, we do not expect to make any acquisitions in 2022 other than small acquisitions with
the banks’ approval. However, once we reduce our debt, we expect to make selective acquisitions beyond 2022.
Our Segments
The Company has three operating segments:
Services provides asset protection solutions in North America, with the largest concentration in the United States, followed by
Canada, consisting primarily of NDT, inspection, mechanical and engineering services that are used to evaluate the structural
integrity and reliability of critical energy, industrial and public infrastructure and commercial aerospace components. This
segment includes data services revenue derived from the selling of licenses and analyzing and synthesizing customer data
through our OneSuite platform, field operations revenue derived from work performed in the field at customer locations, and
shop revenue derived from operations designing, building, and customizing products in our laboratories for our customers.
PCMS software and pipeline related software and data analysis solutions are included in this segment.
International offers services, products and systems similar to those of the other segments to select markets within Europe, the
Middle East, Africa, Asia and South America, but not to customers in China and South Korea, which are served by the Products
and Systems segment. This segment includes data services revenue derived from the selling of licenses and analyzing and
synthesizing customer data through our OneSuite platform, field operations revenue derived from work performed in the field
at customer locations, and shop revenue derived from operations designing, building, and customizing products in our
laboratories for our customers.
Products and Systems designs, manufactures, sells, installs and services the Company’s asset protection products and systems,
including equipment and instrumentation, predominantly in the United States.
For a discussion of segment revenues, operating results and other financial information, including geographic areas in which we
generated revenues, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Item 7,
as well as Note 2-Revenue and Note 19-Segment Disclosure in the notes to consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this
Annual Report.
Our Target Markets
Overview
MISTRAS operates in a highly competitive, but fragmented market. Domestically, the market is serviced by several national
competitors and many regional and/or local companies. Internationally, our primary competitors are divisions of large
companies, with additional competition from small independent local companies which may be limited to a specific product,
service or technology and focused on a niche market or geographic region. We focus our strategic sales, marketing and product
development efforts on a range of infrastructure-intensive based industries and governmental authorities. We view energyrelated infrastructure and commercial aerospace as the Company's largest market opportunities. We perform inspection and
mechanical services for customers in both industries.
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In the energy market, there are various economic indicators that drive our business, especially in the U.S. domestic markets. It
is unclear what effects the recently engaged conflict between Russia and Ukraine is likely to have on the world economy and
certain of our target markets, including particularly the oil and gas market and the information below is subject to change based
on these factors. Excerpted below are forecasts from various Energy Information Administration (EIA) outlook reports, which
are subject to change based on these factors:
The electricity generation mix is projected to continue to experience a rapid rate of change, with renewables the projected
fastest-growing source of electricity generation through 2050 because of continuing declines in the capital costs for solar and
wind that are supported by federal tax credits and higher state-level renewables targets. With slow load growth and increasing
electricity production from renewables, U.S. coal-fired electricity generation is projected to decline, with most of the decline
occurring by the mid-2020s.
The EIA noted U.S. crude oil production averaged 11.2 million barrels per day (bpd) in 2021, down 0.1 million bpd from 2020.
The EIA forecasts production to rise to average 12.0 million bpd in 2022 and continue to rise to 12.6 million bpd in 2023.
There are a number of economic factors which drive the aerospace market, including:

•

The multi-year backlog for next generation commercial aircraft to be built, including several large and mid-sized
aircraft built by Boeing and Airbus, among other manufacturers; and

•

The continuing regulatory scrutiny to ensure public safety serves to ensure the continued need for inspection and
mechanical services to be performed.
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Revenue by Target Market
The following charts represent our revenue by target market for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 as the
petrochemical market was consolidated within the oil and gas target market. We have separately broken out this information in
the current period as we have continued to provide increased services and products to this market, and continue to expect
increases in future periods. For comparability purposes, Petrochemical comprised 3% and 4% of total revenues for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, which were included within the oil and gas target market.
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Oil and Gas
MISTRAS supplies oil and gas asset protection solutions to downstream (refining), midstream (transportation and storage) and
upstream (exploration and production) operations.
We use our vast solutions portfolio to help identify current and future asset performance, and actively prevent, mitigate or
otherwise address potential issues, including corrosion, cracking, leaking and other damages that may lead to safety,
productivity or environmental concerns. Our solutions help identify conditions that if not remedied, could lead to potential
catastrophic failures in tanks, vessels, valves, buried and above ground pipelines, pumps, motors, compressors and other critical
assets found throughout the oil and gas production and delivery supply chain.
We actively seek to evolve our solutions through technological enhancements and R&D to discover new applications. Online
monitoring and permanently-mounted sensors, as well as the use of drones and other alternative delivery devices, are all being
considered as oil and gas infrastructure owners look to “smart” technologies that reduce human intervention while delivering
highly-accurate inspection & integrity data. We also have actively sought to further enhance our integrated approach to asset
protection, through the development of our complementary mechanical service portfolio.
In general, the oil and gas market is poised to leverage digital solutions to facilitate process improvements as well as increase
plant reliability and improve process and personnel safety. This provides an opportunity for us to synergistically leverage our
digital asset protection solutions, including MISTRAS Digital and OneSuite. Digital transmission of data in various industry
sectors, with built-in analytic functions, will allow our customers to better leverage inspection data that is being generated in the
field.
While we expect off-stream inspection of critical assets to remain a routine practice, we anticipate an increase in the demand for
non-invasive, or on-stream inspections. Non-invasive inspections enable companies to minimize the costs associated with
shutting down equipment during testing, while enabling the economic and safety advantages of advanced planning and/or
predictive maintenance.
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Aerospace and Defense
The aerospace industry continued to rebound from COVID-19 throughout 2021 with backlog and production levels
approaching and exceeding pre-pandemic levels for certain original equipment manufacturers (OEM). We serve this rapidlygrowing target market by providing a full range of inspection, testing, machining, mechanical, finishing, additive
manufacturing and equipment solutions, for which we are Nadcap certified. Our state-of-the-art in-house labs maintain
numerous accreditations from industry organizations, including Nadcap, and some of the largest manufacturers in the world,
such as Boeing, Safran, Airbus, Bombardier and Embraer.
Advanced composite materials found in new classes of aircraft require advanced asset protection solutions, including x-ray of
critical engine components, ultrasonic fatigue testing of complete aircraft structures and corrosion detection and other critical
components. Many OEMs are shifting towards condition-based maintenance utilizing embedded monitoring sensors to track
component structural and operational integrity over time as opposed to performing maintenance on time-based intervals. We
expect demand for our solutions to increase with the adoption of these new-age materials and distributed online sensor
networks. We also expect demand for asset protection solutions to increase with the continued adoption of additive
manufacturing techniques.
Industrial
The quality control requirements driven by the need for zero-to-low-defect component tolerance within automated, roboticintensive industries such as automotive, consumer electronics and medical industries serve as key drivers for increased demand
in asset protection, particularly for in-house inspection and testing. We expect that increasingly stringent quality-control
requirements and competitive forces will drive the demand for more-costly finishing and polishing which, in turn, creates
opportunities for integrated partnerships between MISTRAS and our customers throughout the production lifecycle.
Power Generation and Transmission
MISTRAS provides asset protection solutions for customers in the combined cycle, fossil, nuclear, transmission & distribution
and wind/alternative energy industries. We believe that in recent years, acceptance of asset protection solutions has grown in
this industry due to the aging of critical power generation and transmission infrastructure.
We received a U.S. patent for the technology behind Sensoria, our innovative 24/7/365 rotor blade monitoring system and
sensors that enable blade integrity management for wind turbine owners and operators. Sensoria is a remote rotor blade monitor
that detects and reports damages in real-time, including cracks, lightning strikes, skin ruptures and perforations, delaminations,
and more. By sending immediate damage alerts to operators, Sensoria enables them to maximize blade uptime and generating
capacity while preventing damages from worsening. This tool provides additional growth and expansion of our capabilities to
serve both new and existing wind turbines and greatly enhances our product offerings within the renewable energy industry.
The growing availability of cheap natural gas, along with environmental concerns with coal, has stimulated the construction of
new natural gas-fired power plants across North America, creating opportunities for MISTRAS to provide specialized solutions
in multiple phases. These include facility design consultations, NDT services during construction and plant operations and longterm condition monitoring. We anticipate sharp growth in these types of plants as natural gas pricing remains low, and the
environmental impacts of coal remain unattractive to the public.
We also offer solutions for inspection, maintenance, monitoring, and data services for wind turbines and their components.
These include NDT services — often performed through rope and/or drone access — to identify corrosion, cracking, and other
defects that can affect the safety and operational effectiveness of wind turbines, along with remedial solutions to repair minor
damages identified during inspections.
Process Industries
Our asset protection solutions are crucial for process industries, or industries in which raw materials are treated or prepared in a
series of stages, including chemicals, pharmaceuticals, food processing, pulp and paper and metals and mining. As the process
facilities are increasingly facing aging infrastructure, high utilization, growing capacity constraints and increasing capital costs,
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we believe asset protection solutions will continue to grow in importance in maintenance planning, quality and cost control and
prevention of catastrophic failure.
Public Infrastructure, Research and Engineering
We believe that high-profile infrastructure catastrophes have caused public authorities to more actively seek ways to prevent
similar events from occurring. Public authorities tasked with new construction and maintenance of existing public infrastructure
increasingly use asset protection solutions to inspect these assets, including the use of embedded sensors to enable online
monitoring throughout the life of the asset.
We have provided testing and structural health monitoring ("SHM") and data solutions on bridges and structures worldwide,
including some of the largest and most well-known bridges in the United States and United Kingdom. Our sensors continuously
monitor these assets, alerting owner/operators when defects are detected. Our monitoring teams also provide regular reports that
include early warnings of suspect areas before an alarm is generated.
Petrochemical
We provide asset protection NDT services for customers within the petrochemical industry, as they transform byproducts into
goods which are utilized in many end products such as plastics, soaps, fertilizers, synthetic fibers and rubber. Our solutions help
identify conditions that if not remedied, could lead to potential catastrophic failures in tanks, vessels, valves, buried and above
ground pipelines, pumps, motors, compressors and other critical assets found throughout the petrochemical production process.
We actively seek to evolve our solutions through technological enhancements and R&D to discover new applications. Online
monitoring and permanently-mounted sensors provide real-time data to petrochemical owners and operators and provide an
opportunity for us to synergistically leverage our asset protection solutions into our new MISTRAS Digital platform, OneSuite.
Digital transmission of data in various industry sectors, with built-in analytic functions, will allow our customers to better
leverage inspection data that is being generated in the field. We also have actively sought to further enhance our integrated
approach to asset protection, through the development of our complementary mechanical service portfolio.
Customers
We provide our asset protection solutions to a global customer base of diverse companies primarily in our target markets. No
customer represented 10% or more of our revenue in any of the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 or 2019.
Geographic Areas
We have operations in 10 countries and occasionally conduct business in a few other countries. Most of our revenues are
derived from our U.S., Canadian and European operations and we do not have material operations in Russia, Ukraine or other
areas which are impacted by the Russian invasion of Ukraine. See Note 2-Revenue and Note 19-Segment Disclosure to the
consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report for further disclosure of our revenues, long-lived assets and other
financial information regarding our international operations.
Sales and Marketing
We sell our asset protection solutions through our direct sales and marketing activities worldwide. In addition, our project and
laboratory managers, as well as our management, are trained on our solutions and often are the source of sales leads and
customer contacts. Our direct sales and marketing teams work closely with our customers’ to demonstrate the benefits and
capabilities of our asset protection solutions, refine our asset protection solutions based on changing market and customer needs
and identify potential opportunities. We divide our sales and marketing efforts into services sales, products and systems sales
and marketing and utilize marketing automation and customer relationship management (CRM) systems to collect, manage and
collaborate customer information with our teams globally. Our CRM's also provide critical data to provide accurate forecasting
and reporting.
Manufacturing
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Most of our hardware products are manufactured in our Princeton Junction, New Jersey facility. This facility includes the
capabilities and personnel to fully produce all of our AE products and NDT Automation Ultrasonic equipment. We also design
and manufacture automated ultrasonic systems and scanners in France.
Human Capital
As of December 31, 2021, we had 5,400 employees worldwide, of which 3,600 were located in the U.S., 600 in Canada and
1,200 in our other non-U.S. locations. As described below, we value our employees and have established various programs to
promote the satisfaction, health and safety of our employees. Less than 0.01% of our employees in the United States are
unionized.
We believe that our employees are key to achieving our goals and strategy. We have committed resources throughout our
organization to ensure that the Company is attracting, developing, and retaining talented employees needed to support all
aspects of our activities. Our core values and business ethics guide and direct all activities undertaken by the Company.
We believe that the health and safety of our employees is paramount. We have also developed key initiatives and strategies
regarding our talent and people initiatives. Below, we describe some of the key initiatives and values around health and safety.
Management regularly updates the Board with regards to our safety and people strategy and how we are performing in these
areas. In 2020, our Board of Directors established the Environmental, Social and Safety Committee. This Committee, which
consists of independent directors, monitors and oversees the strategic direction of our initiatives in support of our core values
and our environmental, social and governance (ESG) initiatives.
Talent, Leadership and Employee Development
We believe that employee development and engagement begins with our senior management team, which has considerable
industry experience and expertise. Leveraging this experience and expertise, the senior management team is able to
continuously review the Company’s organizational structure and provide opportunities for the growth and development for our
employees. This process helps us develop leaders at all levels within the organization, and to engage employees with rewarding
opportunities, competitive salary and benefits, to advance their careers and contribute to our success.
As part of our continued commitment to our employees, we have established various programs to promote lifelong learning and
development opportunities for our employees. These include a mix of voluntary and mandatory training programs, which are
provided in-person, virtually or on the job. We also provide employees the ability to continue to gain additional professional
certifications to contribute to their career advancement. We utilize a web-based training center which is available to field
technicians for career advancement and includes over 500 web-based classes. In addition, we are committed to ensuring all
employees are compensated at a living wage. All local minimum wage requirements are met and where no wage laws are in
place, employees are compensated competitively, in accordance with industry standards.
We also provide leadership development using third-party leadership organizations to members of our executive management
team, and we provide coaching and leadership development to all levels of management, including the General Managers who
work in the field. Our human rights policy places a high priority on diversity and equal opportunity and provides the
Company’s employees with management’s expectations related to human rights and labor practices.
Another program we instituted focuses on our connection by a common thread of caring – about one another, our customers, the
environment, and the work we do. We seek to foster a culture of togetherness, safety, respect, and contribution which enables
each individual member to feel that he or she is a part of something bigger. A community of caring professionals with a genuine
passion for helping people and making a difference together – that is the heart of the program we call “Caring Connects.”
MISTRAS’ Safety-Conscious Culture
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We consider safety the backbone of our operations. Our asset protection solutions aim to ensure that industrial assets and
facilities remain in safe, reliable working condition, which in turn enhances safety for our clients, the public, and the
environment. Our lab and field personnel are trained to operate according to strict safety and quality standards so that our
processes and procedures regarding hazardous materials, worker safety, and accident prevention are sound and effective.
Further to this, we are constantly evaluating these processes and procedures to ensure that they remain of high quality and are
effective, and consider changes in the manner in which work is performed or lessons that have been learned from any sources,
such as industry data. MISTRAS works to help ensure that our clients are in full compliance with all federal, state, and local
regulations. Our practices, policies and procedures are designed to help ensure we perform our duties through the use of safe,
industry-best practices, seeking to minimize risk wherever possible.
We emphasize a “MISTRAS’ safety-conscious” culture with the intent that it becomes embedded in the day-to-day work of all
our employees. We use various training tools and other practices to instill attitudes, beliefs, perceptions, and values that all
employees share in the mandate to create and maintain a safe work environment for all.
We continuously monitor our safety performance through analysis of our company-wide safety statistics, which help us to
determine behavioral trends while also instilling a culture of proactivity. For the year ended December 31, 2021, our Total
Recordable Incident Rate (“TRIR”) was 0.15, when excluding COVID-19 related cases. This was a reduction of (0.19) and
(0.18) from the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 TRIR, respectively, when similarly excluding COVID19 related cases.
Seasonality
Our business is seasonal. This seasonality relates primarily to our oil and gas target market, and to a lesser extent within our
other target markets. U.S. refineries’ non-peak periods are generally in the fall, when they are retooling to produce more heating
oil for winter, and in the spring, when they are retooling to produce more gasoline for summer. The peak periods for these
customers are the summer and winter months, when they run at peak capacity and are not retooling or performing turnarounds
or shut downs. As a result, our revenues in the summer and winter months are typically lower than our revenues in the fall and
spring, when demand for our asset protection solutions from the oil and gas as well as the fossil and nuclear power industries
increases during their non-peak production periods. Because we are increasing our work in the fall and spring, our cash flows
are lower in those quarters than in the summer and winter, as collections of receivables lag behind revenues. We expect that this
seasonality will continue.
Competition
We operate in a highly competitive, but fragmented, market. Our primary competitors are divisions of large companies and
various small companies which generally are limited to a specific product or technology and focused on a niche market or
geographic region. We believe that few, if any, of our competitors currently provide the full range of asset protection and NDT
products, enterprise software (PCMS) and the traditional and advanced services solutions that we offer. Our competition with
respect to NDT services include Acuren, SGS Group, the Team Qualspec division of Team, Inc. and APPLUS RTD. Our
competition with respect to our PCMS software includes UltraPIPE, Lloyd’s Register Capstone, Inc. and Meridium Systems. In
the traditional NDT market, we believe the principal competitive factors include project management, availability of qualified
personnel, execution, price, reputation and quality; whereas in the advanced NDT market, reputation, quality and size tend to be
the most significant competitive factors. We believe that the NDT market has significant barriers to entry which would make it
difficult for new competitors to enter the market. These barriers include: (1) having to acquire or develop advanced NDT
services, products and systems technologies, which in our case occurred over many years of customer engagements and at
significant internal research and development expense, (2) complex regulations and safety codes that require significant
industry experience, (3) license requirements and evolved quality and safety programs, (4) costly and time-consuming
certification processes, (5) capital requirements and (6) emphasis by large customers on size and critical mass, length of
relationship and past service record.
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Research and Development
Our research and development is principally conducted by engineers and scientists at our Princeton Junction, New Jersey
headquarters, and supplemented by other employees in the United States and throughout the world, including France, Greece
the United Kingdom, Brazil and the Netherlands. Our total professional staff includes employees who hold Ph.D.’s and
engineers and employees who hold Level III certification, the highest level of certification from the American Society of NonDestructive Testing (ASNT).
MISTRAS makes strategic R&D investments in technologies that support integration with our other solution offerings to
enhance cost- and time-efficiencies, maximize uptime and safety and improve the flow of data from field technicians to
inspection databases. We are investing resources in the development of MISTRAS Digital, an electronic platform that will
digitally deliver field inspection assignments and related data, capture inspection results, and provide electronic reporting and
productivity tracking. MISTRAS also invested significant R&D in pre-machining and advanced testing technologies in a
purpose-built facility for an aerospace customer, with the goal of reducing the customer’s production cycle logistics and costs.
We also work with customers to develop new products or applications for our technology, including:

•
•
•
•

Testing of new composites
Detecting crack propagation
Wireless and communications technologies
Development of permanently embedded inspection systems to provide continuous, online, in-service monitoring of
critical structural components

Research and development expenses are reflected on our consolidated statements of income (loss) as research and engineering
expenses. Our company-sponsored research and engineering expenses were approximately $2.5 million, $2.9 million and $3.0
million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. While we have historically funded most of our
research and development expenditures, from time to time we also receive customer-sponsored research and development
funding. Most of the projects are in our target markets; however, a few of the projects could lead to other future market
opportunities.
Intellectual Property
Our success depends, in part, on our ability to maintain and protect our proprietary technology and to conduct our business
without infringing on the proprietary rights of others. We utilize a combination of intellectual property safeguards, including
patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets, as well as employee and third-party confidentiality agreements, to protect our
intellectual property.
As of December 31, 2021, we held six U.S. patents by direct ownership and one by exclusive licensing, all of which will expire
in 2026, and seven patent applications pending in the U.S. All the owned patents and patent applications pending have been
filed since 2018. While we do not rely on these patents or licenses to provide a majority of our proprietary asset protection
solutions, certain of these patents do provide us with a competitive advantage and we believe they will be an asset to our growth
strategy. Our trademarks and service marks provide us and our solutions with a certain amount of brand recognition in our
markets. We do not consider any single patent, trademark or service mark material to our financial condition or results of
operations.
As of December 31, 2021, the primary trademarks and service marks that we held in the United States included MISTRAS ®,
our stylized globe design and our tag line "One Source for Asset Protection Solutions". Other key trademarks or service marks
that we utilize in localized markets or product advertising include:
•
•
•

Onstream® (word and logo)
PCMS® (word and logo)
Ropeworks®
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•
•
•
•

•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Mistras Digital®
OneSuite™
Sensoria™
OneSource™
CALIPERAY™ (word and logo)
Physical Acoustics PAC logo
Streamview™
Sensor Highway™
TankPAC®
VPAC™
Transformer Clinic™
FieldCal™
UTwin®
AEwin®
Pocket AE®
Pocket UT®

Many elements of our asset protection solutions involve proprietary know-how, technology or data that are not covered by
patents or patent applications because they are not patentable or would be difficult to enforce, including technical processes,
algorithms and procedures. We believe that this proprietary know-how, technology and data is the most important component of
our intellectual property used in our asset protection solutions and is a primary differentiator of our solutions from those of our
competitors. We rely on various trade secret protection techniques and agreements with our customers, service providers and
vendors to protect these assets. All of our employees are subject to confidentiality requirements through our employee
handbook. In addition, many of our employees have entered into confidentiality and proprietary information agreements with
us. Our employee handbook and these agreements require our employees not to use or disclose our confidential information and
to assign to us all the inventions, designs and technologies they develop during the course of employment with us, as well as
addressing other intellectual property protection issues. We also seek confidentiality agreements from our customers and
business partners before we disclose any sensitive aspects of our technologies or business strategies. We are not currently
involved in any material intellectual property claims.
Environmental Matters
We are subject to numerous environmental, legal and regulatory requirements related to our operations worldwide. In the
United States, these laws and regulations include, among others: the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation,
and Liability Act, the Resources Conservation and Recovery Act, the Clean Air Act, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act,
the Toxic Substances Control Act, the Atomic Energy Act, the Energy Reorganization Act of 1974, and applicable regulations.
In addition to the federal laws and regulations, states and other countries where we do business often have numerous
environmental, legal and regulatory requirements by which we must abide. We evaluate and address the environmental impact
of our operations by assessing properties in order to avoid future liabilities and comply with environmental, legal and regulatory
requirements.
Executive Officers
The following are our executive officers and other key employees as of December 31, 2021 and their background and
experience:
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Name

Age

Position

Sotirios J. Vahaviolos
Dennis Bertolotti
Edward J. Prajzner
Michael C. Keefe
Michael J. Lange

75
62
55
65
61

Executive Chairman and Director
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Senior Group Executive Vice President

Jonathan H. Wolk

60

Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer

Sotirios J. Vahaviolos has been Executive Chairman since August 10, 2017. Prior to being named Executive Chairman, Dr.
Vahaviolos had been our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer since he founded Mistras in 1978 under the name Physical
Acoustics Corporation and was also our President until June 1, 2016. Prior to joining Mistras, Dr. Vahaviolos worked at AT&T
Bell Laboratories. Dr. Vahaviolos received a B.S. in Electrical Engineering and graduated first in his engineering class from
Fairleigh Dickinson University and received Masters Degrees in Electrical Engineering and Philosophy and a Ph.D. (EE) from
the Columbia University School of Engineering. During Dr. Vahaviolos’ career in non-destructive testing, he has been elected
Fellow of The Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, a member of The American Society for Nondestructive Testing
(ASNT) where he served as its President from 1992-1993 and its Chairman from 1993-1994, a member of Acoustic Emission
Working Group (AEWG) and an honorary life member of the International Committee for Nondestructive Testing. Additionally,
he was the recipient of ASNT’s Gold Medal in 2001 and AEWG’s Gold Medal in 2005. He was also one of the six founders of
NDT Academia International in 2008 headquartered in Brescia, Italy.
Dennis Bertolotti joined Mistras when Conam Inspection Services was acquired in 2003, where Mr. Bertolotti was a Vice
President at the time of the acquisition. Since then, Mr. Bertolotti has had increasing levels of responsibility with Mistras, and
became our President and Chief Executive Officer and Director, effective August 10, 2017. From June 1, 2016 to August 9,
2017, Mr. Bertolotti was our President and Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Bertolotti has been in the NDT business for over 40
years, and previously held ASNT Level III certifications and various American Petroleum Institute, or API, certifications, and
received his Associate of Science degree in NDT from Moraine Valley Community College in 1983. Mr. Bertolotti has also
received a Bachelor of Science and MBA from Otterbein College.
Edward J. Prajzner joined Mistras in January 2018. Prior to joining Mistras, Mr. Prajzner worked at CECO Environmental
Corp., a global service provider to environmental, energy and filtration industries, and served as Chief Financial Officer and
Secretary from 2014 to 2017, Vice President of Finance and Chief Accounting Officer from 2013 until his appointment as CFO
in 2014, and Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officer from 2012 to 2013. Mr. Prajzner also served in senior finance
roles at CDI Corporation (now AE Industrial Partners), and American Infrastructure (now Allan Myers). Mr. Prajzner began his
career in public accounting at Ernst & Young, received his B.S. in accountancy from Villanova University, his MBA in finance
from Temple University and is a certified public accountant.
Michael C. Keefe joined Mistras in December 2009. Prior to joining Mistras, Mr. Keefe worked at International Fight League, a
publicly-traded sports promotion company, from 2007 until 2009, in various executive positions. From 1990 until 2006,
Mr. Keefe served in various legal roles with Lucent Technologies and AT&T, the last four years as Vice President, Corporate
and Securities Law and Assistant Secretary. Mr. Keefe received a BS in Business Administration (Accounting) from Seton Hall
University and a J.D. from Seton Hall University School of Law.
Michael J. Lange joined Mistras when we acquired Quality Services Laboratories in November 2000, and was elected a
Director in 2003. Mr. Lange has held various executive level positions with Mistras, becoming Senior Executive Vice President,
effective June 1, 2016. Mr. Lange is a well-recognized authority in Radiography and has held an ASNT Level III Certificate for
almost 20 years. Mr. Lange received an Associate of Science degree in NDT from the Spartan School of Aeronautics.
Jonathan H. Wolk joined Mistras in November 2013 and served as Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer until August 10, 2017, when Mr. Wolk became Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer. Mr.
Wolk was also acting Chief Financial Officer from August 10, 2017 until the appointment of Mr. Prajzner on January 5, 2018.
Prior to joining Mistras, Mr. Wolk served as Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary of American
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Woodmark Corporation from 2004 until August 2013. Prior to American Woodmark, he served as the Chief Financial Officer
and Treasurer of Tradecard, Inc., from 2000 to 2004, and was the global controller of GE Capital Real Estate from 1998 to
2000. Mr. Wolk started his career in public accounting at KPMG, received his B.S. in accounting from State University of New
York-Albany and is a certified public accountant.
Our executive officers are elected by, and serve at the discretion of, our board of directors. There are no family relationships
among any of our directors or executive officers.
Our Website and Available Information
Our website address is www.mistrasgroup.com. We file reports with the SEC, including Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,
Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Current Reports on Form 8-K and Proxy Statements. All of the materials we file with or furnish
to the SEC are available free of charge on our website at http://investors.mistrasgroup.com/sec.cfm, as soon as reasonably
practicable after having been electronically submitted to the SEC. Information contained on or connected to our website is not
incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K and should not be considered part of this Annual Report or any
other filing with the SEC. All of our SEC filings are also available at the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. In addition, materials
we file with the SEC may be read and copied at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549.
The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS

This section describes the major risks to us, our business and our common stock. You should carefully read and consider the
risks described below, together with the other information contained in this Annual Report, including our financial statements
and the notes thereto and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” (MD&A)
before making an investment decision. The statements contained in this section constitute cautionary statements under the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. If any of these risks occur, our business, financial condition, results of
operations and future growth prospects may be adversely affected. As a result, the trading price of our common stock would
likely decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment. You should understand that it is not possible to predict or
identify all risk factors that could impact us. For example, the COVID-19 pandemic has had a dramatic negative impact on the
health of citizens of many countries, and resulted in major disruptions in economies and markets around the world, including
our key markets. In addition, it is unclear what effects the recently engaged conflict between Russia and Ukraine is likely to
have on the world economy and certain of our target markets, including particularly the oil and gas market. Accordingly, you
should not consider the following to be a complete discussion of all risks and uncertainties pertaining to us and our common
stock.
Risks Related to Our Business
Due to our dependency on customers in the oil and gas industry, we are susceptible to prolonged negative trends relating to
this industry that could adversely affect our operating results.
Our customers in the oil and gas industry have accounted for a substantial portion of our historical revenues. Specifically, they
accounted for approximately 54%, 54%, and 55% of our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. Although we have expanded our customer base into industries other than the oil and gas industry, we still receive a
majority of our revenues from this industry. Our services are vital to the operators of plants and refineries and we have
expanded our services offerings, such as expanding our mechanical services capabilities. However, economic slowdowns or
low oil prices have, and could continue to, result in cutbacks in contracts for our services. In addition, low oil prices could
depress the level of new exploration and construction, which would adversely affect our market opportunities. If the price of oil
were to decrease to prior year levels, our revenues, profits and cash flows may be reduced. While we continue to expand our
market presence in the aerospace, power generation and transmission, and the chemical processing industries, among others,
these markets are also cyclical in nature and as such, are subject to economic downturns. In addition, it is unclear what effects
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the recently engaged conflict between Russia and Ukraine is likely to have on the world economy and certain of our target
markets, including particularly the oil and gas market.
We may be affected by climate change and market or regulatory responses to climate change
Climate change, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition, and liquidity. Restrictions
on emissions, including those that have already been adopted and others that are expected to be adopted in the future, could
affect our customers that (a) use commodities to produce energy, (b) use significant amounts of fossil fuel to produce or deliver
commodities, or (c) manufacture or produce goods that consume significant amounts of fossil fuels or burn fossil fuels.
Significant cost increases, government regulation, or changes of consumer preferences for goods or services relating to
alternative sources of energy or emissions reductions could materially affect the markets we serve (including the oil and gas
industry), which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition, and liquidity.
Government incentives encouraging the use of alternative sources of energy also could affect certain of our customers and the
markets we serve in an unpredictable manner. Any of these factors, individually or in operation with one or more of the other
factors, or other unforeseen impacts of climate change could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations,
financial condition, and liquidity.
Our long-term growth strategy may include acquisitions. We may not be able to identify suitable acquisition candidates or
integrate acquired businesses successfully, which may adversely impact our results. Furthermore, acquisitions that we have
completed or may complete in the future could expose us to a number of unanticipated operational and financial risks.
A significant factor in our growth has been based upon our ability to make acquisitions and successfully integrate these
acquired businesses. We have used acquisitions both to expand into new markets and to enhance our position in existing
markets. This strategy has provided us with many benefits and has helped fuel our growth, but also carries with it many
risks. While we have not made a material acquisition in the past two years, we do expect to make acquisitions in the future,
subject to the restrictions in our debt covenants. Some of the risks associated with our acquisition strategy include:
•

whether we successfully identify suitable acquisition candidates, negotiate appropriate acquisition terms, and complete
proposed acquisitions;

•

whether we can successfully integrate acquired businesses into our current operations, including our accounting,
internal control and information technology systems, marketing and other key infrastructure;

•

whether we can adequately capture opportunities that an acquired business may offer, including the expansion into
new markets in which we have little to no experience or presence;

•

whether we value an acquired business properly when determining the purchase price and terms, and whether we are
able to achieve the returns on the investment we expect;

•

whether an acquired business can achieve the levels of revenues, profitability, productivity or cost savings we expect;

•

whether an acquired business is compatible with our culture and philosophy of doing business;

•

the unexpected loss of key personnel and customers of an acquired business;

•

the assumption of liabilities and risks (including environmental-related costs) of an acquired business, some of which
may not be anticipated;

•

the potential disruption of our ongoing business and distraction of our management and other personnel and of those of
the acquired business resulting from the efforts to acquire, then integrate, an acquired business;

•

the potential for greater exposure to risks associated with international operations; and
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•

the amount and cost of funding (including borrowings under our credit agreement) to acquire and integrate other
businesses (some of which may require substantial funding) and the impact of the acquisition and borrowing on our
continued compliance with covenants in our credit agreement.

Our ability to undertake acquisitions is limited by our financial resources, including available cash and borrowing capacity. Due
to our current debt levels and restrictions related to the covenants in our credit facility, we do not expect to make any
acquisitions in 2022, other than small acquisitions with the banks’ approval. Future acquisitions could result in potentially
dilutive issuances of equity securities, the incurrence of substantial additional indebtedness and other expenses, any of which
could adversely impact our financial condition and results of operations. Although we intend to: (i) evaluate the risks inherent
in any particular transaction, (ii) assume only risks we believe to be acceptable, and (iii) develop plans to mitigate such risks,
there are no assurances that we will properly ascertain or accurately assess the extent of all such risks. Difficulties encountered
with acquisitions may adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.
In addition, we have a significant amount of goodwill and other intangible assets on our balance sheet from our
acquisitions. This will increase as we complete more acquisitions. If our acquisitions do not perform as planned and we do not
realize the benefits and profitability we expect, we could incur significant write-downs and impairment charges to our earnings
due to the impairment of the goodwill and other intangible assets we have acquired or acquire in the future. We experienced
such write-downs and impairment charges in the quarter ended March 31, 2020 (see Notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial
statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report).
Our international operations are subject to risks relating to non-U.S. operations.
For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, we generated approximately 30%, 31%, and 34% of our revenues
outside the United States, respectively. In addition, our international operations as a percentage of our business may increase
over time. Our primary operations outside the United States are in Canada, Germany, France, the United Kingdom and Brazil.
We also have operations in the Netherlands, Belgium, Greece and India. There are numerous risks inherent in doing business in
international markets, including:
•

fluctuations in currency exchange rates and interest rates;

•

varying regional and geopolitical business and economic conditions and demands;

•

compliance with applicable foreign regulations and licensing requirements, and U.S. laws and regulation with respect
to conducting business in other countries, including export controls, sanctions, anti-terrorist, and anti-bribery laws;

•

the cost and uncertainty of obtaining data and creating solutions that are relevant to particular geographic markets;

•

the need to provide sufficient levels of technical support in different locations;

•

the complexity of maintaining effective policies and procedures in locations around the world;

•

political instability and civil unrest;

•

increased risk of hacking, malware or security breaches of our data and databases;

•

restrictions or limitations on outsourcing contracts or services abroad;

•

restrictions or limitations on the repatriation of funds, or tax consequences on the non-repatriation of overseas
operationally generated funds; and

•

other potentially adverse tax consequences.

26

Table of Contents
We expect to continue expanding and our success depends on how effectively we manage our growth.
We expect to continue experiencing growth in the number of employees and the scope of our operations over the long-term. To
effectively manage our anticipated future growth, we must continue to implement and improve our managerial, operational,
compliance, financial and reporting systems and capabilities, expand our facilities and continue to recruit and train additional
qualified personnel. We expect that all these measures will require significant expenditures and will demand the attention of
management. Failure to manage our growth effectively could lead us to over or under-invest in technology and operations,
result in weaknesses in our infrastructure, systems, compliance programs or controls, and give rise to operational mistakes, the
loss of business opportunities, the loss of employees and reduced productivity among remaining employees. Our expected
growth could require significant capital expenditures and may divert financial resources from other projects, such as the
development of new solutions. If our management is unable to effectively manage our expected growth, our expenses may
increase more than expected, our profit margins may suffer, our revenues could decline or may grow more slowly than expected
and we may be unable to implement our business strategy as anticipated.
Our operating results could be adversely affected by a reduction in business with our significant customers.
We derive a significant amount of revenues from a few customers. Taken as a group, our top ten customers were responsible for
approximately 33%, 32%, and 34% of our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. This
concentration pertains almost exclusively to our Services segment, which accounted for 82%, 80% and 80% of our revenues
for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. These customers are primarily in the oil and gas sector.
Generally, our customers do not have an obligation to make purchases from us and may stop ordering our products and services
or may terminate existing orders or contracts at any time with little or no financial penalty. The loss of any of our significant
customers, any substantial decline in sales to these customers or any significant change in the timing or volume of purchases by
our significant customers could result in lower revenues and could harm our business, financial condition or results of
operations.
An accident or incident involving our asset protection solutions could expose us to claims, harm our reputation and
adversely affect our ability to compete for business and, as a result, harm our operating performance.
We could be exposed to liabilities arising out of the solutions we provide. For instance, we furnish the results of our testing and
inspections for use by our customers in their assessment of their assets, facilities, plants and other structures. If such results
were to be incorrect or incomplete, as a result of, for instance, poorly designed inspections, malfunctioning testing equipment or
our employees’ failure to adequately test or properly record data, we could be subject to claims. Further, if an accident or
incident involving a structure we tested occurs and causes personal injuries or property damage, such as the collapse of a bridge
or an explosion in a facility, and particularly if these injuries or damages could have been prevented by our customers had we
provided them with correct or complete results, we would likely face significant claims relating to personal injury, property
damage or other losses. Even if our results are correct and complete, we may face claims for such injuries or damage simply
because we tested the structure or facility in question. In addition, during the course of a single engagement, such as the
inspection of a pipeline, we often perform tests on thousands of welds. Even if the accuracy of only a small number of these test
results are questioned, a customer may attempt to refuse payment for the entire project. While we do have insurance, our
insurance coverage does not cover non-payment by customers and may not be adequate to cover the damages from any of the
prior referenced claims, forcing us to bear these uninsured damages directly, which could harm our operating results and may
result in additional expenses and possible loss of revenues. An accident or incident for which we are found partially or fully
responsible, even if fully insured, or even an incident at a customer or site for which we provide services although we were
found not to be responsible, may also result in negative publicity, which would harm our reputation among our customers and
the public, cause us to lose existing and future contracts or make it more difficult for us to compete effectively, thereby
significantly harming our operating performance. In addition, the occurrence of an accident or incident might also make it more
expensive or extremely difficult for us to insure against similar events in the future.
Many of the sites at which we work are inherently dangerous workplaces. If we fail to maintain a safe work environment, we
may incur losses and lose business.
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Many of our customers, particularly in the oil and gas and chemical industries, require their inspectors and other contractors
working at their facilities to have good safety records because of the inherent danger at these sites. If our employees are injured
at the work place, we could incur costs for the injuries and lost productivity. In addition, safety records are impacted by the
number and amount of workplace incidents involving a contractor’s employees. If our safety record is not within the levels
required by our customers, or compares unfavorably to our competitors, we could lose business, be prevented from working at
certain facilities or suffer other adverse consequences, all of which could negatively impact our business, revenues, reputation
and profitability.
If our software or system produces inaccurate information or are incompatible with the systems used by our customers and
make us unable to successfully provide our solutions, it could lead to a loss of revenues and customers.
Our software and systems are complex and, accordingly, may contain undetected errors or failures. Software or system defects
or inaccurate data may cause incorrect recording, reporting or display of information related to our asset protection solutions.
Any such failures, defects and inaccurate data may prevent us from successfully providing our asset protection solutions, which
could result in lost revenues. Software or system defects or inaccurate data may lead to customer dissatisfaction and could
cause our customers to seek to hold us liable for any damages incurred. As a result, we could lose customers, our reputation
may be harmed and our financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.
We currently serve a commercial, and industrial customer base that uses a wide variety of constantly changing hardware,
software solutions and operating systems. Our asset protection solutions need to interface with these systems in order to gather
and assess data. Our business depends on the following factors, among others:
•
•
•

our ability to integrate our technology with new and existing hardware and software systems, of either Mistras or a
customer;
our ability to anticipate and support new standards, especially internet-based standards; and
our ability to integrate additional software modules under development by either Mistras or a customer, with our
existing technology and operational processes.

If we are unable to adequately address any of these factors, our results of operations and prospects for growth and profitability
would be adversely impacted.
If we are unable to attract and retain a sufficient number of trained certified technicians, engineers and scientists at
competitive wages, our operational performance may be harmed and our costs may increase.
We believe that our success depends, in part, upon our ability to attract, develop and retain a sufficient number of trained
certified technicians, engineers and scientists at competitive wages. The demand for such employees fluctuates as the demand
for NDT and inspection services fluctuates. When the demand for qualified technicians increases, we will often experience
increased labor costs, which we may not recover in the amounts we can charge our customers. The markets for our products and
services require us to use personnel trained and certified in accordance with standards set by domestic or international standardsetting bodies, such as the American Society of Non-Destructive Testing or the American Petroleum Institute. Because of the
limited supply of these certified technicians, we expend substantial resources maintaining in-house training and certification
programs. If we fail to attract sufficient new personnel or fail to motivate and retain our current personnel, our ability to
perform under existing contracts and orders or to pursue new business may be harmed, preventing us from growing our
business or causing us to lose customers and revenues, and the costs of performing such contracts and orders may increase,
which would likely reduce our margins.
We operate in competitive markets and if we are unable to compete successfully, we could lose market share and revenues
and our margins could decline.
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We face strong competition from NDT and a variety of niche asset protection providers, both larger and smaller than we are.
Some of our competitors have greater financial resources than we do and could focus their substantial financial resources to
develop a competing business model or develop products or services that are more attractive to potential customers than what
we offer. Some of our competitors are business units of companies substantially larger than us and could attempt to combine
asset protection solutions into an integrated offering to customers who already purchase other types of products or services
from them. Our competitors may offer asset protection solutions at lower prices than ours in order to attempt to gain market
share. Smaller niche competitors with small customer bases could be aggressive in their pricing in order to retain customers.
These competitive factors could reduce our market share, revenues and profits.
The success of our businesses depends, in part, on our ability to develop new asset protection solutions, increase the
functionality of our current offerings and meet the needs and demands of our customers.
The market for asset protection solutions is impacted by technological change, uncertain product lifecycles, shifts in customer
demands and evolving industry standards and regulations. If we fail to execute effective business strategies, or fail to
successfully develop and market new asset protection solutions that comply with present or emerging industry regulations and
technology standards our competitive standing and results could suffer. Also, new regulations or technology standards could
increase our cost of doing business.
From time to time, our customers have requested greater value and functionality in our solutions. As part of our strategy to
enhance our asset protection solutions and grow our business, we continue to make investments in the research and
development of new technologies, inspection tools and methodologies. We believe our future success will depend, in part, on
our ability to continue to design new, competitive and broader asset protection solutions, enhance our current solutions and
provide new, value-added services. Many traditional NDT and inspection services are subject to price competition by our
customers. Accordingly, the need to demonstrate our value-added services is becoming more important. Developing new
solutions will require continued investment, and we may experience unforeseen technological or operational challenges. In
addition, our asset protection software is complex and can be expensive to develop, and new software and software
enhancements can require long development and testing periods. If we are unable to develop new asset protection solutions or
enhancements that meet market demands on a timely basis, including against possible alternative products developed and
marketed by our competitors, we may experience a loss of customers or otherwise be likely to lose opportunities to earn
revenues and to gain customers or access to markets, and our business and results of operations will be adversely affected.
Even if we develop new solutions, if our customers, or potential customers, do not see the value our solutions have over
competing products and services, our operating results could be adversely impacted. In addition, because the asset protection
solutions industry is evolving, we could lose insight into trends that may be emerging, which would further harm our
competitive position by making it difficult to predict and respond to customer needs. If the market for our asset protection
solutions does not continue to develop, our ability to grow our business would be limited and we might not be able to maintain
profitability. If we cannot convince our customers of the advantages and value of our advanced NDT services, we could lose
large contracts or suffer lower profit margin.
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The seasonal nature of our business reduces our revenues and profitability in the winter and summer and related cash
flows.
Our business is seasonal. The fall and spring revenues are typically higher than our revenues in the winter and summer because
demand for our asset protection solutions from the oil and gas as well as the fossil and nuclear power industries increases
during their non-peak production periods. For instance, U.S. refineries’ non-peak periods are generally in the fall, when they are
retooling to produce more heating oil for winter, and in the spring, when they are retooling to produce more gasoline for
summer. As a result of these trends, we generally have reduced cash flows in the fall and spring, as collections of receivables
lag behind revenues, normally requiring us to increase our borrowings under our credit agreement. In addition, most of our
operating expenses, such as employee compensation and property rental expense, are relatively fixed over the short term.
Moreover, our spending levels are based in part on our expectations regarding future revenues. As a result, if revenues for a
particular quarter are below expectations, we may not be able to proportionately reduce operating expenses for that quarter. We
expect that the impact of seasonality will continue.
Our business, and the industries we currently serve, are currently subject to governmental regulation, and may become
subject to modified or new government regulation that may negatively impact our ability to market our asset protection
solutions.
We incur substantial costs in complying with various government regulations and licensing requirements. For example, the
transportation and overnight storage of radioactive materials used in providing certain of our asset protection solutions such as
radiography are subject to regulation under federal and state laws and licensing requirements. Our Services segment is currently
licensed to handle radioactive materials by the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC), more than 20 state regulatory
agencies and the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission. If we allegedly fail to comply with these regulations, we may be
investigated and incur significant legal expenses associated with such investigations, and if we are found to have violated these
regulations, we may be fined or lose one or more of our licenses or permits, which would prevent or restrict our ability to
provide radiography services. In addition, while we are investigated, we may be required to suspend work on the projects
associated with our alleged noncompliance, resulting in loss of profits or customers, and damage to our reputation. Many of our
customers have strict requirements concerning safety or loss time occurrences and if we are unable to meet these requirements
it could result in lost revenues. In the future, governmental agencies may seek to change current regulations or impose
additional regulations on our business. Any modified or new government regulation applicable to our current or future asset
protection solutions may negatively impact the marketing and provision of those solutions and increase our costs of providing
these solutions and have a corresponding adverse effect on our margins.
Additionally, greenhouse gases that result from human activities, including burning of fossil fuels, have been the focus of
increased scientific and political scrutiny and are being subjected to various legal requirements. International agreements,
national laws, state laws and various regulatory schemes limit or otherwise regulate emissions of greenhouse gases, and
additional restrictions are under consideration by different governmental entities. We derive a significant amount of revenues
and profits from such industries, including oil and gas, power generation and transmission, and chemicals processing. Such
regulations could negatively impact our customers, which could negatively impact the market for the services and products we
provide. This could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
We rely on certification of our NDT solutions by industry standards-setting bodies. We and/or our subsidiaries currently have
International Organization for Standardization (ISO) 9001:2008 certification, ISO 14001:2004 certification and OHSAS
18001:2007 certification. In addition, we currently have Nadcap (formerly National Aerospace and Defense Contractors
Accreditation Program) and similar certifications for certain of our locations. We continually review our NDT solutions for
compliance with the requirements of industry specification standards and the Nadcap special processes quality requirements.
However, if we fail to maintain our ISO, Nadcap or other certifications, our business may be harmed because our customers
generally require that we have these certifications before they purchase our NDT solutions.
Risks Related to Our Common Stock
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A significant stockholder has significant influence over the direction of our business. The concentrated ownership of our
common stock may prevent other stockholders from influencing significant corporate decisions.
Dr. Sotirios J. Vahaviolos, our founder and Executive Chairman, owns approximately 29% of our outstanding common stock,
and his three adult children own an additional 6%, in the aggregate. As a result, Dr. Vahaviolos has significant control over our
Company and has the ability to exert substantial influence over all matters requiring approval by our shareholders, including the
election and removal of directors, amendments to our certificate of incorporation, and any proposed merger, consolidation or
sale of all or substantially all of our assets and other corporate transactions. This concentration of ownership could be
disadvantageous to other shareholders with differing interests from Dr. Vahaviolos.
Our stock price could fluctuate for numerous reasons, including variations in our results.
Our quarterly operating results have fluctuated in the past and may do so in the future. Accordingly, we believe that period-toperiod comparisons of our results of operations may be the best indicators of our business. You should not rely upon the results
of one quarter as an indication of future performance. Our revenues and operating results may fall below the expectations of
securities analysts or investors in any future period. Our failure to meet these expectations may cause the market price of our
common stock to decline, perhaps substantially. Our quarterly revenues and operating results may vary depending on a number
of factors, including those listed previously under “Risks Related to Our Business.” In addition, the price of our common stock
is subject to general economic, market, industry, and competitive conditions, the risk factors discussed below and numerous
other conditions outside of our control.
We currently have no plans to pay dividends on our common stock.
We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock to date, and we do not anticipate declaring or paying
any dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. To the extent we do not pay dividends on our common stock,
investors must look solely to stock appreciation for a return on their investment.
Shares eligible for future sale may cause the market price for our common stock to decline even if our business is doing
well.
Future sales by us or by our existing shareholders of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, or the
perception that these sales may occur, could cause the market price of our common stock to decline. This could also impair our
ability to raise additional capital in the future through the sale of our equity securities. We cannot predict the size of future
issuances of our common stock or the effect, if any, that future sales and issuances of shares of our common stock, or the
perception of such sales or issuances, would have on the market price of our common stock. We currently have approximately
170 million shares of common stock available for issuance.
Provisions of our charter, bylaws and of Delaware law could discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our
company, which may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
Certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws could discourage, delay or prevent a merger, acquisition, or
other change of control that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which our stockholders might
otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These provisions also could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay
in the future for shares of our common stock, thereby depressing the market price of our common stock. Stockholders who wish
to participate in these transactions may not have the opportunity to do so. Furthermore, these provisions could prevent or
frustrate attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our management. These provisions:
•

allow the authorized number of directors to be changed only by resolution of our board of directors;

•

require that vacancies on the board of directors, including newly created directorships, be filled only by a majority
vote of directors then in office;
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•

authorize our board of directors to issue, without stockholder approval, preferred stock that, if issued, could operate as
a “poison pill” to dilute the stock ownership of a potential hostile acquirer to prevent an acquisition that is not
approved by our board of directors;

•

require that stockholder actions must be effected at a duly called stockholder meeting by prohibiting stockholder action
by written consent;

•

prohibit cumulative voting in the election of directors, which may otherwise allow holders of less than a majority of
stock to elect some directors; and

•

establish advance notice requirements for stockholder nominations to our board of directors or for stockholder
proposals that can be acted on at stockholder meetings and limit the right to call special meetings of stockholders to
the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the board of directors acting pursuant to a resolution adopted
by a majority of directors or the Secretary upon the written request of stockholders entitled to cast not less than 35% of
all the votes entitled to be cast at such meeting.

In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware
General Corporation Law, which may, unless certain criteria are met, prohibit large stockholders, in particular those owning
15% or more of our outstanding voting stock, from merging or combining with us for a prescribed period of time.
General Risk Factors
Our credit agreement contains financial and operating restrictions that may limit our access to credit. If we fail to comply
with financial or other covenants in our credit agreement, we may be required to repay indebtedness to our existing lenders,
which may harm our liquidity.
Our credit agreement contains financial covenants that require us to maintain compliance with specified financial ratios. If we
fail to comply with these covenants, the lenders could prevent us from borrowing under our credit agreement, require us to pay
all amounts outstanding, require that we cash collateralize letters of credit issued under the credit agreement and restrict us from
making acquisitions. If the maturity of our indebtedness is accelerated, we then may not have sufficient funds available for
repayment or the ability to borrow or obtain sufficient funds to replace the accelerated indebtedness on terms acceptable to us,
or at all. We believe that it is probable, based on the amended covenants to the credit agreement, that we will be able to comply
with the financial covenants in our credit agreement and that sufficient credit remains available under the credit agreement to
meet our liquidity needs. However, due to the uncertainties being caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, the significant volatility
in oil prices, and volatility in the aerospace production, such matters cannot be predicted with certainty.
Our current credit agreement also imposes restrictions on our ability to engage in certain activities, such as creating liens,
making certain investments, incurring more debt, disposing of certain property, paying dividends and making distributions and
entering into a new line of business. While these restrictions have not impeded our business operations to date, if our plans
change, these restrictions could be burdensome or require that we pay fees to have the restrictions waived. In addition, due to
our current debt levels and restrictions related to the debt covenants in our credit facility, we do not expect to make any
acquisitions in 2022 other than small acquisitions with the banks’ approval.
The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely affected our business and operations and may continue to do so in the future.
The COVID-19 pandemic adversely affected the Company's business and operations during 2020, however our business and
operations have rebounded to near pre-pandemic levels during 2021. The COVID-19 pandemic has continued to cause
disruption and volatility in domestic and international markets and in the businesses and operations of our customers. In
addition, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, some of our customers have been and could continue to be negatively
impacted as a result of disruption in supply and demand, which has led to delays and could lead to defaults on collections of
receivables from them. Such continued delays could negatively impact our business, results of operations and financial
condition.
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While we have recovered during 2021 from most of the negative effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business and
operations, we are unable to predict the nature or duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and the effect the pandemic will have on
our business, financial condition, liquidity, cash flow and results of operations in the future. If the pandemic continues longer or
in a manner more adverse that expected, or has a greater adverse impact on our customers, our financial conditions could be
adversely impacted and we may encounter difficulties meeting the financial covenants in our credit agreement.
Deteriorations in economic conditions in certain markets or other factors may cause us to recognize additional impairment
charges for our goodwill.
During the first quarter of 2020, the Company’s market capitalization declined significantly compared to the fourth quarter of
2019. Over the same period, the equity value of the Company’s peer group, and the overall U.S. stock market also declined
significantly amid market volatility. In addition, oil prices had dropped significantly. These declines were driven in large part by
the uncertainty surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic and other macroeconomic events such as the geopolitical tensions between
OPEC and Russia. Based on these factors, the Company concluded that multiple triggering events occurred and, accordingly, an
interim quantitative goodwill impairment test was performed for each reporting unit as of March 31, 2020.
Based upon the results of the interim quantitative goodwill impairment test during the first quarter of 2020, the Company recorded
an aggregate impairment charge of $77.1 million, which included $57.2 million in the services reporting unit within the Services
segment, and $19.3 million in the European reporting unit and $0.6 million in the Brazilian reporting unit, both within the
International segment.
While we have significantly recovered during 2021, future deterioration in industry or economic conditions in which we
operate, including disruptions in Europe or elsewhere as a result of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine, disruptions to our
business, not effectively integrating acquired businesses, or other factors, may cause additional impairment charges to our
goodwill in future periods.
We may face risks regarding our information technology and security.
Significant disruptions of our information technology systems or breaches of information security could adversely affect our
business. We rely upon information technology systems to operate many parts of our business. We routinely collect, store and
transmit large amounts of sensitive or confidential information, including data from the results of our testing and inspections.
We deploy and operate various technical and procedural controls to maintain the confidentiality and integrity of such sensitive
or confidential information. Furthermore, as we automate more of our inspection process and procedures, including through the
use of Mistras Digital, we become more vulnerable to security breaches and other system disruptions. In addition, we rely on
third parties for significant elements of our information technology infrastructure and, as a result, we are managing many
independent vendor relationships with third parties who may or could have access to our confidential information. The size and
complexity of our information technology and information security systems, and those of our third-party vendors with whom
we contract (and the large amounts of confidential information that is present on them), make such systems potentially
vulnerable to service interruptions or to security breaches from inadvertent or intentional actions by our employees or vendors,
or from attacks by malicious third parties. Such attacks are of ever-increasing levels of sophistication and expertise, including
organized criminal groups, “hacktivists,” and others. Due to the nature of some of these attacks, there is a risk that they may
remain undetected for a period of time. While we have invested in the protection of data and information technology, there can
be no assurance that our efforts will prevent service interruptions or security breaches. Any such interruption or breach of our
systems could adversely affect our business operations and/or result in the loss of critical or sensitive confidential information,
and could result in financial, legal, business and reputational harm to us. We maintain cyber liability insurance; however this
insurance may not be sufficient to cover the financial, legal, business or reputational losses that may result from an interruption
or breach of our systems. The occurrence or perception of security breaches in connection with our asset protection solutions or
our customers’ concerns about internet security or the security of our solutions, whether warranted or not, would likely harm
our reputation and business, inhibit market acceptance of our asset protection solutions and cause us to lose customers, any of
which would harm our financial condition and results of operations.
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In addition, much of our computer and communications hardware is located at a single facility. We have a back-up data-center
and storage in a different geographic area. Should a natural disaster or some other event occur that damages our primary data
center or significantly disrupts its operation, such as human error, fire, flood, power loss, telecommunications failure, break-ins,
terrorist attacks, acts of war and similar events, we could suffer temporary interruption of key functions and capabilities before
the back-up facility is fully operational.
We are subject to privacy and data security/protection laws in the jurisdictions in which we operate and may be exposed to
substantial costs and liabilities associated with such laws and regulations.
The regulatory environment surrounding information security and privacy is increasingly demanding, with frequent imposition
of new and changing requirements. The European Union's General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”), which became
effective in May 2018, imposed significant new requirements on how companies process and transfer personal data, as well as
significant fines for non-compliance. In addition to GDPR, many states in the U.S. and provinces in Canada have enacted, or
are considering, data privacy requirements similar to GDPR, and thus we will need to ensure our procedures comply with these
various state laws. Compliance with changes in privacy and information security laws and standards may result in significant
expense due to increased investment in technology and the development of new operational processes, which could have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the payment of potentially significant
fines or penalties in the event of a breach privacy and information security laws, as well as the negative publicity associated
with such a breach, could damage the Company’s reputation and adversely impact product demand and customer relationships.
Events such as natural disasters, industrial accidents, epidemics, pandemics, war and acts of terrorism, and adverse weather
conditions could disrupt our business or the business of our customers, which could significantly harm our operations,
financial results and cash flow.
Our operations and those of our customers are susceptible to the occurrence of catastrophic events outside our control, which
may include events like epidemics, pandemics and other health crises, severe weather conditions, industrial accidents, and acts
of war and terrorism, to name a few. We continue to actively monitor the conflict between Russia and Ukraine and the sanctions
imposed upon Russia in order to assess impacts to our customers and our operations. At this time, we do not believe there is a
material impact on our operations, however the future impact of the conflict, and sanctions imposed, are uncertain.
Any such events could cause a serious business disruption that reduces our customers’ need or interest in purchasing our asset
protection solutions. In the past, such events have resulted in order cancellations and delays because customer equipment,
facilities or operations have been damaged, or are not then operational or available. A large portion of our customer base has
operations in the Gulf of Mexico, which is subject to hurricanes and tropical storms. Hurricane-related disruptions to our
customers’ operations have adversely affected our revenues in the past. Such events in the future may result in substantial
delays in the provision of solutions to our customers and the loss of valuable equipment. In addition, our results can be
adversely impacted by severe winter weather conditions, which can result in lost workdays and temporary closures of customer
facilities or outdoor projects. Safety measures have been taken in an attempt to protect our employees during the COVID-19
pandemic.
In addition, these events could disrupt commodity prices or financial markets or have other negative macroeconomic impacts,
such as those being caused by COVID-19 coronavirus or the invasion of Ukraine by Russia, which could harm our business.
If we lose key members of our senior management team upon whom we are dependent, we may be less effective in managing
our operations and may have more difficulty achieving our strategic objectives.
Our future success depends to a considerable degree upon the availability, contributions, vision, skills, experience and effort of
our senior management team. We have in place various compensation programs, such as an annual cash incentive program,
equity incentive program and a severance policy, each designed to incentivize and retain our key senior managers. At this time,
we do not have any reason to believe that we may lose the services of any of these key persons in the foreseeable future and we
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believe our compensation programs will help us retain these individuals. We believe we have sufficient depth in our executive
management to continue our success if we were to lose the services of an executive. However, an unplanned loss or interruption
of the service of numerous key members of our senior management team could harm our business, financial condition and
results of operations and could significantly reduce our ability to manage our operations and implement our strategy.
Intellectual property may impact our business and results of operations.
Our ability to compete effectively depends in part upon the maintenance and protection of the intellectual property related to
our asset protection solutions. Patent protection is unavailable for certain aspects of the technology and operational processes
important to our business and any patent or patent applications, trademarks or copyrights held by us or to be issued to us, may
not adequately protect us. To date, we have relied principally on copyright, trademark and trade secrecy laws, as well as
confidentiality agreements and licensing arrangements, and more recently, patent protection, to establish and protect our
intellectual property. However, we have not obtained confidentiality agreements from all our customers and vendors. Although
we obligate our employees to confidentiality, we cannot be certain that these obligations will be honored or enforceable in all
circumstances.
We may require additional capital to support business growth, which might not be available.
We intend to continue making investments to support our business growth and may require additional funds to respond to
business challenges or opportunities, including the need to develop new, or enhance our current, asset protection solutions,
enhance our operating infrastructure or acquire businesses and technologies. Accordingly, we may need to engage in equity or
debt financings to secure additional funds. If we raise additional funds through further issuances of equity or convertible debt
securities, our current stockholders could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities we issue could have rights,
preferences and privileges superior to those of holders of our common stock. Our current credit facility meets our current needs,
except that due to our current debt levels, the facility limits our ability to make acquisitions without the banks' approval until
our debt ratio improves. If we were to secure other debt financing in the future, it could involve restrictive covenants relating to
our capital-raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain
additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. In addition, no assurance can be given
that adequate or acceptable financing will be available to us, in which case we may not be able to grow our business, including
through acquisitions, or respond to business challenges.
ITEM 1B.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

As of December 31, 2021, we operated approximately 120 facilities in 10 countries, with our corporate headquarters located in
Princeton Junction, New Jersey. Our headquarters in Princeton Junction is our primary location, where most of our
manufacturing and research and development is conducted. While we lease most of our facilities, as of December 31, 2021, we
owned properties located in Monroe, North Carolina; Trainer, Pennsylvania; LaPorte, Texas; Burlington, Washington;
Evanston, Wyoming; and Jonquiere, Quebec. Our Services segment utilizes approximately 80 facilities throughout North
America (including Canada). Our Products and Systems segment’s primary location is in our Princeton Junction, NJ facility.
Our International segment has approximately 40 facilities including locations in Belgium, Brazil, France, Germany,
Greece, India, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom. We believe that all of our facilities are well maintained and are suitable
and adequate for the foreseeable future.
ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
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We are subject to periodic legal proceedings, investigations and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. See
“Litigation” in Note 18-Commitments and Contingencies to the consolidated financial statements contained in Item 8 of this
Annual Report for a description of legal proceedings involving us and our business, which is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 4.

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

None.
ITEM 5.
MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASE OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market for Common Stock
Our common stock currently trades on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the ticker symbol “MG.”
Holders of Record
As of March 9, 2022, there were 11 holders of record of our Common Stock. The number of record holders was determined
from the records of our transfer agent and does not include beneficial owners of common stock whose shares are held in the
names of various security brokers, dealers, and registered clearing agencies. The transfer agent of our common stock is
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, 6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, New York 11219.
Dividends
No cash dividends have been paid on our Common Stock to date. We currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to
finance the expansion of our business and do not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
Purchases of Equity Securities
The following sets forth the shares of our common stock we acquired during the fourth quarter of 2021. All purchases were
effected pursuant to the surrender of shares by employees to satisfy minimum tax withholding obligations in connection with
the vesting of restricted stock units.
Total Number of Shares (or
Units) Purchased

Month Ending

October 31, 2021
November 30, 2021
December 31, 2021

`ITEM 6.

19,726
—
28,683

Average Price Paid per
Share (or Unit)

$
$
$

9.84
—
7.43

[RESERVED]
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Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of
Publicly Announced Plans
or Programs

—
—
—

Approximate Dollar Value of
Shares that May Yet Be
Purchased Under the Plans or
Programs

$
$
$

—
—
—
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ITEM 7.
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATION
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) provides a discussion of our results of operations and
financial position for the year ended December 31, 2021. A discussion of our results of operations and financial position for the
year ended December 31, 2020 is included in Part II–Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 filed with the SEC on
March 16, 2021, which discussion is incorporated herein by reference. The MD&A should be read together with our
consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Item 8 in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Unless otherwise
specified or the context otherwise requires, “Mistras,” "MISTRAS," “the Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Mistras
Group, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. The MD&A includes the following sections:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Forward-Looking Statements
Overview
Note about Non-GAAP Measures
Consolidated Results of Operations
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Critical Accounting Estimates
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Forward-Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933 (Securities Act), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act). Such forward-looking
statements include those that express plans, anticipation, intent, contingency, goals, targets or future development and/or
otherwise are not statements of historical fact. These forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations and
projections about future events and they are subject to risks and uncertainties known and unknown that could cause actual
results and developments to differ materially from those expressed or implied in such statements. See “Forward-Looking
Statements” at the beginning of Item 1 of this Annual Report.
At the time of this Annual Report, the COVID-19 pandemic is continuing to have a negative impact on us and our key markets
and is causing significant economic disruption worldwide. In addition, the recent and ongoing Russian invasion of Ukraine is
likely to have a significant impact on the worldwide economy, and in particular, among other things, on the energy sector and
the pricing and volume of oil and gas production. Our discussion below is qualified by the unknown impact that the COVID-19
pandemic and the conflict in Ukraine will continue to have on our business and the economy in general, including the duration
of the health risk the COVID-19 pandemic will cause and the resulting economic disruption associated with both the RussianUkranian conflict and the COVID-19 pandemic.

Overview
The Company is a leading "OneSource" multinational provider of integrated technology-enabled asset protection solutions,
helping to maximize the safety and operational uptime for civilization’s most critical industrial and civil assets.
Backed by an innovative, data-driven asset protection portfolio, proprietary technologies, and decades-long legacy of industry
leadership, the Company helps clients with asset-intensive infrastructure in the oil and gas, aerospace and defense, industrials,
power generation and transmission (including alternative and renewable energy), other process industries and infrastructure,
research and engineering and other industries towards achieving and maintaining operational excellence. By supporting these
organizations that help fuel our vehicles and power our society; inspecting components that are trusted for commercial, defense,
and space craft; and building real-time monitoring equipment to enable safe travel across bridges, the Company helps the world
at large.
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The Company enhances value for its clients by integrating asset protection throughout supply chains and centralizing integrity
data through a suite of IIoT-connected digital software and monitoring solutions, including OneSuite, which serves as an
ecosystem platform, pulling together all of the Company's software and data services capabilities, for the benefit of its
customers.
The Company's core capabilities also include non-destructive testing field inspections enhanced by advanced robotics,
laboratory quality control and assurance testing, sensing technologies and NDT equipment, asset and mechanical integrity
engineering services, and light mechanical maintenance and access services.
Our operations consist of three reportable segments: Services, International, and Products and Systems.

•

Services provides asset protection solutions predominantly in North America, with the largest concentration in the
United States, followed by Canada, consisting primarily of NDT, inspection, mechanical and engineering services that
are used to evaluate the structural integrity and reliability of critical energy, industrial and public infrastructure and
commercial aerospace components. Software, digital and data services are included in this segment.

•

International offers services, products and systems similar to those of the other segments to select markets within
Europe, the Middle East, Africa, Asia and South America, but not to customers in China and South Korea, which are
served by the Products and Systems segment.

•

Products and Systems designs, manufactures, sells, installs and services the Company’s asset protection products and
systems, including equipment and instrumentation, predominantly in the United States.

Given the role our solutions play in enhancing the safe and efficient operation of infrastructure, we have historically provided a
majority of our solutions to our customers on a regular, recurring basis. We perform these services largely at our customers’
facilities, while primarily servicing our aerospace customers at our network of state-of-the-art, in-house laboratories. These
solutions typically include NDT and inspection services, and can also include a wide range of mechanical services, including
heat tracing, pre-inspection insulation stripping, coating applications, re-insulation, engineering assessments and long-term
condition-monitoring. Under this business model, many customers outsource their inspection to us on a “run and maintain”
basis. We have established long-term relationships as a critical solutions provider to many of the leading companies with assetintensive infrastructure in our target markets. These markets include companies in the oil and gas, aerospace and defense,
industrials, power generation and transmission (including alternative and renewable energy), other process industries and
infrastructure, research and engineering and other industries.
We have focused on providing our advanced asset protection solutions to our customers using proprietary, technology-enabled
software and testing instruments, including those developed by our Products and Systems segment. We have made numerous
acquisitions in an effort to grow our base of experienced, certified personnel, expand our service lines and technical
capabilities, increase our geographical reach, complement our existing offerings, and leverage our fixed costs. We have
increased our capabilities and the size of our customer base through the development of applied technologies and managed
support services, organic growth and the integration of acquired companies. These acquisitions have provided us with
additional service lines, technologies, resources and customers which we believe enhance our advantages over our competition.
We believe long-term growth can be realized in all of our target markets. Our level of business and financial results are
impacted by world-wide macro- and micro-economic conditions generally, as well as those within our target markets. Among
other things, we expect the timing of our oil and gas customers inspection spend to be impacted by oil price fluctuations.
We have continued providing our customers with innovative asset protection software ecosystem through our MISTRAS
OneSuite platform. The software platform offers functions of MISTRAS' popular software and services brands as integrated
apps on a cloud environment. OneSuite serves as a single access portal for customers' data activities and provides access to 50
plus applications being offered on one centralized platform.
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We have continued to develop new technologies to provide monitoring of wind blade integrity through our Sensoria tool.
Sensoria helps provide real-time monitoring and damage detection of wind turbine blades and allows our customers to
maximize uptime, performance and safety of wind turbine blades. This tool provides additional growth and expansion of our
capabilities to serve both new and existing wind turbines and greatly enhances our product offerings within the renewable
energy industry.
2021 Developments
The COVID-19 coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has continued to cause disruption and volatility in domestic and
international markets; however, conditions continued to improve during 2021 as compared to 2020. The Company's businesses
have been classified as non-healthcare critical infrastructure as defined by the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
(CDC). Our facilities, and the Company's customers facilities as well, have remained open with staffing modifications and
precautionary procedures taken as necessary.
Overall, we have taken actions to help ensure the health and safety of our employees and those of our customers and suppliers;
maintain business continuity and financial strength and stability; and serve our customers as they provide essential products and
services to the world.
The COVID-19 pandemic uncertainty, significant volatility in oil prices and decreased traffic in the aerospace industry have
adversely affected our workforce and operations, as well as the operations of our customers, suppliers and contractors
beginning in 2020. These negative factors continue to cause volatility and uncertainty in the markets in which we operate,
although we have nevertheless begun approaching pre-pandemic levels of activity in certain end markets, particularly oil and
gas where crude oil prices have recently exceeded pre-pandemic levels.
While we cannot fully assess the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic, the Russian invasion of Ukraine or significant volatility
in oil prices will continue to have on our operations and financial results at this time, we previously identified certain impacts
that resulted in impairment charges in 2020. No impairment charges have been recorded in 2021. See Note 8-Goodwill, Note 9Intangible Assets and Note 17-Leases to the consolidated financial statements.
The Company has eliminated substantially all of the temporary cost reduction initiatives undertaken in 2020, including reinstallment of the savings plan employer match and increasing wages back to pre-pandemic amounts. Our cash position and
liquidity remains strong. As of December 31, 2021, the cash balance was approximately $24.1 million.
In April 2021, the Biden Administration announced aggressive initiatives to battle climate change, which includes a significant
reduction in the use of fossil fuels and a transition to electric vehicles and increased use of alternative energy. Any legislation or
regulations that may be adopted to implement these measures may negatively impact our customers in the oil and gas market
over the long-term, which presently is our largest market, although this initiative will likely benefit the alternative energy
market, such as wind energy, for which we provide products and services. At this time, it is difficult to determine the magnitude
and timing of the impact that climate change initiatives and legislation, if any, will have on these markets and the resulting
impact on our business and operational results.
We are currently unable to predict with certainty the overall impact that the COVID-19 pandemic, volatility in oil prices, the
Russian invasion of Ukraine, and proposed climate change initiatives may have on our business, results of operations, liquidity
or in other ways which we cannot yet determine. We will continue to monitor market conditions and respond accordingly.
Refer to Item 1A. Risk Factors in Part I of this 2021 Annual Report.

Note about Non-GAAP Measures
The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. In this MD&A under the heading
"Income (loss) from Operations", the non-GAAP financial performance measure "Income (loss) before special items" is used
for each of our three segments, the Corporate segment and the Total Company, with tables reconciling the measure to a
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financial measure under GAAP. This presentation excludes from "Income (loss) from Operations" (a) transaction expenses
related to acquisitions, such as professional fees and due diligence costs, (b) the net changes in the fair value of acquisitionrelated contingent consideration liabilities, (c) impairment charges, (d) reorganization and other costs, which includes items
such as severance, labor relations matters and asset and lease termination costs and (e) other special items. These adjustments
have been excluded from the GAAP measure because these expenses and credits are not related to our or any individual
segment's core business operations. The acquisition related costs and special items can be a net expense or credit in any given
period. Our management uses this non-GAAP measure as a measure of operating performance and liquidity to assist in
comparing performance from period to period on a consistent basis, as a measure for planning and forecasting overall
expectations and for evaluating actual results against such expectations. We believe investors and other users of our financial
statements benefit from the presentation of this non-GAAP measure in evaluating our performance. Income (loss) before
special items excludes the identified adjustments, which provides additional tools to compare our core business operating
performance on a consistent basis and measure underlying trends and results in our business. Income (loss) before special items
is not used to determine incentive compensation for executives or employees, nor is it a replacement for the reported GAAP
financial performance and/or necessarily comparable to the non-GAAP financial measures of other companies.

Consolidated Results of Operations
Year ended December 31, 2021 vs. Year ended December 31, 2020
The following table summarizes our consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:
For the year ended December 31,

2021

2020

($ in thousands)

Revenues

$

Gross profit

677,131

$

197,147

Gross profit as a % of Revenue

592,571
178,531

29.1 %

Income (loss) from operations

30.1 %

18,170

Income (loss) from operations as a % of Revenue

(101,217)

2.7 %

(17.1)%

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes

7,288

(114,172)

Net income (loss)

3,893

(99,466)

Net income (loss) attributable to Mistras Group, Inc.

$

3,860

$

(99,461)

Revenues
Revenues by segment for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were as follows:
For the year ended December 31,
2021

2020

($ in thousands)

Revenues
Services

$

555,387 $

476,164

117,245

107,556

Products and Systems

13,831

16,449

Corporate and eliminations

(9,332)

(7,598)

International

$

677,131 $

592,571

Revenue was $677.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, an increase of $84.6 million, or 14.3%, compared with the
year ended December 31, 2020. The increase in revenue across the Services and International segments was due to organic
growth in our core business as our end markets recover from the effect of COVID-19. The increase primarily was driven by the
Services segment, which experienced a revenue increase of $79.2 million, or 16.6%, driven by double-digit organic growth.
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The International segment revenues increased 9.0% due predominantly to the double-digit organic growth and recovery within
the aerospace target market. The Products and Systems segment decreased 15.9%, driven by lower sales volume.
Revenues from oil and gas customers comprised 54% and 54% of total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively. Revenues from aerospace and defense customers comprised 10% and 12% of total revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The Company's top ten customers comprised approximately 33% of total
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021, as compared to 32% for the year ended December 31, 2020, with no customer
accounting for 10% or more of total revenue in either twelve month period.
Gross Profit
Gross profit by segment for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was as follows:
For the year ended December 31,
2021

2020

($ in thousands)

Gross profit
Services

$

% of segment revenue

155,384

$

141,084

28.0 %

International

29.6 %

34,282

% of segment revenue

31,046

29.2 %

Products and Systems

28.9 %

7,001

% of segment revenue

6,826

50.6 %

Corporate and eliminations

41.5 %

480
$

% of total revenue

197,147

(425)
$

178,531

29.1 %

30.1 %

Gross profit increased $18.6 million, or 10.4%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2020, with a sales increase of $84.6 million, or 14.3%. Continued recovery to near pre-pandemic levels in 2021
and continued organic growth across target end markets resulted in increased sales as compared to the prior period. Gross profit
margin was 29.1% and 30.1% for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively due to unfavorable sales mix.
Services segment gross profit margins had a year-on-year decrease of (160) basis points to 28.0% for the year ended
December 31, 2021, due primarily to unfavorable mix of sales and pass through of reimbursable travel costs. International
segment gross margins had a year-on-year increase of 30 basis points to 29.2% for the year ended December 31, 2021, due
primarily to sales mix and continued recovery in end markets including aerospace and defense. Products and Systems segment
gross margins increased by 910 basis points for the year ended December 31, 2021 to 50.6%, driven by favorable sales mix.
Operating Expenses
Operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was as follows:
For the year ended December 31,
2021

2020

($ in thousands)

Operating Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses

$

Impairment charges

161,334
—

Legal settlement and litigation charges, net

2,042

Research and engineering
Depreciation and amortization
Acquisition-related expense, net
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$

157,157
106,062
(220)

2,518

2,892

11,950

13,520

1,133

337

Table of Contents

Operating expenses decreased $(100.8) million, or (36.0)%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2020 due predominantly to impairment charges of $106.1 million in 2020 as more fully described in Note 8Goodwill, Note 9-Intangible Assets and Note 17-Leases to the consolidated financial statements. Amortization expense
decreased from prior year due to a lower net carrying amount of intangible assets as a result of the 2020 impairment charges.
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $4.2 million, or 2.7% for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared
to the year ended December 31, 2020 primarily due to the Company's elimination of substantially all temporary cost reduction
and efficiency program initiatives undertaken during the first quarter of 2020 in response to COVID-19 as more fully described
in 2021 Developments under the Overview of this section. Transactional foreign exchange expense, which is included within
selling, general and administrative expenses, was approximately $(2.7) million lower in 2021 as compared to 2020, due to
volatility in certain foreign currencies.
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Income (Loss) from Operations
The following table shows a reconciliation of segment income (loss) from operations to income (loss) before special items
(unaudited) for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:
For the year ended December 31,
2021

2020

($ in thousands)

Services:
Income (loss) from operations (GAAP)

$

Impairment charges
Reorganization and other costs

48,458 $

(44,222)

—

86,200

129

141

Legal settlement and litigation charges, net

1,650

81

Acquisition-related expense, net

1,128

337

Income before special items (unaudited, non-GAAP)

$

51,365 $

42,537

$

1,839 $

(21,855)

—

19,862

Reorganization and other costs

424

1,290

Legal settlement and litigation charges, net

737

—

International:
Income (loss) from operations (GAAP)
Impairment charges

Income (loss) before special items (unaudited, non-GAAP)
Products and Systems:
Loss from operations (GAAP)
Reorganization and other costs
Loss before special items (unaudited, non-GAAP)
Corporate and Eliminations:
Loss from operations (GAAP)

$

3,000 $

(703)

$

(117) $

(936)

$

27
(90) $

5
(931)

$

(32,010) $

(34,204)

Legal settlement and litigation charges (benefit), net
Loss on debt modification
Reorganization and other costs
Acquisition-related expense, net
Loss before special items (unaudited, non-GAAP)
Total Company:
Income (loss) from operations (GAAP)

(345)

(301)

278
93
5

645
177
—

$

(31,979) $

(33,683)

$

18,170 $

(101,217)

—

106,062

Impairment charges
Legal settlement and litigation charges (benefit), net

2,042

(220)

Loss on debt modification

278

645

Reorganization and other costs

673

1,613

1,133

337

Acquisition-related expense, net
Income before special items (unaudited, non-GAAP)

$

22,296 $

7,220

See section Note about Non-GAAP Measures in this Annual Report for an explanation of the use of non-GAAP measurements.
Total Company income from operations (GAAP) increased by $119.4 million, or 118.0% compared to the year ended
December 31, 2020. Total Company income before special items (non-GAAP) increased by $15.1 million or 208.8% compared
with the year ended December 31, 2020. Operating expenses, excluding special items (non-GAAP), as a percentage of revenue,
was 25.8% for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to 28.9% for the year ended December 31, 2020. The primary
driver for the increase in total company income was impairment charges which were recorded in 2020 and no impairment was
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noted in 2021. Income before special items as a percentage of revenue increased by 210 basis points to 3.3% for the year ended
December 31, 2021 from 1.2% for the year ended December 31, 2020. At the time of this Annual Report, the COVID-19
pandemic is continuing to have a negative impact on us and our key markets and is causing ongoing economic disruption
worldwide, although the Company has nevertheless begun approaching pre-pandemic levels of activity in certain end markets,
particularly oil and gas. Our discussion below is qualified by the unknown impact that the COVID-19 pandemic and the
Russian invasion of Ukraine will continue to have on our business and the economy in general, including the duration of the
health risk the COVID-19 pandemic will cause and the resulting economic disruption of both the COVID-19 pandemic and the
Russian-Ukrainian conflict. Refer to Item 1A. Risk Factors in Part I of this Annual Report for further discussion.
Interest Expense
Interest expense was $10.9 million and $13.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020,
respectively. The decrease was due to a change in the effective interest rate, due to a lower leverage ratio and elimination of the
LIBOR floor, as well as lower debt principal outstanding.
Income Taxes
Our effective income tax rate was approximately 46.6% for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to 12.9% for the year
ended December 31, 2020. The increase in effective tax rate was primarily driven by income in the current year as compared to
a loss in the prior period, partially offset by the recording of a $1.2 million valuation allowance recorded in 2021 which was
related to various state deferred tax assets offset by the capitalization of certain non-US intercompany balances which resulted
in a deductible foreign exchange loss in the US.
On March 27, 2020, the United States enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act). The
CARES Act is an approximately $2 trillion emergency economic stimulus package in response to the Coronavirus outbreak,
which among other things contains numerous income tax provisions. Some of these tax provisions are effective retroactively
for years ending before the date of enactment. The CARES Act provides a five-year carryback of net operating losses generated
in years 2018 through 2020. As the statutory federal income tax rate applicable to certain years within the carryback period is
35%, carryback to those years of our 2020 annual federal tax loss provided a tax benefit in excess of the current federal
statutory rate of 21%, resulting in an increased income tax benefit of $1.9 million. The income tax effects of the CARES Act
resulted in a cash refund of $4.9 million in 2021 of taxes paid in prior years.
On December 27, 2020, the United States enacted the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021, (the "Appropriations Act") an
additional stimulus package providing financial relief for individuals and small business. The Appropriations Act contains a
variety of tax provisions, including full expensing of business meals in 2021 and 2022, and expansion of the employee retention
tax credit. We are currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on our consolidated financial position, results of operations,
and cash flows, but does not expect it to have a material impact.
Further in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the American Rescue Plan Act was signed into law on March 11, 2021. This
act, among other things, provides economic relief provisions to individuals and funding to certain businesses and programs.
The Company does not expect this act to have a material impact.
On June 28, 2019, the Canadian province of Alberta enacted the Job Creation Tax Cut which reduced the Alberta corporate
income tax rate from 12% to 11% starting in 2019 with further annual reductions to 10% in 2020, 9% in 2021, and 8% in 2022.
This rate reduction had a favorable impact of approximately $1.9 million on the Company’s net deferred tax liabilities in this
jurisdiction in 2019. As part of Alberta’s Recovery plan associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, Alberta accelerated the
decrease in income tax rates from 10% in 2020 to 8% effective July 1, 2020. The accelerated tax rate reduction did not have a
material impact on the Company’s net deferred tax liabilities but did reduce current taxes.
Income tax expense varies as a function of pre-tax income and the level of non-deductible expenses, such as certain amounts of
meals and entertainment expense, valuation allowances, and other permanent differences. It is also affected by discrete items
that may occur in any given year but are not consistent from year to year. Our effective income tax rate may fluctuate over the
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next few years due to many variables including the amount and future geographic distribution of our pre-tax income, changes
resulting from our acquisition strategy, and increases or decreases in our permanent differences.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview
The Company has funded its operations from cash provided from operations, bank borrowings and lease financings.
Management believes that the Company's existing cash and cash equivalents, anticipated cash flows from operating activities,
and available borrowings under our credit agreement will be more than sufficient to meet anticipated cash needs over the next
12 months. The Company generated operating cash flow of $42.3 million and $67.8 million for the years ended December 31,
2021 and 2020, respectively. Capital expenditures for the purchase of property, plant and equipment and of intangible assets
was $19.3 million and $15.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Cash Flows Table
The following table summarizes our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:
For the year ended December 31,
($ in thousands)

2021

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net change in cash and cash equivalents

2020

$

42,261 $
(18,551)
(23,245)
(2,115)

67,802
(14,969)
(44,169)
2,080

$

(1,650) $

10,744

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $42.3 million, a decrease of $25.5 million
from the prior year. The decrease was primarily attributable to movements in working capital driven by the increase in net
accounts receivable collections as compared to the prior year.
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $18.6 million, an increase of $(3.6) million
from the prior year as a response to the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, the Company used $3.5 million more cash for
purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets in 2021 compared to 2020.
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net cash used by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $23.2 million, compared to $44.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2020. During the year ended December 31, 2021, net repayment of debt and revolver was
approximately $16.3 million higher compared to 2020. In addition, for the year ended December 31, 2021 we incurred
approximately $1.1 million less payments for contingent considerations, respectively offset by $0.9 million more taxes paid
related to net share settlement of share-based awards.
Cash Balance and Credit Facility Borrowings

45

Table of Contents
The terms of our Credit Agreement as modified are described in Note 11-Long-Term Debt of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in this Annual Report, under the heading "Senior Credit Facility", the provisions of which are incorporated
herein.
As of December 31, 2021, we had cash and cash equivalents totaling $24.1 million and available borrowing capacity of up to
$26.2 million under our existing Credit Agreement. Borrowings of $196.1 million and letters of credit of $4.3 million were
outstanding under the Credit Agreement at December 31, 2021. We finance our operations primarily through our existing cash
balances, cash collected from operations, bank borrowings and lease financing. We believe these sources are sufficient to fund
our operations for the foreseeable future. See 11-Long-Term Debt of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for
additional information.
As of December 31, 2021, we were in compliance with the terms of the Credit Agreement and will continuously monitor our
compliance with the covenants contained in the Credit Agreement.
The May 2021 Amendment to our Credit Agreement reduced the borrowing capacity on our revolving loan line of credit to
$150 million on December 31, 2021. Additionally, quarterly payments on the term loan increased to $3.75 million through
March 31, 2022, and to $5.0 million for each quarterly payment thereafter, with a final balloon payment at maturity.
Liquidity and Capital Resources Outlook
Future Sources of Cash
We expect our future sources of cash to include cash flow generated from our operating activities and borrowings under our
Credit Agreement. Our revolving credit facility is available for cash advances required for working capital and for letters of
credit to support our operations. Acquisitions, if any, are funded through available cash and borrowings under the Credit
Agreement.
Future Uses of Cash
We expect our future uses of cash will primarily be for repayment of debt, international expansion, purchases or manufacture of
field-testing equipment to support growth, additional investments in technology and software products and the replacement of
existing assets and equipment used in our operations. We often make purchases to support new sources of revenues, particularly
in our Services segment. In addition, we annually fund a certain amount of replacement equipment, including a portion of our
fleet vehicles. We historically spend approximately 2% to 3% of our total revenues on capital expenditures, excluding
acquisitions, and expect to fund these expenditures through a combination of cash and lease financing. Our cash capital
expenditures, excluding acquisitions, for each of the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were approximately 2.8% and
2.7% of revenues, respectively. However, the current COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic could negatively impact our cash flow
and our uses of cash, particularly if we experience a material reduction in our revenues due to ongoing actions taken to combat
the spread of the virus. We continue to take steps to reduce spending and preserve cash.
As a result of restrictions in our credit agreement, as amended, we do not expect to make any acquisitions in 2022 other than
small acquisitions with the banks’ approval. We acquired one company during the year ended December 31, 2021, for an
aggregate cash outlay of $0.4 million. In some cases, additional equipment will be needed to upgrade the capabilities of these
acquired companies. In addition, our future capital spending may increase as we pursue growth opportunities. Other
investments in infrastructure, training and software may also be required to match our growth, but we plan to continue using a
disciplined approach to building our business. In addition, we will use cash to fund our operating leases, finance leases, longterm debt repayments and various other obligations as they arise as noted within Note 11-Long-Term Debt and Note 17- Leases.
We also expect to use cash to support our working capital requirements for our operations, particularly in the event of further
growth and due to the impacts of seasonality on our business. Our future working capital requirements will depend on many
factors, including the rate of our revenue growth, our introduction of new solutions and enhancements to existing solutions and
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our expansion of sales and marketing and product development activities. To the extent that our cash and cash equivalents and
future cash flows from operating activities are insufficient to fund our future activities, we may need to raise additional funds
through bank credit arrangements, or public or private equity, or debt financings. We also may need to raise additional funds in
the event we determine in the future to effect one or more acquisitions of businesses, technologies or products that will
complement our existing operations. In the event additional funding is required, we may not be able to obtain bank credit
arrangements or effect an equity or debt financing on acceptable terms.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or
financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been
established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles requires that we make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We
have established policies and control procedures intended to ensure that estimation methods, including any judgments made as
part of such methods, are well-controlled, independently reviewed and applied consistently from period to period. The
accounting policies that we believe require more significant estimates and assumptions include: revenue recognition, long-lived
assets and goodwill. We base our estimates and assumptions on historical experience, known or expected trends and various
other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable. As future events and their effects cannot be determined with precision,
actual results could differ significantly from these estimates, which may cause our future results to be significantly affected.
We believe that the following critical accounting policies comprise the more significant estimates and assumptions used in the
preparation of our consolidated financial statements.
Revenue Recognition
The majority of our revenues are derived from providing services on a time and material basis and are short-term in nature. We
account for revenue in accordance with ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
Performance Obligations
A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer, and is the unit of
account in ASC Topic 606. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as
revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied. The majority of our contracts have a single performance obligation
as the promise to transfer the individual goods or services is not separately identifiable from other promises in the contracts and
is, therefore, not distinct. We provide highly integrated and bundled inspection services to its customers. Some of our contracts
have multiple performance obligations, most commonly due to the contract providing both goods and services. For contracts
with multiple performance obligations, we allocate the contract’s transaction price to each performance obligation using our
best estimate of the standalone selling price of each distinct good or service in the contract. The primary method used to
estimate standalone selling price is a relative selling price based on price lists.
Contract modifications are not routine in the performance of our contracts. Generally, when contracts are modified, the
modification is to account for changes in scope to the goods and services that are provided. In most instances, contract
modifications are for goods or services that are distinct, and, therefore, are accounted for as a separate contract.
Our performance obligations are satisfied over time as work progresses or at a point in time. The majority of our revenue
recognized over time as work progresses is related to our service deliverables, which includes providing testing, inspection and
mechanical services to our customers. Revenue is recognized over time based on time and material incurred to date which best
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portrays the transfer of control to the customer. We also utilizes an available practical expedient that provides for revenue to be
recognized in an amount that corresponds directly with the value to the customer of the entity’s performance completed to date.
Fixed fee arrangements are determined based on expected labor, material, and overhead to be consumed on fulfillment of such
services. Revenue is recognized on a cost-to-cost method tracked on an input basis.
The majority of our revenue recognized at a point in time is related to product sales when the customer obtains control of the
asset, which is generally upon shipment to the customer. Contract costs include labor, material and overhead.
We expect any significant remaining performance obligations to be satisfied within one year.
Contract Estimates
The majority of our revenues are short-term in nature. We have many Master Service Agreements (MSAs) that specify an
overall framework and terms of contract when the we and our customers agree upon services or products to be provided. The
actual contracting to provide services or furnish products are triggered by a work order, purchase order, or some similar
document issued pursuant to a MSA which sets forth the scope of services and/or identifies the products to be provided. From
time-to-time, we may enter into long-term contracts, which can range from several months to several years. Revenue on such
long-term contracts is recognized as work is performed based on total costs incurred to date in relation to the total estimated
costs for the performance of the contract at completion. This includes contract estimates of costs to be incurred for the
performance of the contract. Cost estimation is based upon the professional knowledge and experience of our project managers,
engineers and financial professionals. Factors that are considered in estimating the work to be completed include the
availability of materials, the effect of any delays in our project performance and the recoverability of any claims. Whenever
revisions of estimates, contract costs and/or contract values indicate that the contract costs will exceed estimated revenues, thus
creating a loss, a provision for the total estimated loss is recorded in that period.
Long-Lived Assets
We perform a review of long-lived assets (or asset groups) for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable. If an indication of impairment is present, we compare the estimated
undiscounted future cash flows to be generated by the asset (or asset group) to its carrying amount. If the undiscounted future
cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the asset (or asset group), we record an impairment loss equal to the excess of
the asset’s carrying amount over its fair value. We estimate fair value based on valuation techniques such as a discounted cash
flow analysis or a comparison to fair values of similar assets. As of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, we had $86.6
million and $92.7 million in net property, plant and equipment, respectively, and $59.4 million and $68.6 million in intangible
assets, net, respectively. See Note 9-Intangible Assets to the consolidated financial statements for the impairment charge
recorded in 2020.
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess purchase price of acquired businesses over the fair values attributed to underlying net tangible
assets and identifiable intangible assets. We test goodwill for impairment at a “reporting unit” level (which for the Company is
represented by (i) our Services segment, (ii) our Products and Systems segment, and (iii) the European component of our
International segment and (iv) the Brazilian component of our International segment). Our annual impairment test is conducted
on the first day of our fourth quarter, which is October 1. Goodwill is also tested for impairment whenever an event occurs or
circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount.
In testing for goodwill impairment, we have the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of
events or circumstances lead to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than
its carrying amount. If, after assessing the totality of events and circumstances, we conclude that it is not more likely than not
that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then performing a quantitative impairment test is not
necessary. If we conclude otherwise, we are required to perform a quantitative impairment test.
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As a result of our adopting ASU 2017-04, impairment will be recorded in the amount that fair value is less than carrying value,
as the ASU eliminated step two of the goodwill quantitative impairment process. We consider the income and market
approaches to estimating the fair value of our reporting units, which requires significant judgment in evaluation of economic
and industry trends, estimated future cash flows, discount rates and other factors. Sustained declines in our stock price and
related market capitalization could impact key assumptions in the overall estimated fair values of its reporting units and could
result in non-cash impairment charges that could be material to our consolidated balance sheet or results of operations.
During the first quarter of 2020, our market capitalization declined significantly compared to the fourth quarter of 2019. Over
the same period, the equity value of the Company’s peer group, and the overall U.S. stock market also declined significantly
amid market volatility. In addition, oil prices had dropped significantly. These declines were driven in large part by the
uncertainty surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic and other macroeconomic events such as the geopolitical tensions between
OPEC and Russia. Based on these factors, we concluded that multiple triggering events occurred and, accordingly, an interim
quantitative goodwill impairment test was performed as of the testing date for each reporting unit as of March 31, 2020
("testing date"). During the first quarter of 2020, the Company also performed an analysis to determine any impairment of longlived assets (see Note 9. Intangible Assets) based on the triggering events noted above.
Based upon the results of the interim quantitative goodwill impairment test during the first quarter of 2020, we recorded an
aggregate impairment charge of $77.1 million, which included $57.2 million in the services reporting unit within the Services
segment, and $19.3 million in the European reporting unit and $0.6 million in the Brazilian reporting unit, both within the
International segment.
The Company performed an annual quantitative impairment test as of October 31, 2021 noting no indicators of impairment in
any of the Company's reporting units. Also, as of December 31, 2021, there are no indicators of an impairment. See Note 8Goodwill to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.
Acquisitions
We allocate the purchase price of acquired businesses to their identifiable tangible assets and liabilities as well as identifiable
intangible assets, such as customer relationships, technology, non-compete agreements and trade names. Allocations are based
on estimated fair values of assets and liabilities, which reflects assumptions that would be made by typical market participants
if they were to buy or sell each asset on an individual asset basis. Certain estimates and judgments are required in the
application of the fair value techniques, including estimates of the respective acquisitions' future performance and related cash
flows, selection of a discount rate and economic lives, and use of Level 3 measurements as defined in Accounting Standards
Codification (ASC) 820 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosure. Deferred taxes are recorded for any differences between the
assigned values and tax bases of assets and liabilities. We typically engage third-party valuation experts to assist in determining
the fair values for both identifiable tangible and intangible assets. The judgments made in determining the estimated fair value
assigned to each class of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, as well as asset lives, could materially impact our results of
operations. See Note 7-Acquisitions to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
For information about recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 1-Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and
Practices to the consolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest Rate Sensitivity
Our investment portfolio primarily includes cash equivalents for which the market values are not significantly affected by
changes in interest rates. Our interest rate risk results primarily from our variable rate indebtedness under our credit facility,
which is influenced by movements in short-term rates. Borrowings under our $150 million revolving credit facility as well as
our $100.0 million senior secured term loan A facility are based on LIBOR, plus an additional margin based on our Funded
Debt Leverage Ratio. Based on the amount of our variable rate debt of $196.1 million at December 31, 2021, an increase in
interest rates by one hundred basis points from our current rate would increase annual interest expense by approximately
$2.0 million.
Foreign Currency Risk
We have foreign currency exposure related to our operations in foreign locations. This foreign currency exposure, particularly
the Euro, British Pound Sterling, Brazilian Real, Canadian Dollar and the Indian Rupee, arises primarily from the translation of
our foreign subsidiaries’ financial statements into U.S. Dollars. Gains and losses relating to nonfunctional currency transactions,
are reported in the Consolidated statements of income. For example, a portion of our annual sales and operating costs are
denominated in British Pound Sterling and we have exposure related to sales and operating costs increasing or decreasing based
on changes in currency exchange rates. If the U.S. Dollar increases in value against these foreign currencies, the value in
U.S. Dollars of the assets and liabilities originally recorded in these foreign currencies will decrease. Conversely, if the U.S.
Dollar decreases in value against these foreign currencies, the value in U.S. Dollars of the assets and liabilities originally
recorded in these foreign currencies will increase. Thus, increases and decreases in the value of the U.S. Dollar relative to these
foreign currencies have a direct impact on the value in U.S. Dollars of our foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities,
even if the value of these items has not changed in their original currency. Translation adjustments for these movements are
recorded as a separate component of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in Stockholder Equity. For the year ended
December 31, 2021, a 10% movement in the average U.S. Dollar exchange rates would cause a decrease in adjusted operating
income of approximately $0.3 million. We do not currently enter into forward exchange contracts to hedge exposures
denominated in foreign currencies. We may consider entering into hedging or forward exchange contracts in the future, as sales
in international currencies increase due to growth in our International segment.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
We do not have material exposure to market risk with respect to investments, as our investments consist primarily of highly
liquid investments purchased with a remaining maturity of three months or less. We do not use derivative financial instruments
for speculative or trading purposes; however, this does not preclude our adoption of specific hedging strategies in the future.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Mistras Group, Inc.:
Opinions on the Consolidated Financial Statements and Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Mistras Group, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of income (loss), comprehensive income (loss), equity, and
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively, the
consolidated financial statements). We also have audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2021 based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
Basis for Opinions
The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included
in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects.
Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks.
Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the
risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based
on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
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A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Critical Audit Matter
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or
complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate
opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
Valuation of goodwill for the services and European reporting units
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company tests goodwill for impairment annually on
October 1 or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value
of a reporting unit below its carrying amount. The Company considers the income and market approaches to estimate the fair
value of its reporting units. As of December 31, 2021, the Company had goodwill of $205.4 million, of which a portion related
to the services and European reporting units. There were no impairment charges recorded during the year ended December 31,
2021.
We identified the evaluation of goodwill impairment for the services and European reporting units as a critical audit matter.
Auditor judgment was required to evaluate the selection of discount rates and forecasted revenue growth rates, gross margins,
and selling, general, and administrative expense used in the income approach as they represented subjective determinations of
future market or economic conditions. Additionally, the audit effort associated with the evaluation of goodwill for impairment
for the services and European reporting units required specialized skills and knowledge.
The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested
the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls related to the Company’s goodwill impairment evaluation process,
including controls related to management’s selection of discount rates and forecasted revenue growth rates, gross margins, and
selling, general, and administrative expense. We evaluated the reasonableness of management’s forecasted revenue growth
rates, gross margins, and selling, general, and administrative expense by comparing the forecasts to historical revenue growth
rates, gross margins, and selling, general, and administrative expense and relevant industry reports. We evaluated the
Company’s ability to accurately estimate future revenue growth rates, gross margins, and selling, general, and administrative
expense by comparing the historical projected revenue growth rates, gross margins, and selling, general, and administrative
expense to actual results for the same period. In addition, we involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and
knowledge who assisted in:
•

evaluating the Company’s methodology used to estimate the discount rates
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•
evaluating the Company’s discount rates by comparing them against discount rate ranges that were independently
developed using publicly available market data for comparable entities
•
testing the estimate of fair values of the services and European reporting units by using the Company’s projected cash
flows as well as our independently developed discount rate ranges and comparing the results to the Company’s fair values.

/s/ KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013
Short Hills, New Jersey
March 14, 2022

53

Table of Contents
Mistras Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
December 31,
2021

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Deferred income taxes
Other assets
Total Assets

$

$

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt
Current portion of finance lease obligations
Income taxes payable
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current portion
Obligations under finance leases, net of current portion
Deferred income taxes
Other long-term liabilities
Total Liabilities

$

$

2020

24,110
109,511
12,686
15,031
161,338
86,578
59,381
205,439
2,174
47,285
562,195

$

12,870
83,863
20,162
3,765
755
121,415
182,403
9,752
8,385
39,328
361,283

$

$

$

25,760
107,628
13,134
16,066
162,588
92,681
68,642
206,008
2,069
51,325
583,313

14,240
78,500
10,678
3,765
2,664
109,847
209,538
11,115
8,236
47,358
386,094

Commitments and contingencies
Equity
Preferred stock, 10,000,000 shares authorized
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 200,000,000 shares authorized, 29,546,263 and 29,234,143
shares issued
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated Deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total Mistras Group, Inc. stockholders’ equity
Non-controlling interests
Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

$

—

—

295

292

238,687
(17,988)
(20,311)
200,683
229
200,912
562,195 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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234,638
(21,848)
(16,061)
197,021
198
197,219
583,313
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Mistras Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss)
(in thousands, except per share data)

For the year ended December 31,
2021

Revenue

$

Cost of revenue
Depreciation

2020

677,131

$

2019

592,571

$

748,586

457,013
22,971

391,855
22,185

509,489
21,800

197,147
161,334

178,531
157,157

217,297
168,621

Bad debt provision for troubled customers, net of recoveries

—

—

3,038

Impairment charges

—

106,062

—

Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses

Legal settlement and litigation charges (benefit), net

2,042

Pension withdrawal expense
Research and engineering
Depreciation and amortization
Acquisition-related expense, net
Income (loss) from operations
Interest expense

(220)

—

—

—

848

2,518

2,892

3,045

11,950

13,520

16,733

1,133

337

875

18,170
10,882

(101,217)
12,955

24,137
13,698

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes
Provision (benefit) for income taxes

7,288
3,395

(114,172)
(14,706)

10,439
4,359

Net income (loss)
Less: net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests, net of taxes

3,893
33

(99,466)
(5)

6,080
20

Net income (loss) attributable to Mistras Group, Inc.
Earnings (loss) per common share

$

3,860

$

(99,461) $

6,060

Basic

$

0.13

$

(3.41) $

0.21

Diluted

$

0.13

$

(3.41) $

0.21

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic

29,572

29,147

28,740

Diluted

30,130

29,147

29,046

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Mistras Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(in thousands)

For the year ended December 31,
2021

Net income (loss)

$

2020

3,893

$

2019

(99,466) $

6,080

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments

(4,252)

Comprehensive income (loss)
Less: net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests, net of taxes

Less: Foreign currency translation adjustments attributable to noncontrolling
interests
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Mistras Group, Inc.

(359)
33

5,227

6,275

(94,239)
(5)

12,355
20

(2)
$

(390) $

3
(94,237) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Mistras Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Equity
(in thousands)

Amount

Additional
paid-in
capital

Retained
earnings
(deficit)

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income (loss)

Total
Mistras Group,
Inc.
Stockholders’
Equity

$

$

$

$

Common Stock
Shares
Balance at December 31, 2018

—

6,060

—

6,060

20

6,080

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

—

—

—

—

6,272

6,272

3

6,275

Share-based payments

30

—

5,759

—

—

5,759

—

5,759

349

4

(3,202)

(3,198)

—

(3,198)

3

—

28,945

$

289

$

—

—

32

—

—

229,205

$ 77,613

Net loss

—

—

—

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

—

—

—

—

Share-based payments

—

—

5,930

289

3

Net settlement of restricted stock units
Balance at December 31, 2020

29,234

$

292

(497)
$

234,638

—

—

5,930

—

5,930

—

—

$ (21,848)

—

—

—

Share-based payments

—

—

5,421

—

312

3

(1,372)

—
$ (17,988)

$

(16,061)

(494)
$

—

$

198

(494)
$

197,219

3,860

33

3,893

(4,250)

(2)

(4,252)

—

5,421

—

5,421

—

(1,369)

—

(1,369)

(4,250)

$

197,021

—

(20,311)

$

200,683

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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286,022

5,227

—

238,687

$

3

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

$

200

5,224

3,860

295

$

5,224

—

$

285,822

32

(99,466)

—

29,546

$

—

—

271,074

(5)

—

Balance at December 31, 2021

(21,285)

32

177

(99,461)

Net income

Net settlement of restricted stock units

$

(99,461)

270,897

$

$ 71,553

—

Balance at December 31, 2019

(27,557)

$

226,616

—

Exercise of stock options

285

Total Equity

Net income

Net settlement on vesting of restricted stock units

28,563

Noncontrolling
Interest

229

$

200,912
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Mistras Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)
For the year ended December 31,
2021

2020

2019

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss)

$

3,893

$

(99,466)

$

6,080

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization

34,921

35,705

38,533

(13,409)

(3,599)

5,421

5,851

5,766

Impairment charges

—

106,062

—

Bad debt provision for troubled customers, net of recoveries

—

—

3,038

Foreign currency (gain) loss

417

3,010

Fair value adjustments to contingent consideration

949

337

511

Other

119

2,398

1,804

27,313

8,298

Deferred income taxes

87

Share-based compensation expense

(535)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions and dispositions
Accounts receivable

(3,979)

Inventories

278

Prepaid expenses and other assets

943

Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Income taxes payable

84

3,289

(1,139)

(1,020)

1,138

2,268

1,841

(5,042)

(1,917)

Net cash provided by operating activities

(302)

(1,288)

384

131

42,261

67,802

59,110

(18,161)

(15,396)

(22,047)

(1,115)

(376)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired

(440)

Proceeds from sale of equipment

1,165

Net cash used in investing activities

(873)

—

(4,228)

803

1,868

(18,551)

(14,969)

(25,280)

(4,060)

(4,095)

(4,545)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of finance lease obligations
Proceeds from borrowings of long-term debt

—

Repayment of long-term debt

2,284

(16,262)

983

(5,976)

(6,857)

Proceeds from revolver

89,000

35,750

32,000

Repayments of revolver

(89,065)

(68,050)

(61,700)

Payments of debt issuance costs

(550)

(1,497)

—

Payment of contingent consideration for business acquisitions

(938)

(2,091)

(852)

(1,370)

(494)

(3,198)

Taxes paid related to net share settlement of share-based awards
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options

—

Net cash used in financing activities

—

(23,245)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net change in cash and cash equivalents

32

(44,169)

(44,137)

(2,115)

2,080

(221)

(1,650)

10,744

(10,528)

Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of period

25,760

End of period

15,016

25,544

$

24,110

$

25,760

$

15,016

Interest, net

$

10,078

$

12,465

$

14,158

Income taxes, net

$

4,707

$

$

6,096

$

2,923

$

$

9,502

Supplemental disclosure of cash paid
(543)

Noncash investing and financing
Equipment acquired through finance lease obligations

2,849

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Mistras Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(tabular dollars in thousands, except per share data)
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Practices
Description of Business
Mistras Group, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) is a leading “OneSource” multinational provider of integrated technologyenabled asset protection solutions helping to maximize the safety and operational uptime for civilization's most critical
industrial and civil assets.
Backed by an innovative, data-driven asset protection portfolio, proprietary technologies, and decades-long legacy of industry
leadership, the Company helps clients with asset-intensive infrastructure in the oil and gas, aerospace and defense, industrials,
power generation and transmission (including alternative and renewable energy), other process industries and infrastructure,
research and engineering and other industries towards achieving and maintaining operational excellence. By supporting these
organizations that help fuel our vehicles and power our society; inspecting components that are trusted for commercial, defense,
and space craft; and building real-time monitoring equipment to enable safe travel across bridges, the Company helps the world
at large.
The Company enhances value for its clients by integrating asset protection throughout supply chains and centralizing integrity
data through a suite of Industrial IoT-connected digital software and monitoring solutions, including OneSuite, which serves as
an ecosystem platform, pulling together all of the Company’s software and data services capabilities, for the benefit of its
customers.
The Company's core capabilities also include non-destructive testing field inspections enhanced by advanced robotics,
laboratory quality control and assurance testing, sensing technologies and NDT equipment, asset and mechanical integrity
engineering services, and light mechanical maintenance and access services.
Recent Developments
The COVID-19 coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has continued to cause disruption and volatility in domestic and
international markets however conditions continued to improve throughout 2021 as compared to 2020. The Company's
businesses have been classified as non-healthcare critical infrastructure as defined by the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and
Prevention (CDC). Our facilities, and the Company's customers' facilities as well, have remained open with staffing
modifications and precautionary procedures taken as necessary.
Overall, the Company has taken actions to help ensure the health and safety of Company employees and those of its customers
and suppliers; maintain business continuity and financial strength and stability; and serve customers as they provide essential
products and services to the world.
The COVID-19 pandemic uncertainty, significant volatility in oil prices, and decreased traffic in the aerospace industry have
adversely affected the operations of the Company's customers, suppliers and contractors beginning in the first quarter of 2020,
and as a consequence, the Company's results of operations were adversely impacted. These negative factors continue to cause
volatility and uncertainty in the markets in which the Company operates, although the Company in 2021 has nevertheless begun
approaching pre-pandemic levels of activity in certain end markets, particularly oil and gas where crude oil prices have
exceeded pre-pandemic levels.
While the Company cannot fully assess the impact that the factors discussed above will have on its operations at this time, there
were certain impacts that the Company identified resulting in impairment charges in 2020. See Note 8-Goodwill, Note 9Intangible Assets and Note 17- Leases for additional information.
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The Company has eliminated substantially all of the temporary cost reduction initiatives undertaken in 2020, including reinstallment of the savings plan employer match and increasing wages back to pre-pandemic amounts.
The Company is currently unable to predict with certainty the overall impact that the factors discussed above and the effect of
the Russian-Ukrainian conflict may have on its business, results of operations or liquidity or in other ways which the Company
cannot yet determine. The Company will continue to monitor market conditions and respond accordingly. As of December 31,
2021, the cash balance was approximately $24.1 million.
Principles of Consolidation
The Company follows guidance on the consolidation of variable interest entities (VIEs) that requires companies to utilize a
qualitative approach to determine whether it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE. The process for identifying the primary
beneficiary of a VIE requires consideration of the factors that indicate a party has the power to direct the activities that most
significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance, including powers granted to the VIE’s program manager, powers contained
in the VIE governing board and, to a certain extent, a company’s economic interest in the VIE. The Company analyzes its joint
ventures and classifies them as either:

•

a VIE that must be consolidated because the Company is the primary beneficiary, or the joint venture is not a VIE and
the Company holds the majority voting interest with no significant participative rights available to the other partners; or

•

a VIE that does not require consolidation and is treated as an equity method investment because the Company is not the
primary beneficiary or the joint venture is not a VIE and the Company does not hold the majority voting interest.

As part of the above analysis, if it is determined that the Company has the power to direct the activities that most significantly
impact the joint venture’s economic performance, the Company considers whether or not it has the obligation to absorb losses or
rights to receive benefits of the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE.
The Company became the primary beneficiary in July 2020 of a VIE in which the Company has a 49% interest in a limited
partnership, and a 49% shareholder in the corporate general partner of the limited partnership. The Company consolidated the
financial statements of the VIE with the financial statements of the Company. As of and for the year ended December 31, 2021,
the VIE had immaterial assets and had approximately $2.1 million revenue. The Company is the primary sub-contractor of the
VIE.
The accompanying audited consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Mistras Group, Inc. as well as its whollyowned subsidiaries, majority-owned subsidiaries and consolidated VIE. For subsidiaries in which the Company’s ownership
interest is less than 100%, the non-controlling interests are reported in stockholders’ equity in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets. The non-controlling interests in net results, net of tax, is classified separately in the accompanying consolidated
statements of income (loss). All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The
results of operations of companies acquired are included from the date of acquisition.
Reclassifications
Certain amounts in prior periods have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. Such reclassifications did
not have a material effect on the Company's financial condition or results of operations as previously reported.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) requires that
the Company make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of financial statements. The Company bases its estimates and
assumptions on historical experience, known or expected trends and various other assumptions that it believes to be reasonable.
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As future events and their effects cannot be determined with precision, actual results could differ significantly from these
estimates, which may cause the Company’s future results to be significantly affected.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Credit Losses (formerly Allowance for Doubtful Accounts)
The Company maintains an allowance for credit losses on its accounts receivable balances, which represents its best estimate of
current expected credit losses over the contractual life of the accounts receivable. Beginning January 1, 2020, when evaluating
the adequacy of its allowance for credit losses each reporting period, the Company analyzes accounts receivable balances with
similar risk characteristics on a collective basis, considering factors such as the aging of receivable balances, payment terms
(primarily with 30 day terms), geographic location, historical loss experience, current information, and future expectations
(generally considered one year which is consistent with expected collectability of the Company's trade receivables).
The Company monitors and considers whether historical loss rates are consistent with expectation of supportable forwardlooking estimates for its trade receivables noting no current or future economic considerations that would require adjusting the
Company’s historical loss experience. Each reporting period, the Company reassesses whether any accounts receivable no
longer share similar risk characteristics and should instead be evaluated as part of another pool or on an individual basis.
Changes to the allowance for credit losses are adjusted through credit loss expense, which is presented within Selling, general
and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss).
Concentration of Credit Risk
For each of the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, no customer represented 10% or more of the Company's revenue.
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash
equivalents and accounts receivable. At times, cash deposits may exceed the limits insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation. The Company believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk or risk of nonperformance of financial
institutions.
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, as determined by using the first-in, first-out method, or
market. Work in process and finished goods inventory include material, direct labor, variable costs and overhead.
Purchased and Internal-Use Software
The Company capitalizes certain costs that are incurred to purchase or to create and implement internal-use software, which
includes software coding, installation and testing. Capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over three years, the
estimated useful life of the software.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is computed utilizing the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Amortization of leasehold improvements is computed utilizing
the straight-line method over the shorter of the remaining lease term or estimated useful life. Repairs and maintenance costs are
expensed as incurred.
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Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess purchase price of acquired businesses over the fair values attributed to underlying net tangible
assets and identifiable intangible assets. The Company tests goodwill for impairment at a “reporting unit” level (which for the
Company is represented by (i) our Services segment, (ii) our Products and Systems segment, and (iii) the European component
of our International segment and (iv) the Brazilian component of our International segment). Our annual impairment test is
conducted on the first day of our fourth quarter, which is October 1. Goodwill is also tested for impairment whenever an event
occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying
amount.
In testing for goodwill impairment, the Company has the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether the
existence of events or circumstances lead to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit
is less than its carrying amount. If, after assessing the totality of events and circumstances, the Company concludes that it is not
more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then performing a quantitative
impairment test is not necessary. If the Company concludes otherwise, the Company is required to perform a quantitative
impairment test.
If the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, this is an indicator that the goodwill assigned to that reporting
unit may be impaired. As a result of the Company adopting Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2017-04, IntangiblesGoodwill and Other (Topic 350), impairment will be recorded in the amount that fair value is less than carrying value, as the
ASU eliminated step two of the goodwill impairment process. The Company considers the income and market approaches to
estimating the fair value of our reporting units, which requires significant judgment in evaluation of economic and industry
trends, estimated future cash flows, discount rates and other factors.
See Note 8-Goodwill for additional information related to the Company's goodwill impairment test during 2021.
Impairment of Long-lived Assets
The Company reviews the recoverability of its long-lived assets (or asset groups) whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the long-lived asset (group) might not be recoverable. The assessment for potential
impairment is based primarily on the Company’s ability to recover the carrying value of its long-lived assets from expected
future undiscounted cash flows. If the total expected future undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the
assets, a loss is recognized for the difference between fair value (computed based upon the expected future discounted cash
flows) and the carrying value of the assets.
Acquisitions
The Company allocates the purchase price of acquired businesses to their identifiable tangible assets and liabilities as well as
identifiable intangible assets, such as customer relationships, technology, non-compete agreements and trade names. Certain
estimates and judgments are required in the application of the fair value techniques, including estimates of the respective
acquisition's future performance and related cash flows, selection of a discount rate and economic lives, and use of Level 3
measurements as defined in ASC No. 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosure. Deferred taxes are recorded for any
differences between the assigned values and tax bases of assets and liabilities.
Research and Engineering
Research and product development costs are expensed as incurred.
Advertising, Promotions and Marketing
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The costs for advertising, promotion and marketing programs are expensed as incurred and are included in selling, general and
administrative expenses. Advertising expense was approximately $1.0 million, $0.8 million and $2.1 million for the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and other financial current assets and
liabilities approximate fair value based on the short-term nature of the items.
Foreign Currency Translation
The financial position and results of operations of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are measured using their functional
currencies, which are their local currencies. Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into the U.S. Dollar at the
exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate during the
period. Translation gains and losses are reported as a component of other comprehensive income (loss) for the period and
included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within stockholders’ equity.
Foreign currency (gains) and losses arising from transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are
included in net income, reported in selling, general and administrative expenses, and were approximately $0.4 million, $3.1
million, and $(0.5) million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Self-Insurance
The Company is self-insured for certain losses relating to workers’ compensation and health benefit claims. The Company
maintains third-party excess insurance coverage for all workers' compensation and health benefit claims in excess of
approximately $0.3 million per occurrence to reduce its exposure from such claims. Self-insured losses are accrued when it is
probable that an uninsured claim has been incurred but not reported and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated at
the balance sheet date.
Share-based Compensation
The value of services received from employees and directors in exchange for an award of an equity instrument is measured
based on the grant-date fair value of the award. Such value is recognized as a non-cash expense on a straight-line basis over the
minimum period the individual provides services, which is typically the vesting period of the award with the exception of
awards with graded vesting that contain an internal performance measure where each tranche is recognized on a straight-line
basis over its vesting period subject to the probability of meeting the performance requirements and adjusted for the number of
shares expected to be earned. Awards to certain employees eligible for retirement prior to the award becoming fully vested are
amortized to expense over the period through the date that the employee first becomes eligible to retire and is no longer
required to provide service to earn the award. As share-based compensation expense is based on awards ultimately expected to
vest, the amount of expense is reduced for estimated forfeitures. The cost of these awards is recorded in selling, general and
administrative expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of income.
Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities at enacted
income tax rates for the temporary differences between the financial reporting bases and the tax bases of our assets and
liabilities. Any effects of changes in income tax rates or tax laws are included in the provision for income taxes in the period of
enactment. Our net deferred tax assets primarily consist of net operating loss carry forwards, or NOLs. A valuation allowance is
provided if it is more likely than not that some or all of a deferred income tax asset will not be realized. A current tax liability or
asset is recognized for the estimated taxes payable or refundable on tax returns for the current and prior years.
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We recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be
sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in
the financial statements from such a position are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of
being realized upon ultimate resolution.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
On January 1, 2021, the Company adopted new guidance to simplify the accounting for income taxes by, among other things,
removing certain exceptions related to intra-period tax allocations, interim calculations and the recognition of deferred tax
liabilities for outside basis differences. The guidance did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial
statements.
In March 2020 and updated in January 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04 and 2021-01, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848):
Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting.” The amendments provide optional guidance for a
limited period of time to ease the potential burden in accounting for (or recognizing the effects of) reference rate reform on
financial reporting. The guidance provides optional expedients and exceptions for applying U.S. GAAP to contract
modifications and hedging relationships, subject to meeting certain criteria, that reference LIBOR or another rate that is
expected to be discontinued. The amendments in ASU 2020-04 are effective for all entities as of March 12, 2020 through
December 31, 2022. The Company is currently evaluating applicable contracts and the available expedients provided by the
new guidance.
2. Revenue
The Company derives the majority of its revenue by providing services on a time and material basis and are short-term in
nature. The Company accounts for revenue in accordance with ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
Performance Obligations
The Company provides highly integrated and bundled inspection services to its customers. The majority of the Company's
contracts have a single performance obligation as the promise to transfer the individual goods or services is not separately
identifiable from other promises in the contracts and is, therefore, not distinct. For contracts with multiple performance
obligations, the Company allocates the contract’s transaction price to each performance obligation using the Company's best
estimate of the standalone selling price of each distinct good or service in the contract. The primary method used to estimate
standalone selling price is a relative selling price based on price lists.
Contract modifications are not routine in the performance of the Company's contracts. Generally, when contracts are modified,
the modification is to account for changes in scope to the goods and services that are provided. In most instances, contract
modifications are for goods or services that are distinct, and, therefore, are accounted for as a separate contract.
The Company's performance obligations are satisfied over time as work progresses or at a point in time. The majority of the
Company's revenue is recognized over time as work progresses for the Company's service deliverables, which includes
providing testing, inspection and mechanical services to our customers. Revenue is recognized over time, based on time and
material incurred to date which best portrays the transfer of control to the customer. The Company also utilizes an available
practical expedient that provides for revenue to be recognized in an amount that corresponds directly with the value to the
customer of the entity’s performance completed to date. Fixed fee arrangements are determined based on expected labor,
material, and overhead to be consumed on fulfillment of such services. For these arrangements, revenue is recognized on a costto-cost method tracked on an input basis.
The majority of our revenue recognized at a point in time is related to product sales when the customer obtains control of the
asset, which is generally upon shipment to the customer. Contract costs include labor, material and overhead.
The Company expects any significant remaining performance obligations to be satisfied within one year.
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Contract Estimates
The majority of the Company's customer contracts are short-term in nature. The Company enters into master service
agreements (MSAs) with customers that specify an overall framework and contract terms. The actual contracting to provide
services or furnish products are triggered by a work order, purchase order, or some similar document issued pursuant to a MSA
which sets forth the scope of services and/or identifies the products to be provided. From time-to-time, the Company may enter
into longer-term contracts, which can range from several months to several years. Revenue on certain contracts is recognized as
work is performed based on total costs incurred to date in relation to the total estimated costs for the performance of the
contract at completion. This includes contract estimates of costs to be incurred for the performance of the contract. Cost
estimation is based upon the professional knowledge and experience of the Company's project managers, engineers and
financial professionals. Factors that are considered in estimating the work to be completed include the availability of materials,
the effect of any delays in the Company's project performance and the recoverability of any claims. Whenever revisions of
estimates, contract costs and/or contract values indicate that the contract costs will exceed estimated revenues, thus creating a
loss, a provision for the total estimated loss is recorded in that period.
Revenue by Category
The following series of tables present the Company's disaggregated revenue:
Revenue by industry was as follows:
Year ended December 31, 2021

Oil & Gas
Aerospace & Defense

Services

$

330,880
51,593

Products &
Systems

International

$

35,232
16,513

$

808
286

Corp/Elim

$

Total

—
—

$
$

366,920
68,392

Industrials

41,873

24,000

1,842

—

$

67,715

Power Generation and Transmission

39,966

9,927

2,853

—

$

52,746

Other Process Industries

38,742

12,593
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—

$

51,399

Infrastructure, Research & Engineering

16,809

11,496

3,985

—

$

32,290

Petrochemical

19,378

227

—

—

$

19,605

Other

16,146

7,257

3,993

(9,332) $

18,064

(9,332) $

677,131

Total

$

555,387

Year ended December 31, 2020

Oil & Gas

$

Services

$

117,245

$

International

279,723 $

39,383 $

13,831

$

Products &
Systems

377 $

Corp/Elim

Total

—

$

319,483

Aerospace & Defense

50,813

18,166

1,292

—

$

70,271

Industrials

44,919

19,657

1,852

—

$

66,428

Power Generation and Transmission

30,005

7,559

2,323

—

$

39,887

Other Process Industries

24,671

10,029

171

—

$

34,871

Infrastructure, Research & Engineering

17,070

10,353

6,364

—

$

33,787

Petrochemical

18,882

345

53

Other

10,081

2,064

4,017

Total

$

476,164 $
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107,556 $

16,449 $

—

19,280

(7,598) $

8,564

(7,598) $

592,571
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Year ended December 31, 2019

Oil & Gas

Services

43,855 $

—

$

409,441

41,224

1,237

—

$

93,851

Industrials

64,622

21,405

3,187

—

$

89,214

Power Generation and Transmission

30,300

10,289

2,726

—

$

43,315

Other Process Industries

28,495

10,196

418

—

$

39,109

Infrastructure, Research & Engineering

14,269

9,520

9,316

—

$

33,105

Petrochemical

25,985

592

—

—

26,577

Other

15,239

7,190

943

(9,398) $

13,974

144,271 $

18,583 $

(9,398) $

748,586

595,130 $

756 $

Total

51,390

$

364,830 $

Corp/Elim

Aerospace & Defense

Total

$

Products &
Systems

International

Revenue per key geographic location was as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2021

United States

Services

$

Other Americas

Products &
Systems

International

472,125 $

912 $

6,469 $

Corp/Elim

(4,284) $

Total

475,222

80,013

5,003

395

(1,768)

83,643

Europe

1,841

108,411

2,174

(2,812)

109,614

Asia-Pacific

1,408

2,919

4,793

(468)

8,652

555,387 $

117,245 $

Total

$

Year ended December 31, 2020

United States

Services

$

Other Americas

Products &
Systems

International

406,437 $

911

13,831 $

$

7,551 $

(9,332) $
Corp/Elim

677,131
Total

(3,410) $

411,489

68,150

4,581

550

(446)

72,835

Europe

904

99,953

3,154

(3,470)

100,541

Asia-Pacific

673

2,111

5,194

(272)

7,706

476,164 $

107,556 $

Total

$

Year ended December 31, 2019

United States

Services

$

Other Americas
Europe
Asia-Pacific
Total

$

International

487,408 $

631 $

16,449 $
Products &
Systems

(7,598) $
Corp/Elim

592,571
Total

12,011 $

(4,918) $

495,132

104,081

7,659

407

(407)

111,740

2,342

127,581

1,940

(3,978)

127,885

1,299

8,400

595,130 $

144,271 $

4,225
18,583 $

(95)

13,829

(9,398) $

748,586

Contract Balances
The timing of revenue recognition, billings and cash collections results in billed accounts receivable, unbilled receivables
(contract assets), and customer advances and deposits (contract liabilities) on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Amounts are
generally billed as work progresses in accordance with agreed-upon contractual terms, generally at periodic intervals (e.g.,
weekly, bi-weekly or monthly). Generally, billing occurs subsequent to revenue recognition, resulting in contract assets.
However, the Company sometimes receives advances or deposits from its customers before revenue is recognized, resulting in
contract liabilities. These assets and liabilities are aggregated on an individual contract basis and reported on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets at the end of each reporting period within accounts receivable, net or accrued expenses and other current
liabilities.
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Revenue recognized for 2021 and 2020, that was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the year was $4.6
million and $4.6 million, respectively. Changes in the contract asset and liability balances during the years ended December 31,
2021 and 2020, were not impacted by any other factors. The Company applies the practical expedient to expense incremental
costs incurred related to obtaining a contract when the asset that the Company otherwise would have recognized is one year or
less.
3. Earnings per Share
Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the sum of (1) the
weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period, and (2) the dilutive effect of assumed
conversion of equity awards using the treasury stock method. With respect to the number of weighted average shares
outstanding (denominator), diluted shares reflects: (i) the exercise of options to acquire common stock to the extent that the
options’ exercise prices are less than the average market price of common shares during the period and (ii) the pro forma
vesting of restricted stock units.
The following table sets forth the computations of basic and diluted earnings per share:
For the year ended December 31,
2021

Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Numerator:
Net income (loss) attributable to Mistras Group, Inc.
Denominator
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Basic earnings (loss) per share
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Numerator:
Net income (loss) attributable to Mistras Group, Inc.
Denominator
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Dilutive effect of stock options outstanding
Dilutive effect of restricted stock units outstanding
Diluted earnings (loss) per share

2020

2019

$

3,860 $

(99,461) $

6,060

$

29,572
0.13 $

29,147
(3.41) $

28,740
0.21

$

3,860 $

(99,461) $

6,060

$

29,572
558
—
30,130
0.13 $

29,147
—
—
29,147
(3.41) $

28,740
98
208
29,046
0.21

The following potential common shares were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share, as the effect would
have been anti-dilutive:
For the year ended December 31,
2021

Potential common stock attributable to restricted stock units (RSUs) and
performance stock units (PSUs) outstanding (1)
Potential common stock attributable to stock options outstanding
Total
(1)

2020

2019

109

790

42

5

5

5

114

795

47

For the year ended December 31, 2020, 254 shares related to RSUs/PSUs, were excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS
due to the net loss for the period.
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4. Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable consist of the following:
December 31,

Trade accounts receivable

$

Allowance for credit losses

2021

2020

112,739 $

115,841

(3,228)

Accounts receivable, net

$

109,511 $

(8,213)
107,628

The Company had $11.9 million and $11.9 million of unbilled revenues accrued as of December 31, 2021 and December 31,
2020, respectively, which is included within the trade accounts receivable balance above. Unbilled revenue is generally billed in
the subsequent quarter to their revenue recognition. The Company considers unbilled receivables as short-term in nature as they
are normally converted to trade receivables within 90 days, thus future changes in economic conditions will not have a
significant effect on the credit loss estimate.
The Company was contracted to perform inspections of welds on various pipeline projects in Texas for a customer. As of
December 31, 2019, approximately $1.4 million of past due receivables were outstanding from this customer. The Company
received notice from the customer in December 2019, alleging that the work performed was not in compliance with the
contract. The Company filed a lawsuit to recover the $1.4 million and other amounts due to the Company and the customer
filed a counterclaim, alleging breach of contract and seeking its damages. The Company recorded a full reserve for this
receivable during 2019 and the status of this situation has not changed since 2019. See Note 18-Commitments and
Contingencies for additional details.
During the fourth quarter of 2021, the Company wrote off approximately $5 million of past due receivables related to work
performed during 2019. The Company recorded a full reserve for these receivables in the prior years.
5. Inventories
Inventories consist of the following:
December 31,
2021

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods
Consumable supplies
Inventories

$

$

68

4,794 $
551
4,621
2,720
12,686 $

2020

5,006
770
4,640
2,718
13,134
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6. Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment consist of the following:
December 31,
Useful Life

2021

2020

(Years)

Land

$

Building and improvements

2,762 $

2,724

30-40

24,787

25,731

Office furniture and equipment

5-8

16,620

16,980

Machinery and equipment

5-7

250,166

237,253

294,335

282,688

(207,757)

(190,007)

Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property, plant and equipment, net

$

86,578 $

92,681

Depreciation expense was approximately $25.2 million, $24.7 million, and $24.2 million for the years ended December 31,
2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
7. Acquisitions
Acquisitions
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company completed one acquisition for a small NDT services company in
Canada. The Company acquired 100% of the common stock in exchange for approximately $0.4 million during the first quarter
of 2021. The results of the acquisition's operations are included within the Services segment and are not material to the
consolidated financial statements. The Company completed its acquisition accounting for this transaction in accordance with
the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations during the year ended December 31, 2021.
During September 2019, the Company completed one acquisition that provides pipeline integrity management software and
services to energy transportation companies. The Company acquired all the equity interest of the acquired entity in exchange
for aggregate consideration of $4.4 million in cash, contingent consideration of up to $4.3 million to be earned based upon the
acquired business achieving specific performance metrics over the initial three years of operations from the acquisition date and
working capital adjustments. The goodwill recorded is primarily attributable to expected synergies and is generally deductible
for tax purposes. The Company accounted for this transaction in accordance with the acquisition method of accounting for
business combinations.
The following table summarizes the final fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed and the Company's allocation
of purchase price:
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2019

Cash paid

$

Working capital adjustments

$

Fair value of contingent consideration

$

1,342

$

5,570

Current net assets

$

142

Other assets

$

34

Property, plant and equipment

$

65

Intangibles

$

3,594

Goodwill

$

1,735

$

5,570

Total consideration

Net assets acquired

4,380
(152)

Assets and liabilities of the acquired businesses were included in the consolidated balance sheet based on their respective
estimated fair value on the date of acquisition as determined in a purchase price allocation, using available information and
making assumptions management believes are reasonable. The amortization periods for the intangible assets acquired range
from one year to eighteen years.
Acquisition-Related expense
In the course of its acquisition activities, the Company incurs costs in connection with due diligence, professional fees, and
other expenses. Additionally, the Company adjusts the fair value of acquisition-related contingent consideration liabilities on a
quarterly basis. These amounts are recorded as acquisition-related expense, net, on the consolidated statements of income and
were as follows for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:
For the year ended December 31,
2021

Due diligence, professional fees and other transaction costs

2019

$

5 $
1,128

337

511

$

1,133 $

337 $

875

Adjustments to fair value of contingent consideration liabilities

Acquisition-related expense, net

2020

— $

364

The Company’s contingent consideration liabilities are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets in accrued expenses and
other current liabilities and other long-term liabilities.
8. Goodwill
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment is shown below:
Services

Balance at December 31, 2019

$

247,215

Impairment charges

Products and
Systems

International

$

(57,227)

35,195

$

(19,862)

—

Total

$

—

282,410
(77,089)

Adjustments to preliminary purchase price allocations

200

—

—

200

Foreign currency translation

(76)

563

—

487

Balance at December 31, 2020

$

190,112

Impairment charges

—

Adjustments to preliminary purchase price allocations

280

Foreign currency translation

264

Balance at December 31, 2021

$

$

190,656

70

15,896

$

$

206,008

—

—

—

—

280

—

(849)

(1,113)
$

—

14,783

$

—

—

$

205,439
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The Company reviews goodwill for impairment on a reporting unit basis on October 1 of each year and whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of goodwill may not be recoverable.
During the first quarter of 2020, the Company’s market capitalization declined significantly compared to the fourth quarter of
2019. Over the same period, the equity value of the Company’s peer group, and the overall U.S. stock market also declined
significantly amid market volatility. In addition, oil prices had dropped significantly. These declines were driven in large part by
the uncertainty surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic and other macroeconomic events such as the geopolitical tensions
between OPEC and Russia. Based on these factors, the Company concluded that multiple triggering events occurred and,
accordingly, an interim quantitative goodwill impairment test was performed as of the testing date for each reporting unit as of
March 31, 2020 ("testing date"). During the first quarter of 2020, the Company also performed an analysis to determine any
impairment of long-lived assets (see Note 9-Intangible Assets) based on the triggering events noted above.
Based upon the results of the interim quantitative goodwill impairment test during the first quarter of 2020, the Company
recorded an aggregate impairment charge of $77.1 million, which consisted of $57.2 million in the services reporting unit
within the Services segment, and $19.3 million in the European reporting unit and $0.6 million in the Brazilian reporting unit,
both within the International segment. The impairment was calculated based on the difference between the estimated fair value
and the carrying value of the reporting units and are included in Impairment charges on the Consolidated Statements of Income
(Loss) for the three months ended March 31, 2020. The Company performed a quantitative annual impairment test as of
October 1, 2021 and the Company did not identify any changes in circumstances that would indicate the carrying value of
goodwill may not be recoverable. Additionally, through December 31, 2021, the Company did not identify any changes in
circumstances that would indicate the carrying value of goodwill may not be recoverable. Significant adverse changes in future
periods could negatively affect the Company's key assumptions and may result in future goodwill impairment charges which
could be material.
The Company's cumulative goodwill impairment as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 was $100.2 million, of
which $57.2 million related to the Services segment, $29.8 million related to the International segment and $13.2 million
related to the Products and Systems segment.

9. Intangible Assets
The gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization of intangible assets were as follows:
December 31,
2021

Useful Life
(Years)

Customer
relationship
s
Software/Te
chnology
Covenants
not to
compete
Other
Total

Gross
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

2020

Net
Carrying
Amount

Gross
Amount

$112,109 $

3-15

52,265

(26,415)

25,850

77,326

(23,519)

(25,874)

27,933

2-5

12,623

(12,390)

233

12,833

(12,162)

(212)

459

10,574

(9,066)

1,508

11,120

(8,614)

(502)

2,004

$187,571 $ (128,190) $ 59,381 $ 217,380
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$

(75,649)

Impairment

Net
Carrying
Amount

5-18

2-12

(80,319) $ 31,790 $ 116,101

Accumulated
Amortization

(2,206) $ 38,246

$ (119,944) $ (28,794) $ 68,642
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As described in Note 8- Goodwill, during the first quarter of 2020, there were negative market indicators that were determined
to be triggering events indicating a potential impairment of certain long-lived assets within asset groups in the Services,
International, and Products and Systems segments, as well as Corporate. The asset groups are groupings of assets and liabilities
determined at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and
liabilities. Recoverability testing indicated that certain intangible assets and right of use assets (See Note 17-Leases) were
potentially impaired. For asset groups that required an impairment measurement, similar to the valuations performed to
determine the goodwill impairment, the Company used income and market approaches to estimate the fair value of the longlived assets, which requires significant judgment in evaluation of the useful lives of the assets, economic and industry trends,
estimated future cash flows, discount rates, and other factors. The result of the analysis was an aggregate impairment charge of
$28.8 million, which consisted of $25.9 million to software/technology, $2.2 million to customer relationships, $0.5 million to
other intangibles and $0.2 million to covenants not to compete, all of which are in the Services reporting unit within the
Services segment and are included in Impairment charges on the consolidated statements of income (loss) for the year ended
December 31, 2020.
Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, was approximately $9.7 million, $11.0 million,
and $14.3 million, respectively, including amortization of software/technology for these periods of $3.0 million, $3.6 million,
and $5.6 million, respectively.
Amortization expense in each of the five years and thereafter subsequent to December 31, 2021 related to the Company’s
intangible assets is expected to be as follows:
Expected
Amortization
Expense

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
Total

$

9,626
8,786
7,645
5,627
6,189
21,508
59,381

$

10. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following:
December 31,
2021

Accrued salaries, wages and related employee benefits
Contingent consideration
Accrued workers' compensation and health benefits
Deferred revenues
Right-of-use liability - Operating
Pension accrual
Other accrued expenses
Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities

$

$

72

33,816
1,830
3,994
6,202
10,040
2,519
25,462
83,863

2020

$

$

30,214
1,300
3,948
6,538
10,348
2,519
23,633
78,500
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11. Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt consisted of the following:
December 31,
2021

Senior credit facility
$
Senior secured term loan, net of unamortized debt issuance costs of $0.2 million and $0.3 million
Other
Total debt
Less: Current portion
Long-term debt, net of current portion
$

2020

119,500 $ 120,312
76,673
89,745
6,392
10,159
202,565
220,216
(20,162)
(10,678)
182,403 $ 209,538

Senior Credit Facility
The Company has a credit agreement with its banking group (as amended, the “Credit Agreement”) which provides the
Company with a revolving line of credit and a $100 million senior secured term loan A facility. Pursuant to the Amendment
described below, the revolving line of credit was reduced from $155 million to $150 million on December 31, 2021. Both the
revolving line of credit and the term loan A facility under the Credit Agreement have a maturity date of December 12, 2023.
On May 19, 2021, the Company entered into the Fifth Amendment (the “Amendment”) to the Credit Agreement. The Amendment
made the following changes:
• Removed the LIBOR floor of 1.0%, which provided that if LIBOR is below 1.0%, the interest rate will be calculated as
if LIBOR is 1.0%. Now the actual LIBOR rate is used to calculate interest, even if LIBOR is below 1.0%. The LIBOR
margins and base rate margins are unchanged but are based upon the new Total Consolidated Debt Leverage Ratio
(defined below); previously the margin was based upon the Funded Debt Leverage Ratio.
•

Requires the Company to maintain a Total Consolidated Debt Leverage Ratio not to exceed 4.00 to 1.0 as of the end of
each quarter through the quarter ending March 31, 2022, and for each quarter thereafter the ratio shall not exceed 3.50
to 1.0.
◦ Total Consolidated Debt Leverage Ratio means the ratio of (a) Total Consolidated Debt to (b) EBITDA (as
defined in the Credit Agreement) for the trailing four consecutive quarters.
◦ Total Consolidated Debt means all indebtedness (including subordinated debt) of the Company on a
consolidated basis (with a limited exception).

•

If the Company incurs certain subordinated debt or other permitted indebtedness, then the Company must maintain a
Total Consolidated Debt Leverage Ratio not to exceed 4.50 to 1.0 and maintain a ratio of Senior Debt to EBITDA not
to exceed 3.50 to 1.00, with Senior Debt being Total Consolidated Debt, less permitted subordinated debt.

•

The Company must repay loans under the Credit Agreement with the net proceeds from certain dispositions of assets
under certain circumstances and limits investments in non-guarantor subsidiaries under certain circumstances if the
Company’s Total Consolidated Leverage Ratio is above 3.5 to 1.0.

•

Quarterly payments on the term loan increased to $3.75 million through March 31, 2022, then to $5.0 million for each
quarterly payment thereafter and a final balloon payment at maturity.

As a result of the borrowing capacity reduction on the revolving loan line of credit, the Company expensed $0.1 million in
unamortized capitalized debt issuance costs during the year ended December 31, 2021, which was included in selling, general
and administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss). The Company incurred $0.5 million in financing
costs for the Amendment, of which $0.2 million of third party costs were expensed and included in selling, general and
administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss).
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Under the Credit Agreement, the Company may borrow up to $100 million in non-U.S. Dollar currencies and use up to
$20 million of the credit limit for the issuance of letters of credit.
As of December 31, 2021, the Company had borrowings of $196.1 million and a total of $4.3 million of letters of credit
outstanding under the Credit Agreement. The Company has capitalized costs associated with debt modifications of $0.9 million
as of December 31, 2021, which is included in Other Assets on the consolidated balance sheet.
As of December 31, 2021, the Company was in compliance with the terms of the Credit Agreement. The Company
continuously monitors its compliance with the covenants contained in its Credit Agreement. The Company believes that it is
probable, based on the amended covenants, that the Company will be able to comply with the financial covenants in the Credit
Agreement as modified by the Amendment and that sufficient credit remains available under the Credit Agreement to meet the
Company's liquidity needs. However, due to the uncertainties being caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, the significant
volatility in oil prices, and volatility in the aerospace production, such matters cannot be predicted with certainty.
Other Debt
The Company's other debt includes bank financing provided at the local subsidiary level used to support working capital
requirements and fund capital expenditures. At December 31, 2021, there was an aggregate of approximately $6.4 million
outstanding, payable at various times through 2030. Monthly payments range from $1 thousand to $18 thousand and interest
rates range from 0.4% to 3.5%.
Scheduled principal payments due under all borrowing agreements in each of the five years and thereafter subsequent to
December 31, 2021 are as follows:
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
Total

12.

$

$

20,180
178,862
1,184
726
386
1,227
202,565

Fair Value Measurements

The Company performs fair value measurements in accordance with the guidance provided by ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures. ASC 820 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. It also establishes a three level
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. The three levels of the hierarchy are defined as follows:
Level 1 — Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has
the ability to access at the measurement date.
Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, including quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in inactive markets, inputs other than quoted prices
that are observable for the asset or liability and inputs derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data.
Level 3 — Unobservable inputs reflecting the Company’s own assumptions about inputs that market participants
would use in pricing the asset or liability based on the best information available.
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Financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis
The fair value of contingent consideration liabilities was estimated using a discounted cash flow technique with significant
inputs that are not observable in the market and thus represents a Level 3 fair value measurement as defined in ASC 820. The
significant inputs in the Level 3 measurement not supported by market activity include the probability assessments of expected
future cash flows related to the acquisitions, appropriately discounted considering the uncertainties associated with the
obligation, and as calculated in accordance with the terms of the applicable acquisition agreements.
The following table represents the changes in the fair value of Level 3 contingent consideration:
December 31,
2021

Balance at the beginning of the period:
Acquisitions

$

2020

1,640 $
—

Payments

3,216
200

(938)

Accretion of liability
Revaluation

(2,091)

—

35

1,128

302

Foreign currency translation

—

Balance at the end of the period:

$

(22)

1,830 $

1,640

Financial instruments not measured at fair value on a recurring basis
The Company has evaluated current market conditions and borrower credit quality and has determined that the carrying value
of its long-term debt approximates fair value. The fair value of the Company’s notes payable and finance lease obligations
approximates their carrying amounts based on anticipated interest rates which management believes would currently be
available to the Company for similar issuances of debt.
13. Share-Based Compensation
The Company has share-based incentive awards outstanding to its eligible employees and non-employee directors under two
equity incentive plans: (i) the 2009 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the "2009 Plan") and (ii) the 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan
(the "2016 Plan"). No further awards may be granted under the 2009 Plan, although one stock option award granted under the
2009 Plan remains outstanding in accordance with its terms. Awards granted under the 2016 Plan may be in the form of stock
options, restricted stock units and other forms of share-based incentives, including performance restricted stock units, stock
appreciation rights and deferred stock rights. At the annual shareholders meeting on May 19, 2020, the Company’s shareholders
approved an amendment to increase the total number of shares that may be issued under the 2016 Plan by 2 million, for a total
of 3.7 million shares that may be issued under the 2016 Plan, of which 1,176,888 shares were available for future grants as of
December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 2021, there was an aggregate of approximately 5,000 stock options outstanding under
the 2009 Plan.
Stock Options
For each of the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, the Company did not recognize any share-based compensation
expense related to the stock option award, as the one outstanding stock option award was already fully vested. No unrecognized
compensation costs remained related to the stock option awards. Cash proceeds from, and the intrinsic value of, stock options
exercised during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were as follows (in thousands):
For the year ended December 31,
2021

Cash proceeds from options exercised
Aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised

$
$

75

2019 1

2020

— $
— $

—
—

$
$

32
4,530
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During 2019, 2.1 million stock options were net exercised, wherein the option holders surrendered a portion of the underlying
stock option awards to pay the exercise price and required minimum tax withholding.
The following table sets forth a summary of the stock option activity, weighted-average exercise prices and options outstanding
as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 is as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts and years):
For the years ended December 31,
2021

2020

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Common
Stock
Options

Outstanding at beginning of
year:
Granted

2019

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Common Stock
Options

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Common
Stock
Options

5 $

22.35

5

$

22.35

2,105

$

13.47

— $

—

—

$

—

—

$

—

Exercised

— $

—

—

$

—

(2,093) $

13.45

Expired or forfeited

— $

—

—

$

—

(7) $

10.00

5 $

22.35

5

$

22.35

Outstanding at end of year:

5

$

22.35

December 31, 2021

Total
Options
Outstanding

Exercise Price

22.35
Aggregate Intrinsic Value

Options Outstanding
Weighted
Weighted
Average
Average
Remaining
Exercise
Life (Years)
Price

5
$

0.2 $

Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average
Number
Exercise
Exercisable
Price

22.35

—

5
$

$

22.35

—

Restricted Stock Unit Awards
Restricted Stock Units generally vest ratably on each of the first four anniversary dates of issuance. The Company recognized
approximately $3.5 million, $4.4 million and $4.0 million of share-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2021,
2020 and 2019, respectively, related to restricted stock unit awards. As of December 31, 2021, there were approximately $5.8
million of unrecognized compensation costs, net of estimated forfeitures, related to restricted stock unit awards, which are
expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted average period of 2.5 years. Upon vesting, restricted stock units are
generally net share-settled to cover the required minimum withholding tax and the remaining amount is converted into an
equivalent number of shares of common stock.

A summary of the vesting activity of restricted stock unit awards, with the respective fair value of the awards, is as follows:
For the year ended December 31,
2021

Restricted stock awards vested

2020

317

Fair value of awards vested

$

2019

208

3,434 $

837

172
$

2,495

A summary of the fully-vested common stock the Company issued to its six non-employee directors, in connection with its nonemployee director compensation plan, is as follows:
For the year ended December 31,
2021

Awards issued
Grant date fair value of awards issued

$

76

2020

51
525 $

2019

68
326

$

30
450
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A summary of the Company's outstanding, non-vested restricted share units is as follows:
For the year ended December 31,
2021

Units

Outstanding at beginning of
period:
Granted

2020

Weighted
Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value

1,076 $

7.41

2019

Weighted
Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value

Units

559

$

782

16.92

Weighted
Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value

Units

443

$

20.55

339

528 $

10.07

$

3.79

$

14.04

Released

(317) $

10.77

(208) $

18.71

(172) $

20.38

Forfeited

(79) $

8.82

(57) $

9.62

(51) $

17.71

1,208 $

7.96

7.41

559

16.92

Outstanding at end of
period:

1,076

$

$

Performance Restricted Stock Units
The Company maintains Performance Restricted Stock Units (PRSUs) that have been granted to select executives and senior
officers whose ultimate payout is based on the Company’s performance over a one-year period based on specific metrics
approved by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company.
For 2020, the Compensation Committee approved the following four metrics
1. Revenue.
2. Adjusted EBITDA defined as net income attributable to the Company plus: interest expense, provision for income taxes,
depreciation and amortization, share-based compensation expense and certain acquisition related costs (including
transaction due diligence costs and adjustments to the fair value of contingent consideration), foreign exchange (gain)
loss and, if applicable, certain special items which are noted).
3. Free Cash Flow as a percentage of revenue.
4. Return on Average Book Equity defined as net income divided by average book value of shareholders equity.
The free cash flow and return on average book equity criteria are relative metrics, the performance of which are based upon how
the Company performs relative to a peer group.
For 2021, the Compensation Committee made changes to the Company’s equity incentive compensation plan for its executive
officers and approved the new target metrics for 2021. For 2021, the three metrics are:
1. Free Cash Flow net cash provided by operating activities less purchases of property, plant, equipment and intangible
assets and is subject to adjustments approved by the Compensation Committee.
2. Adjusted EBITDA as defined in the 2020 metric section above.
3. Total Shareholder Return (TSR) measures the total return to shareholders of the Company during 2021 versus the total
return to the shareholders of a predefined peer group of companies that provide inspection, testing, certification or similar
industrial services. The return will be measured by the year over year percent change in share price. The share prices
used to calculate the return are the average share price during the 20-trading day period ending on the initial measurement
date (the last 20 trading days of 2020), compared to the average share price during the 20-trading day period ending on
the final measurement date (the last 20 trading days of 2021). Any cash dividends or distributions paid in 2021 will be
added to calculate the return to shareholders during the year. TSR is considered a market condition for which the fair
value of PRSUs with this condition is determined using a Monte Carlo valuation model. Key assumptions in the Monte
Carlo valuation model included:
a. Expected Volatility. Expected volatility of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant was estimated
based on a historical average volatility rate for the approximate 1-year performance period.
b. Dividend Yield. The dividend yield assumption was based on historical and anticipated dividend payouts
(assumed at zero).
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c.

Risk-Free Interest Rate. The risk-free interest rate assumption was based on observed interest rates consistent
with the approximate 1-year performance measurement period.

PRSUs are equity-classified and compensation costs are initially measured using the fair value of the underlying stock at the date
of grant. Compensation costs related to the PRSUs are subsequently adjusted for changes in the expected outcomes of the
performance conditions. Compensation cost related to the PRSUs with a market condition is not reversed if the market condition
is not achieved, provided the employee requisite service has been rendered. PRSUs generally vest ratably on each of the first four
anniversary dates upon completion of the performance period, for a total requisite service period of up to five years and have no
dividend rights.
A summary of the Company's PRSU activity is presented as follows:
For the year ended December 31,
2021

Units

Outstanding at beginning of
period:
Granted
Performance condition
adjustments, net
Released
Forfeited
Outstanding at end of period:

2020

Weighted
Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value

2019

Weighted
Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value

Units

Weighted
Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value

Units

333 $

8.84

260

$

16.77

277

$

17.80

189 $

12.59

292

$

3.68

190

$

13.63

(56) $

9.27

(99) $

3.82

(106) $

13.77

(78) $

8.15

(120) $

17.29

(101) $

17.19

— $

—

—

$

—

—

$

—

388 $

10.07

333

$

8.84

260

$

16.77

For the year ended December 31, 2021, 189,000 PRSUs were granted. There was a 56,000 net unit reduction to these awards,
which represents Company performance against target, during the year ended December 31, 2021.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, 292,000 PRSUs were granted. There was a 99,000 unit reduction to these awards,
which represents Company performance against target, (including an increase of 1,000 units due to the Compensation
Committee approving the final calculation of the award metrics for calendar year 2019), during the year ended December 31,
2020.
For the year ended December 31, 2019, 190,000 PRSUs were granted. There was a 103,000 unit reduction to these awards,
which represents Company performance below target, during the year ended December 31, 2019. As of December 31, 2019, the
aggregate liability related to 29,000 outstanding discretionary PRSUs was less than $0.1 million and is classified within
Accrued expenses and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.
Compensation expense related to all PRSUs described above was $1.4 million, $1.2 million, and $1.3 million for the years
ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. At December 31, 2021, there was $2.0 million of total unrecognized
compensation costs related to approximately 388,000 unvested performance restricted stock units. These costs are expected to
be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.2 years.
For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, the income tax benefit recognized on all share based compensation
arrangements referenced above was approximately $1.4 million, $0.6 million, and $2.1 million, respectively.
14. Income Taxes
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes is as follows:
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For the year ended December 31,
2021

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes from:
U.S. operations
Foreign operations
Income (loss) before income taxes

$

2020

1,527 $
5,761
7,288 $

$

2019

(54,190) $
(59,982)
(114,172) $

7,334
3,105
10,439

The provision for income taxes consists of the following:
For the year ended December 31,
2021

Current
Federal
States and local
Foreign
Reserve for uncertain tax positions
Total current provision (benefit)
Deferred
Federal
States and local
Foreign
Reserve for uncertain tax positions
Total deferred provision (benefit)
Net change in valuation allowance
Net deferred provision (benefit)
Total provision (benefit) for income taxes

$

$

2020

2019

(182) $
246
3,641
(186)
3,519

(6,278) $
528
4,006
(28)
(1,772)

2,712
519
4,572
99
7,902

(309)
(138)
(1,884)
155
(2,176)
2,052
(124)
3,395 $

(2,781)
(1,244)
(10,045)
—
(14,070)
1,136
(12,934)
(14,706) $

315
(32)
(4,095)
—
(3,812)
269
(3,543)
4,359

The provision (benefit) for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal tax rate to income
tax as follows:
For the years ended December 31,
2021

Federal tax at statutory rate
State taxes, net of federal benefit

$

Foreign tax

380

Goodwill impairment
Nondeductible compensation
US taxation of foreign earnings

Federal loss carryback
Change in valuation allowance
Impact of foreign tax rate changes
Other

$

2020

21.0 % $
1.0 %
5.2 %

(23,976)
(1,175)
(815)

2019

21.0 % $
1.0 %
0.7 %

2,192
377

21.0 %
3.6 %

982

9.4 %

—

—%

10,003

(8.8)%

—

—%

119

1.6 %

975

(0.9)%

1,581

15.2 %

(14.3)%

56

—%

213

2.0 %

373

5.1 %

944

(0.8)%

464

4.4 %

—

—%

(1,938)

1.7 %

—

—%

2,052

28.2 %

1,136

(1.0)%

269

2.6 %

(1,041)

Permanent differences

Total provision (benefit) for income
taxes

1,527
75

49

0.7 %

392

(0.3)%

(139)

(1.9)%

(308)

0.3 %

3,395

46.6 % $

(14,706)

12.9 % $

(1,882)

(18.0)%

163

1.6 %

4,359

41.8 %

The permanent differences identified above include normal recurring differences, such as meals, entertainment and parking
fringe benefits as well as a portion of the goodwill impairment charge.
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On December 22, 2017, the United States enacted fundamental changes to the federal tax law following the passage of the Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act (the "Tax Act").
The Tax Act is complex and significantly changes the U.S. corporate tax system by, among other things, (a) reducing the federal
corporate tax rate from 35% to 21% for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, (b) replacing the prior system of taxing
corporations on foreign earnings of their foreign subsidiaries when the earnings are repatriated with a partial territorial tax
system that provides a 100% dividends-received deduction (DRD) to domestic corporations for foreign-sourced dividends
received from 10%-or-more owned foreign corporations, (c) subjecting certain unrepatriated foreign earnings to a mandatory
one-time transition tax on post-1986 earnings and profits ("the transition tax"), and (d) further limiting a public entity's ability
to deduct compensation in excess of $1 million for covered employees.
On June 28, 2019, the Canadian province of Alberta enacted the Job Creation Tax Cut which reduced the Alberta corporate
income tax rate from 12% to 11% starting in 2019 with further annual reductions to 10% in 2020, 9% in 2021, and 8% in 2022.
This rate reduction had a favorable impact of approximately $1.9 million on the Company’s net deferred tax liabilities in this
jurisdiction in 2019. As part of Alberta’s Recovery plan associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, Alberta accelerated the
decrease in income tax rates from 10% in 2020 to 8% effective July 1, 2020. The accelerated tax rate reduction did not have a
material impact on the Company’s net deferred tax liabilities but did reduce current taxes.
On March 27, 2020, the United States enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act). The
CARES Act is an approximately $2 trillion emergency economic stimulus package in response to the Coronavirus outbreak,
which among other things contains numerous income tax provisions. Some of these tax provisions are effective retroactively
for years ending before the date of enactment. The CARES Act provides a five-year carryback of net operating losses
generated in years 2018 through 2020. As the statutory federal income tax rate applicable to certain years within the carryback
period is 35%, carryback to those years of our estimated 2020 annual federal tax loss provides a tax benefit in excess of the
current federal statutory rate of 21%, resulting in an increased income tax benefit of $1.9 million. The Company expects that
the income tax effects of the CARES Act will result in a cash refund of approximately $4.9 million in 2021 of taxes paid in
prior years.
On December 27, 2020, the United States enacted the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021, (the "Appropriations Act") an
additional stimulus package providing financial relief for individuals and small business. The Appropriations Act contains a
variety of tax provisions, including full expensing of business meals in 2021 and 2022, and expansion of the employee retention
tax credit. The Company does not currently expect the Appropriations Act to have a material impact on our consolidated
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.
In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the American Rescue Plan Act was signed into law on March 11, 2021. This act,
among other things, provides economic relief provisions to individuals and funding to certain businesses and programs. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on its consolidated financial position, results of operations, and
cash flows, but does not expect it to have a material impact.
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Deferred income tax attributes resulting from differences between financial accounting amounts and income tax basis of assets
and liabilities are as follows:
December 31,
2021

Deferred income tax assets
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Inventory
Intangible assets
Accrued expenses
Net operating loss carryforward
Finance lease obligations
Deferred stock based compensation
Interest carryforward
Right-of-use liability
Credits
Other
Deferred income tax assets
Valuation allowance
Net deferred income tax assets
Deferred income tax liabilities
Property and equipment
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Right-of-use asset
Other
Deferred income tax liabilities
Net deferred income taxes

$

677 $
567
1,733
5,662
6,303
741
996
618
10,786
409
1,353
29,845
(6,340)
23,505
(8,157)
(5,819)
(4,935)
(10,738)
(67)
(29,716)
(6,211)

2020

1,054
459
2,000
6,818
4,190
942
920
—
11,970
312
1,507
30,172
(4,540)
25,632
(9,109)
(4,639)
(6,058)
(11,924)
(69)
(31,799)
(6,167)

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had federal net operating loss carry forwards (NOLs) of approximately $7.7 million
expiring in 2032 which may be used subject to limitation under Internal Revenue Code section 382. In addition, as of
December 31, 2021, the Company had state and foreign NOLs of $17.6 million and $12.8 million, respectively. Approximately
$11.1 million of the state NOLs expire at various times from 2031 to 2040, while the remainder of the Company's state NOLs
do not expire. Approximately $0.6 million of the foreign NOLs expire at various times from 2023 to 2040, while the remainder
of the Company's foreign NOLs do not expire.
In assessing the ability to realize deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion
or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. Valuation allowances are provided when management believes the Company's
deferred tax assets are not recoverable based on future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, taxable income in
prior carryback year(s) if carryback is permitted under the tax law, and an assessment of estimated future taxable income,
exclusive of reversing temporary differences and carryforwards, that incorporates ongoing, prudent and feasible tax planning
strategies. At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company has a valuation allowance of approximately $6.3
million and $4.5 million, respectively, primarily against certain state and foreign NOLs and other specific deferred tax assets.
The valuation allowance as of December 31, 2020, also applied against capital losses generated by the disposals of certain
foreign subsidiaries. These losses expired in 2020, so no valuation allowance remains as of December 31, 2021. The net
increase in the valuation allowance of approximately $1.8 million is primarily attributable to state and foreign net operating
losses and changes in foreign exchange rates, offset by a reduction of expiring losses. Except for those deferred tax assets
subject to the valuation allowance, management believes that it will realize all deferred tax assets as a result of sufficient future
taxable income in each tax jurisdiction in which the Company has deferred tax assets.
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The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s gross unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and
penalties:
For the year ended December 31,
2021

Balance at beginning of period

$

Additions for tax positions related to the current fiscal period
Additions for tax positions related to prior years
Impact of foreign exchange fluctuation
Reductions related to the expiration of statutes of limitations
Balance at end of period

$

2020

347 $

393

155

—

1

32

—

(5)

(203)

(73)

300 $

347

The Company has recorded the unrecognized tax benefits in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. As of
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, there were approximately $0.3 million and $0.3 million of unrecognized tax
benefits, respectively, including penalties and interest. If the Company recognized these unrecognized tax benefits,
approximately $0.3 million and $0.2 million would favorably affect the effective tax rate for both December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020, respectively. Interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits are recorded in income tax expense
and are not significant for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019. The Company anticipates a decrease to its
unrecognized tax benefits of $0.1 million excluding interest and penalties within the next 12 months.
The Company is subject to taxation in the United States and various states and foreign jurisdictions. The Company is no longer
subject to U.S. federal income tax examinations for years ending before December 31, 2017 and generally is no longer subject
to state, local or foreign income tax examinations by tax authorities for years ending before December 31, 2016.
Net income (loss) of foreign subsidiaries was $3.7 million, $(55.7) million, and $2.5 million for the years ended December 31,
2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Generally, it has been the Company's practice and intention to reinvest the earnings of its
non-U.S. subsidiaries in those operations. As previously noted, the Tax Act made significant changes to the taxation of
undistributed earnings, requiring that all previously untaxed earnings and profits of the Company's controlled foreign operations
be subjected to the transition tax. Since these earnings have now been subjected to U.S. federal tax, they would only be
potentially subject to limited other taxes, including foreign withholding and certain state taxes. As of December 31, 2021, the
Company has not recognized a deferred tax liability for foreign withholdings and state taxes on its undistributed international
earnings or losses of its foreign subsidiaries since it intends to indefinitely reinvest the earnings outside the United States. The
Company has estimated that the amount of the unrecorded deferred tax liability related to undistributed international earnings is
approximately $1.5 million.
15. Employee Benefit Plans
The Company provides a 401(k) savings plan for eligible U.S. based employees. Employee contributions are discretionary up to
the IRS limits each year and catch up contributions are allowed for employees 50 years of age or older. Under the 401(k) plan,
employees become eligible to participate on the first day of the month after three months of continuous service. Under this plan,
the Company matches 50% of the employee’s contributions up to 4% of the employee’s annual compensation, as defined by the
plan. There is a five-year vesting schedule for the Company match.
During the third quarter of 2021, the Company re-installed the employer match which was previously suspended as part of the
Company's cost reduction initiatives undertaken in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The Company’s contribution to the
plan was $1.2 million, $1.1 million, and $4.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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The Company's subsidiary participated with other employers in contributing to the Boilermaker-Blacksmith National Pension
Trust (EIN 48-6168020) (“Boilermakers”) and Plumbers and Pipefitters National Pension Fund (EIN 52-6152779)
(“Pipefitters”), multi-employer defined benefit pension plans, which covers certain U.S. based union employees. The plans
provide multiple plan benefits with corresponding contribution rates that are collectively bargained between participating
employers and their affiliated Boilermakers and Pipefitters local unions. Both the Boilermakers and Pipefitters plans are
approximately 70 percent funded as of the latest Form 5500 filed, respectively. The Company did not make any contributions
to the Boilermakers during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 while making de minimis contributions to the
Pipefitters plan during the same periods. See Note 18-Commitments and Contingencies, Pension Related Contingencies, for
additional detail.
The Company has other benefit plans covering certain employees throughout the Company. Amounts charged to expense under
these plans were not significant in any year.
16. Related Party Transactions
The Company leases its headquarters under an operating lease from a shareholder and officer of the Company. On August 1,
2014, the Company extended its lease at its headquarters requiring monthly payments through October 2024. Total rent
payments made during the year ended December 31, 2021 were approximately $1.3 million. See 17-Leases for further detail.
The Company receives benefits consulting services from Capital Management Enterprise (“CME”). Manuel N. Stamatakis, one
of the Company's non-employee directors, is the Chief Executive Officer of CME. The Company does not pay any fees to CME
and, any compensation CME receives related to work for the Company is received by commissions paid by the third-party
benefit providers.
17. Leases
The Company leases certain office and operating facilities, machinery, equipment, and vehicles. Concurrent with the adoption
of ASC 842, the Company recognized a right-of-use (ROU) asset and lease liability based on the present value of the future
lease payments over the lease term for each lease agreement. The Company elected not to recognize a ROU asset and lease
liability for leases with terms of 12 months or less and will continue to recognize lease expense for these leases on a straightline basis over the lease term. The Company has leases with both lease components and non-lease components, such as
common area maintenance, utilities, or other repairs and maintenance. For all asset classes, the Company decided to utilize the
practical expedient to include both fixed lease components and fixed non-lease components in calculating the ROU asset and
lease liability. The Company identified variable lease payments, such as maintenance payments based on actual activities
performed or costs incurred, at lease commencement by assessing the nature of the payment provisions, including whether the
payments are subject to a minimum charge. Many of the Company's leases include one or more options to renew. When it is
reasonably certain that the Company will exercise the option, the Company will include the impact of the option in the lease
term for purposes of determining future lease payments. As the Company is unable to determine the discount rate implicit in its
lease agreements, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate on the commencement date to calculate the present value of
future payments.
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The Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets include the following related to operating leases as of December 31, 2021 and
2020:
Leases

Classification

2021

2020

Assets:
ROU assets

Other Assets

$

42,451 $

46,728

ROU liability - current

Accrued and other current liabilities

$

10,040 $

10,348

ROU liability - long-term

Other liabilities

34,030

37,689

44,070 $

48,037

Liabilities:

Total ROU liabilities

$

Included within the balance of operating leases is a lease for the Company’s headquarters which is with a related party. The
ROU liability for this facility is approximately $2.9 million as of December 31, 2021 and $3.8 million as of December 31,
2020. Total rent payments for this facility were approximately $1.3 million and $0.7 million during the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020. An agreement was reached with the related party to reduce rental payments by 20% and defer
payments for 90 days for the lease of the Company’s headquarters, starting in June 2020 through December 2020 as part of
COVID-19 related lease concessions.
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the total ROU assets attributable to finance leases are approximately $13.8 million and
$15.8 million, respectively, which is included in Property, plant, and equipment, net on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
As described in Note 9-Intangible Assets, the Company performed an analysis to determine whether there was any impairment
of long-lived assets, which included the ROU assets, within the Services, International, and Products and Systems operating
segments as well as Corporate. The result of the analysis was a $0.2 million impairment of a ROU asset in an asset group within
the Services segment which is included in Impairment charges on the consolidated statements of income (loss) for the year
ended December 31, 2020.
The components of lease costs for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:
Classification

2021

2020

Finance lease expense:
Amortization of ROU

Depreciation and amortization

Interest on lease
liabilities
Operating lease expense

Interest expense

$

4,111

$

4,544

721

847

Cost of revenue; Selling, general & administrative expenses

13,042

13,383

Short-term lease expense

Cost of revenue; Selling, general & administrative expenses

27

66

Variable lease expense

Cost of revenue; Selling, general & administrative expenses

2,507

838

Total

$

Additional information related to leases as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 is as follows:
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2021

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities for finance and
operating leases:
Finance - financing cash flows

$

Finance - operating cash flows
Operating - operating cash flows

2020

4,060

$

4,095

721

847

13,098

13,246

2,923

2,849

7,021

9,934

ROU assets obtained in the exchange for lease liabilities:
Finance leases

$

Operating leases
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years):
Finance leases

5.4

5.7

Operating leases

5.3

5.8

Finance leases

5.3 %

5.7 %

Operating leases

5.7 %

5.7 %

Weighted-average discount rate:

Maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2021 is as follows:
Finance

2022

$

Operating

5,544 $

12,078

2023

3,817

10,602

2024

2,887

8,418

2025

1,296

6,049

2026

646

4,926

Thereafter

441

8,580

14,631

50,653

1,114

6,583

Total
Less: Present value discount
Lease liability

$

13,517 $

44,070

18. Commitments and Contingencies
Legal Proceedings and Government Investigations
The Company is periodically involved in lawsuits, investigations and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. The
Company cannot predict with certainty the ultimate resolution of lawsuits, investigations and claims asserted against it. Except
for possible losses from the matters described below, the Company does not believe that any currently pending or threatened
legal proceeding to which the Company is or is likely to become a party will have a material adverse effect on its business,
results of operations, cash flows or financial condition. The costs incurred by the Company to defend lawsuits, investigations
and claims and amounts the Company pays to other parties because of these matters may be covered by insurance in some
circumstances.
Litigation and Commercial Claims
The Company was contracted to perform inspections of welds on various pipeline projects in Texas for a customer. As of
December 31, 2021 approximately $1.4 million of past due receivables were outstanding from this customer. The customer
provided the Company with notice in December 2019, alleging that the Company’s inspection of 66 welds (out of
approximately 16,000 welds inspected) were not in compliance with the contract, claimed approximately $7.6 million in
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damages, and requested that the Company pay these damages and any other damages incurred. The Company filed a lawsuit in
the District Court of Bexar County, Texas, 37th Judicial District, in an action captioned Mistras Group, Inc. v. Epic Y-Grade
Pipeline LP, to recover the $1.4 million and other amounts due to the Company. The customer filed a counterclaim, alleging
breach of contract and seeking recovery of its alleged damages. The Company believes that any successful claim by the
customer regarding the Company’s workmanship will be covered by insurance, subject to payment of a deductible. At this time,
the Company is unable to determine whether it has any liability in connection with this matter and if so, the amount or range of
any such liability, and accordingly, has not established any accruals for this matter. Accordingly, the Company recorded a
reserve in the amount of $1.4 million during the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 for these past due receivables.
Two proceedings have been filed in California Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles regarding alleged violations of the
California Labor Code. Both cases are captioned Justin Price v. Mistras Group, Inc., one being a purported class action lawsuit
on behalf of current and former Mistras employees in California and the other was filed on behalf of the State of California
under the California Private Attorney General Act on the basis of the same alleged violations. The two cases have been
consolidated and are requesting payment of all damages, including unpaid wages, and various fines and penalties available
under California law. On May 4, 2021, the Company agreed to a settlement of all claims in the cases, which was more formally
documented pursuant to a settlement agreement completed October 5, 2021. Pursuant to the settlement, the Company will pay
$2.3 million to resolve the allegations in these proceedings and will be responsible for the employer portion of payroll taxes on
the amount of the settlement allocated to wages. The settlement is subject to court approval and will cover claims for the period
from June 2016 through July 31, 2021. The Company recorded expense of approximately $1.6 million during the three months
ended March 31, 2021 related to this settlement, which is in addition to expense of $0.8 million the Company recorded during
the three months ended December 31, 2020.

Pension Related Contingencies
Certain of Company’s subsidiaries had significant reductions in their unionized workers in 2018. The collective bargaining
agreements for these employees required contributions for these employees to national multi-employer pension funds. The
reduction in employees resulted in a subsidiary incurring a complete withdrawal to one of the pension funds under the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA"), which was fully satisfied in 2019. The Company has
determined that the subsidiary is likely to incur partial or complete withdrawal liability to the other pension fund. The balance
of the estimated total amount of this potential liability as of December 31, 2021 is approximately $2.6 million, $2.5 million of
which were incurred in 2018 and 2019 and $0.1 million of which were incurred in the three months ended December 31, 2021.
Severance and labor disputes
During December 2019, the Company executed an agreement to sell the rights of certain customer "staff leasing" contracts
related to its German subsidiary for total consideration of approximately $0.1 million, effective January 1, 2020. No other
assets or liabilities other than those employee benefits related to employees working on the customer contracts were included in
the sale. As of December 31, 2021, the Company has approximately $0.1 million of accrued estimated severance payment
obligations, which takes into account the Company's estimate with respect to the employees that have been or will be
transitioned to the German subsidiaries' other customers. The $0.1 million of estimated obligations is net of $0.4 million in
payments made and $1.0 million in reversals due to employees being transitioned to customer contracts.
The Company was entitled to indemnification on certain labor claims from the sellers of a company acquired by its Brazilian
subsidiary. The Company and the sellers entered into a settlement agreement for approximately $1.0 million, which provided
for payment in two installments, the first for approximately 31% of the settlement and the second for the remaining 69%. The
first installment in the amount of approximately $0.3 million was paid by the sellers in December 2020 and the Company
recognized that amount as a gain in selling, general and administrative expenses in the same period. The remaining payment for
$0.6 million was received in the first quarter of 2021 and the Company recognized that amount as a gain in selling, general and
administrative expenses in the same period.
Acquisition and disposition related contingencies
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The Company is liable for contingent consideration in connection with certain of its acquisitions. As of December 31, 2021,
total potential acquisition-related contingent consideration ranged from zero to approximately $2.8 million and would be
payable upon the achievement of specific performance metrics by certain of the acquired companies over the next twelve
months.
During 2018, the Company sold a subsidiary in the Products and Systems segment. As part of the sale, the Company entered
into a three-year agreement to purchase products from the buyer. On August 3, 2021, the parties amended the agreement and
extended the period by 12 months. As of December 31, 2021, approximately $1.0 million is remaining on the amended
purchase commitment. The agreement is based on third party pricing and the Company's planned purchase requirements over
the duration of the extension to meet the minimum contractual purchases.
19. Segment Disclosure
The Company’s three operating segments are:

•

Services. This segment provides asset protection solutions predominantly in North America, with the largest
concentration in the United States, followed by Canada, consisting primarily of NDT, inspection, mechanical and
engineering services that are used to evaluate the safety, structural integrity and reliability of critical energy, industrial
and public infrastructure and commercial aerospace components. Software, digital and data services are included in
this segment.

•

International. This segment offers services, products and systems, similar to those of the other segments, to select
markets within Europe, the Middle East, Africa, Asia and South America, but not to customers in China and South
Korea, which are served by the Products and Systems segment.

•

Products and Systems. This segment designs, manufactures, sells, installs and services the Company’s asset protection
products and systems, including equipment and instrumentation, predominantly in the United States.

Costs incurred for general corporate services, including finance, legal, and certain other costs that are provided to the segments
are reported within Corporate and eliminations. Sales to the International segment from the Products and Systems segment and
subsequent sales by the International segment of the same items are recorded and reflected in the operating performance of both
segments. Additionally, engineering charges and royalty fees charged to the Services and International segments by the
Products and Systems segment are reflected in the operating performance of each segment.
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 1-Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies and Practices. Segment income from operations is one of the primary performance measures used by the
chief operating decision maker, to assess the performance of each segment and make resource allocation decisions. Certain
general and administrative costs such as human resources, information technology and training are allocated to the segments.
Segment income from operations excludes interest and other financial charges and income taxes. Corporate and other assets are
comprised principally of cash, deposits, property, plant and equipment, domestic deferred taxes, deferred charges and other
assets. Corporate loss from operations consists of administrative charges related to corporate personnel and other charges that
cannot be readily identified for allocation to a particular segment.
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Selected consolidated financial information by segment for the periods shown was as follows (with intercompany transactions
eliminated in Corporate and eliminations):
For the year ended December 31,
2021

Revenue
Services
International
Products and Systems
Corporate and eliminations

$

$

2020

555,387 $
117,245
13,831
(9,332)
677,131 $

2019

476,164 $
107,556
16,449
(7,598)
592,571 $

595,130
144,271
18,583
(9,398)
748,586

For the year ended December 31,
2021

Gross profit
Services
International
Products and Systems
Corporate and eliminations

$

$

2020

155,384
34,282
7,001
480
197,147

$

$

2019

141,084 $
31,046
6,826
(425)
178,531 $

165,513
43,145
8,639
—
217,297

Income (loss) from operations by operating segment includes intercompany transactions, which are eliminated in Corporate and
eliminations.
For the year ended December 31,
2021

Income (loss) from operations
Services
International
Products and Systems
Corporate and eliminations

$

$

2020

48,458 $
1,839
(117)
(32,010)
18,170 $

2019

(44,222) $
(21,855)
(936)
(34,204)
(101,217) $

49,593
5,856
(529)
(30,783)
24,137

For the year ended December 31,

2021

Depreciation and amortization
Services
International
Products and Systems
Corporate and eliminations

$

$

2020

25,259 $
8,791
928
(57)
34,921 $

2019

26,093 $
8,659
998
(45)
35,705 $

28,854
8,285
1,213
181
38,533

December 31,
2021

Intangible assets, net
Services
International
Products and Systems
Corporate and eliminations

$

$
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2020

51,862 $
6,344
1,042
133
59,381 $

58,917
8,664
1,012
49
68,642
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December 31,
2021

Total assets
Services
International
Products and Systems
Corporate and eliminations

$

2020

424,058 $
111,619
10,532
15,986
562,195 $

$

427,636
129,228
10,996
15,453
583,313

December 31,
2021

Long-lived assets
United States
Other Americas
Europe

$

2020

183,052 $
120,012
48,334
351,398 $

$

187,251
123,924
56,156
367,331

Refer to Note 2-Revenue, for revenues by segment and by geographic area for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and
2019.

20. Selected Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited)
The following is a summary of the quarterly results of operations for calendar years 2021, 2020, and 2019.
December 31,
2021

Quarter ended

Revenue
Gross Profit

$

171,163
49,594

Income (loss) from operations
Net income (loss) attributable to Mistras Group, Inc.

September 30,
2021

$

2,306
$

174,556
52,216

June 30, 2021

$

9,236

(94) $

177,677
55,336

March 31, 2021

$

11,374

153,735
40,001
(4,746)

3,380

$

5,937

$

(5,362)

Earnings (loss) per common share:
Basic

$

0.00

$

0.11

$

0.20

$

(0.18)

Diluted

$

0.00

$

0.11

$

0.20

$

(0.18)

December 31,
2020

Quarter ended

Revenues
Gross Profit

$

Income (loss) from operations
Net income (loss) attributable to Mistras Group, Inc.

160,777
49,345

September 30,
2020

$

4,652

147,894
47,384

June 30, 2020

$

5,742

124,435
41,158

March 31, 2020

$

159,465
40,644

(383)

(111,228)

$

181

$

1,523

$

(2,656) $

(98,509)

Basic

$

0.01

$

0.05

$

(0.09) $

(3.40)

Diluted

$

0.01

$

0.05

$

(0.09) $

(3.40)

Earnings (loss) per common share:
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December 31,
2019

Quarter ended

Revenues
Gross Profit

$

Income (loss) from operations
Net income (loss) attributable to Mistras Group, Inc.

178,991
50,583

September 30,
2019

$

2,335

192,192
57,769

June 30, 2019

$

200,616
60,071

10,779

March 31, 2019

$

15,419

176,787
48,874
(4,396)

$

829

$

3,093

$

7,431

$

(5,293)

Basic

$

0.03

$

0.11

$

0.26

$

(0.19)

Diluted

$

0.03

$

0.11

$

0.26

$

(0.19)

Earnings (loss) per common share:

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) under the Exchange Act, our management carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with
the participation of our President and Chief Executive Officer and our Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the
Exchange Act) and procedures. Based upon that evaluation, our President and Chief Executive Officer and our Executive Vice
President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer concluded that, as of December 31, 2021, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act). Our internal control
over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our President and Chief Executive Officer and our
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, and effected by the Company’s board of directors,
management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that
there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis.
Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021. In making
this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) in the updated Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued in 2013. Based on that assessment, our
management concluded that, as of December 31, 2021, our internal control over financial reporting was effective.
The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, has been audited by
KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears herein.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2021, that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Item 9B. Other Information
None.
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections
None.
PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Certain of the information concerning our executive officers required by this Item 10 is provided under the caption “Executive
Officers of the Registrant” in Part I of this Annual Report. The remaining information required by Item 10 is incorporated
herein by reference to the relevant information to be included in our definitive proxy statement related to the 2022 annual
shareholders meeting.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by Item 11 is incorporated by reference to the relevant information to be included in our definitive
proxy statement related to the 2022 annual shareholders meeting.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The information required by Item 12 is incorporated by reference to the relevant information to be included in our definitive
proxy statement related to the 2022 annual shareholders meeting.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information required by Item 13 is incorporated by reference to the relevant information to be included in our definitive
proxy statement related to the 2022 annual shareholders meeting.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference to the information to be included in our definitive proxy
statement related to the 2022 annual shareholders meeting.
PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(1) The following financial statements are filed herewith in Item 8 of Part II above:
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(2) Financial Statement Schedules
All other schedules are omitted because of the absence of conditions under which they are required or because the required
information is given in the financial statements or notes thereto.
(3) Exhibits
Exhibit No.
3.1

Description
Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as exhibit 3.1 to Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Amendment No. 4) filed on September 21, 2009 (Registration No. 333-151559) and incorporated
herein by reference)

3.2

Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as exhibit
3.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on January 11, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference)

3.3

Amended and Restated Bylaws, effective July 20, 2016 (filed as exhibit 3.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed on October 7, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference)

4.1

Specimen certificate evidencing shares of common stock (filed as exhibit 4.1 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Amendment No. 5) filed on September 23, 2009 (Registration No. 333-151559) and incorporated
herein by reference.

4.2

Description of Securities Registered Under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (filed as Exhibit
4.2 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 27, 2020)

10.1

Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated December 13, 2018 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed December 13, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.2

First Amendment, dated October 11, 2019, to Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated December
13, 2018 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 27, 2020 and incorporated
herein by reference)

10.3

Second Amendment, dated March 9, 2020, to Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated December
13, 2018 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 13, 2020 and incorporated
herein by reference

10.4

Third Amendment, dated May 15, 2020, to Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated December 13,
2018 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 15, 2020 and incorporated herein by
reference

10.5

Fourth Amendment, dated February 11, 2021, to the Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 7, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.6

Fifth Amendment, date May 19, 2021, to the Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (filed as Exhibit
10.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K, filed May 20, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference)
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Settlement Agreement, dated October 5, 2021, regarding the settlement of the two legal proceedings captioned
Price v. Mistras Group, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed November 3,
2021 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.8

Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors and officers (filed as exhibit 10.1 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 4) filed on September 21, 2009 (Registration No. 333-151559) and
incorporated herein by reference)

10.9*

Mistras Group, Inc. 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan (filed as exhibit B to the Definitive Proxy Statement dated
September 7, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.10*

Amendment No. 1, dated May 19, 2020, to the 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan (filed as exhibit 10.2 to the
Quarterly Report Form 10-Q filed on August 7, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.11*

Amendment No. 2, dated December 1, 2020, to the 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan.

10.12*

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Certificate for awards under the 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan (filed as
Exhibit 10.16 to the Transition Report on Form 10-K filed on March 20, 2017 and incorporated herein by
reference)

10.13*

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Certificate for awards to senior officers under the 2016 Long-Term Incentive
Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report Form 10-Q filed on May 19, 2020 and incorporated herein
by reference)
Mistras Group Severance Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 18,
2019 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.14*

10.15*

Employment Agreement between the Company and Sotirios J. Vahaviolos, dated February 28, 2018 (filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 8, 2018 and incorporated by reference herein)

10.16*

Employment Agreement between the Company and Dennis Bertolotti, dated March 13, 2018 (filed as Exhibit
10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 8, 2018 and incorporated by reference herein)

21.1*
23.1*
24.1*
31.1*
31.2*
32.1**
32.2**
101.INS
101.SCH

Subsidiaries of the Registrant
Consent of KPMG LLP
Power of Attorney (included as part of the signature page to this report)
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Schema Document

101.CAL

XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document

101.LAB

XBRL Labels Linkbase Document

101.PRE

XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document

101.DEF

XBRL Definition Linkbase Document

_______________________

Exhibits 10.8 to 10.16 are management contracts or compensatory plans, contracts, or arrangements.
* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY
None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
MISTRAS GROUP, INC.
By: /s/ Dennis Bertolotti
Dennis Bertolotti
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 14, 2022
We, the undersigned directors and officers of Mistras Group, Inc., hereby severally constitute Dennis Bertolotti, Edward J.
Prajzner and Michael C. Keefe, and each of them singly, as our true and lawful attorneys with full power to each of them to sign
for us, in our names in the capacities indicated below, any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission.
This power of attorney may only be revoked by a written document executed by the undersigned that expressly revokes this
power by referring to the date and subject hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
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Title

Date

/s/ Dennis Bertolotti
Dennis Bertolotti

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 14, 2022

/s/ Edward J. Prajzner
Edward J. Prajzner

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer and Treasurer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)

March 14, 2022

/s/ Dr. Sotirios J. Vahaviolos
Dr. Sotirios J. Vahaviolos

Executive Chairman and Director

March 14, 2022

/s/ Nicholas DeBenedictis
Nicholas DeBenedictis

Director

March 14, 2022

/s/ James J. Forese
James J. Forese

Director

March 14, 2022

/s/ Richard H. Glanton
Richard H. Glanton

Director

March 14, 2022

/s/ Michelle J. Lohmeier
Michelle J. Lohmeier

Director

March 14, 2022

/s/ Charles P. Pizzi
Charles P. Pizzi

Director

March 14, 2022

/s/ Manuel N. Stamatakis
Manuel N. Stamatakis

Director

March 14, 2022
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STOCK PRICE PERFORMANCE GRAPH
The following performance graph compares the performance of our common stock to the Russell 3000 and self-constructed peer
group. The comparison assumes $100 was invested on June 1, 2016 in each of our common stock, the Russell 3000 Index and
self-constructed peer group. The values of each investment are based on share price appreciation, with reinvestment of all
dividends, assuming any were paid. For the graph, the investments are assumed to have occurred at the beginning of each period
presented. The following companies are included in the Company’s peer group used in the graph: Archrock Inc., CECO Environmental
Corp, CIRCOR International Inc., Columbus McKinnon Corporation, DMC Global Inc., DXP Enterprises Inc., Enerpac Tool Group Corp.,
Forum Energy Technologies Inc., Helix Energy Solutions Inc., MYR Group Inc., Oil States International Inc., SEACOR Holdings Inc., the
Hackett Group Inc., Oceaneering International Inc., Matrix Service Company, Aegion Corp and Team, Inc. The stock price performance
included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.

Comparison of 67 Month Cumulative Total Return
Assumes Initial Investment of $100
December 2021

Mistras Group, Inc.

100

Return %
Cum $

Peer Group

12/31/2016

Return %
Cum $

Russell 3000 Index

5/31/2016

100

Return %
Cum $

100

12/31/2017

12/31/2018

12/31/2019

12/31/2020

3.51

-8.61

103.51

94.60

9.02

-38.73

-0.76

-45.62

-4.25

57.96

57.52

31.28

29.95

21.13

-5.24

31.02

20.89

25.66

109.02

132.05

125.13

163.94

198.19

249.05

18.35

-17.12

-31.17

28.80

-23.23

8.06

118.35

98.09

67.52

86.96

66.76

72.14

Peer group index uses beginning-of-period market capitalization weighting.
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COMPANY & SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
Leadership Team

Board of Directors

Annual Meeting

Dennis M. Bertolotti
President and Chief Executive Officer

Dr. Sotirios J. Vahaviolos
Executive Chairman and Founder

The 2022 Annual Meeting will be held virtually
at 11:00 a.m. EST on May 23, 2022.

Dr. Sotirios J. Vahaviolos
Executive Chairman and Founder

Dennis M. Bertolotti
President and Chief Executive Officer

Edward J. Prajzner
Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Nicholas DeBenedictis
Chairman Emeritus of Aqua America, Inc.

Jonathan H. Wolk
Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Operating Officer
Michael C. Keefe
Executive Vice President,
General Counsel and Secretary
Michael J. Lange
Senior Executive Vice President of
Business Development and Strategic Planning
Chris Smith
Group Vice President, Safety
Julie Marini
Group Vice President, Human Resources
Kenn Kerr
Group Vice President, Sales

James J. Forese
Retired Operating Partner and
Chief Operating Officer of HCI Equity Partners
Richard H. Glanton
Founder, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of ElectedFace, Inc.
Michelle J. Lohmeier
Consultant and Retired Senior Advisor to
the CEO and Sr. Vice President of Spirit
AeroStructures
Charles P. Pizzi
Retired President and Chief Executive Officer
of Tasty Baking Company
Manuel Stamatakis
Chief Executive Officer of
Capital Management Enterprises

Nestor S. Makarigakis
Group Vice President,
Marketing and Communications

Shareholder
Communication

Stock Listing

Any interested party wishing to communicate
directly with our Board of Directors should
write to Michael C. Keefe, Executive Vice
President, General Counsel and Secretary, at
Corporate Headquarters.

The Company’s common stock is listed and
traded on the New York Stock Exchange under
the symbol “MG”.

Investor Relations
Security analysts, investors, stockbrokers,
portfolio managers and other investors
seeking additional information about MISTRAS
Group should contact
Edward J. Prajzner, Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer at
Corporate Headquarters.

Form 10-K
The Form 10-K report included in this 2021
annual report has been filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC). Additional
copies of the Form 10-K as filed with the SEC
may be obtained by request from the Company
or through the Company’s website.

Transfer Agent and
Registrar
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC.
6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, NY 11219
Tel: 1(800) 937-5449, 1(718) 921-8124

Corporate
Headquarters
195 Clarksville Road
Princeton Junction, NJ 08550
www.mistrasgroup.com
Tel: 1(609) 716-4000
Fax: 1(609) 716-0706

Media Relations
Members of the news media requesting
information about MISTRAS Group should visit
our online Press Room at
mistrasgroup.com/news. For additional
information about MISTRAS Group, contact:
Nestor S. Makarigakis, Group Vice President
of Marketing, at Corporate Headquarters.

WebSite
www.mistrasgroup.com
MISTRAS Group’s website offers financial
information and facts about the Company
and its products, systems and services.
Website content is available for informational
purposes only. It should not be relied upon for
investment purposes, nor is it incorporated by
reference into this annual report.

Customers
For assistance with MISTRAS Group products,
systems and services, call 1(609) 716-4000, or
visit the MISTRAS Group website at
www.mistrasgroup.com. Additional contact
information is listed on our website at
mistrasgroup.com/locations.

A leading, “one source” multinational
provider of integrated technologyenabled asset protection solutions,
helping to maximize the safety and
operational uptime for civilization’s
most critical industrial and civil assets.
mistrasgroup.com

Scan code with
mobile phone
for MG Investor
Information.
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